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THE ARMAGEDDON BLUES
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A TALE OF THE GREAT WHEEL OF EXISTENCE

The Armageddon Blues should probably be dedicated to George Scithers, avery nice man whom | have
never met, for reasons too numerous for meto list. But George has at least two booksthat | know of
dedicated to him aready, so he's going to have to settle for amention here; mondo thanks, George.

The Armageddon Bluesis dedicated, with love, to Kari Lynn Moran, my sister, for couch and

hamburgers during hard times.
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The quotations of President John F. Kennedy, asthey appear herein, aretaken from To Turnthe Tide, a
collection of the speeches from thefirgt year of histragically short Presidency; as edited by John W.
Gardner.

A very useful research source was Lane's Guide to Strategic Weapons Systems. Thisisafascinating
work for its weapons ads done. Other important reading can be found in G. Harry Stine's Space Power,
and Ben Bova's The High Road.

| am monstrously indebted to Gregory McDonald, John Dos Passos, and Robert A. Heinlein, for
teaching me how to build this; to Tom Robbins, for showing me how to paint it, and to Hunter
Thompson, for explaining that sometimesit's okay to burn the bitch down—and for other reasons.
Thanks, Uncle Hunter.

A Notefrom the Author

Thefollowing is compiled from anumber of sources, including humans. It may therefore beinaccuratein
anumber of details. In fact, consdering the humansinvolved, | will go farther than that.

What followsis not accurate.
Itisnot truth.
Itis... elegant.

| am a.computer

The story went around during the glum diplomeatic dog daysin the late '30s. The 13-year-old son asks his
father, aretired senior diplomat: "Daddy, what was your role in the world war?' Lord Cecil looked up
from his newspaper: "I tried to prevent the bloody thing.”

All theTimein theWorld

—William F. Buckley Editoria February 19, 1985

Consder the explosion of athermonucl ear weapon.

From aninggnificant collection of radioactives and supporting hardware, the bomb expands within
seconds to athundering mushroom cloud of stunning size and power. (Psychedelic mushrooms, yeah,
yeah, yeah.)

Hold thisimage mogt clearly in mind, please—small metdl egg of the technological demonsto the fires of
asomewhat less sophidticated eras hdll; flash. Do you seeit, do you have the image, do you
under stand?

To comprehend the essence of the personality of Georges Mordreaux, take thisimage, this process, and



reverseit. (Add the sound of Japanese wind chimes. Georges Mordreaux is ahappy man.

(Naturdly.)

A brief asde: It isthe opinion of the author that the sound of an atomic bomb exploding in reverseis
sguilchgmp! The author iswilling to concede that he could be wrong, but adds that until such time as he
isproven incorrect, hewill continueto hold thisopinion.

DATELINE 2052 Gregorian.

Marchand the Hunter went into the deep Burns after her daughter.

The child was five Coldtimes, and she knew no better; the nighttime glow of the Burn beckoned, and she
went.

The Clan of Hammel, migrating through the Big Desert by the Waters, pressed on. It was deeth to enter
the Burns. They knew they would never see Marchand again.

Three dayslater Marchand d'Loriay ken Hammel staggered out of the darkness, past the Clan's sentries
and into the ring of campfires. Dilann, her daughter, was clutched in her arms.

Marchand died the next morning.

To the awe of the entire Clan, Marchand's daughter survived. Before Dilann's sixth birthday, the Clan, or
what was | eft of the Clan after the desert trek, had reached the forests by the Big Waters of the North
Coast.

What was |eft of the Clan progpered. Dilann became known as Dilann d'Arsennette, the lady of thefires.
Only one of Dilann'sthree children survived to adulthood. All three of Dilann's children were mutant, as
was to be expected of the offspring of one who had survived the banked fires of Armageddon.

The child who lived was agirl, Rhia, tall and fair and strong.
Her eyeswere bright slver.

Dilann's grandchildren, every one, had Slver eyes.

DATELINE 1917 GREGORIAN.

Verdun, France: the western front.

When Georges was a younger man—not a young man, no, but younger—the world had gotten together
for awhile and declared a socid event called the Great War, the War to End All Wars, and later, World
War One. (Rumorsto the contrary, there was no American aviator named Snoopy, famed for hisduels



with the Red Baron. That al camelater.)

Georges Mordreauix, through some bad timing on his part and the jealousy of the husband of awife,
found himsdf inthe middle of thisslly conflict, yesar.

What should have been hislast thought, as the German soldier came up out of the rain-soaked trench,
bayonet in hand, was That's a muddy bayonet, as though it could possibly make any difference whether
he was killed with a clean bayonet or adirty one. (Georges was a perfectionist of sorts; even when it was
in style, someyearsin hisfuture, he refused to drink hismilk out of adirty glass.)

Georges came to some hours later—so the overhead sun, peeking cautioudy through gray clouds,
informed him. He was being dragged away from the front. All around he saw the rest of the French army,
retreating methodically and with great haste. Georges's corpora, Henri, who was nineteen and who,
Georges later heard, became a hero taking a hill that nobody gave a damn about anyway, saw that
Georgess eyes were open, and motioned to the soldier holding Georgessright arm to drag him the rest
of theway to hisfeet. Georges ssumbled afew steps over the ragged, shell-torn ground, before gaining
his balance.

Georges could not think clearly; therewas avast pain in his neck that was only beginning to abate. The
terrain about them seemed vaguely familiar. After nearly akilometer, the retreat dowed, then stopped;
they began digging in, grimly determined that the Germanswould go no further.

Night descended like araven. Soldierswere still stringing barbed wire on grimy, rotting wood posts and
the shattered fragments of shell-torn trees. They had to pull dead men off some of the trees before they
could use them. Georges and the remains of his company—Henri—sat in the muddy trenches, trying to
nurse asmall fireraised afew inches over the mud. They were having some success, more than anyone
else, but fill the flame was weak.

Georges had not spoken since awakening. When Henri spoke to him, he found himsalf unable to answer,
having, uh, no vocal cordsto speak of. They knitted as the night wore on; the scar on his neck began to
fade. Near midnight, he whispered, in avoice like ground glass, "Henri? What happened to me?"

Henri was hunched over the small fire, trying to light adamp cigarette that was aready half smoked. He
finally produced adim glow in thetip of the cigarette, and sat back againgt the trench wall. "Don't know,
Georges. German stuck you..." He hesitated. "It looked like your head came off. That's just what it
looked like." He shrugged indifferently. "I shot the German. When | looked again your head wasin place
and there was a bleeding gash dl around your neck.”

Georges touched the skin above his collar. There was athin ridge he could barely fed. He nodded. "I
used to wonder if | could die.”

"Georges?'

"Thisarealooksfamiliar,” whigpered Georges. "l think thisiswhere General Dumouriez stopped the
Prussians, when they were trying to help King Louis restore the monarchy. The day after the battle..."
He shook his head, and winced at the faint ghost of pain. "That was September 20. In 1792. The next
day the Nationa Convention declared we were a Republic." Henri was staring at him, wide-eyed, across
thefire. "In January," said Georgesin avoice distant with memory, "we cut King Louis head off."

Henri turned hisface away from Georges, and drew his coat about himsalf. He clutched hisrifletightly.
(In the morning he was gone, and that was the last time Georges saw him, because three days later, while
taking a hill that nobody gave adamn about anyway, he became ahero of the French Republic, hislast
thoughts being of Georges Mordreaux. Ironicdly, it was a German boy with a bayonet who got him too,



athough the resemblance stops there. The German boy—he was actually younger than Henri, and his
nameis unimportant, since like Henri he did not survive the war—this German boy put his bayonet in
from behind, and the corporal did not resurrect. Ah, well.)

Georges spent the rest of the night trying to whistle. He did quite creditably.

Georges thought, with someirritation at himsdf, that there ought to be some point to be learned from
having one's head cut off, and surviving the experience. He could not think of one, however, aside from
the obvious. Hewas very glad to be dlive.

In some ways, thought Georges Mordreaux, | am a very shallow fellow.

Ah, well.

The author notes that in the year 1917, Georges Mordreaux two hundred and five years old.
Perhaps he was a bit shalow, at that.

One of the definitions of the word "entropy” is. "The degradation of the matter and energy in the universe
to an ultimate Sate of inert uniformity.” Put more smply: "Things run down."

Georges never read dictionaries. He considered them, being asthey were largdly atificid attemptsto
impose order on the anarchistic languages of man, very much beneath him.

About order-imposers, as dictionary compilers: Georges was better at it.
Indeed, one might consider Georges Mordreaux "The Enemy of Entropy.”

Georgesliked to.

When the Big Crunch came, and the superpowers decided to sterilize the face of the planet, the freeways
urvived.

(Viga A thousand and one mushroom clouds dotting the face of asmadll planet. Termind acne. Winding
lazily among the mushrooms, strips of concrete, overextended roads, observed the goings-on, and later,
when the barbarians and other mutants came howling out of the radioactive ruinsto trek the surface of
the freeways among the dead shells of the automobiles, the freeways might have giggled to themsalves.
Eventualy the cars were dragged from the freeways for use in making weapons, and the freeways were
|eft doneto contemplate their freewayness.)

DATELINE 711 A.B.C. (AFTER THE BIG CRUNCH).

Raesh caught her before she had even reached the hills beyond the forest. Thelittle girl had fallen adeep
beneath an old willow, at the edge of the grassy meadow that led up to the foothills. Ralesh, awoman of
early years, awoke the five-year-old unceremonioudly, and ran the child the kilometers back to the Clan



House without comment.

She whipped the child publicly. Five lashes, she was not a severe mother. When the punishment was
over, shetook her daughter back to the Girls House. She put her daughter to bed; kissed her onthe
forehead, and said gently, " Child, the woods are dangerous for children. There are bears and Redl
Indians. Thereisnothing at the end of the Big Road; the soriesarelies.”

Her daughter stared up at the oak planks of the Girls House. She did not speak.

Raesh 9ghed. "Daughter, understand this: | will catch you. Y ou cannot run so far nor so fast that | will
not find you. Remember that." Sheleft, and |eft the girl aone.

When shewas gone, Jdian dArsennette, the straightline femae descendant of Dilann d'Arsennette, findly
let the tears come. It was strange, though; the tears were externd, they tracked down her cheeks and she
could hear herself sobbing, but insde none of it mattered.

Insde shewas as cold and cam as an eder Hunter. They would be watching her now; but now was not
aways. Summer would come again.

Raesh's words stayed with her, though, like a curse that would not be shaken.
"Y ou cannot run so far nor so fadt... | will catch you.”

Jdian's hands clenched into fists. Summer would come.

DATELINE 712 A.B.C.

They gave Jdian few duties on the day the Hunters came back; she finished them early, and dipped out
of the Clan House when nobody was watching her. She wandered through the village amlesdy, stopping
to play agame of strike with one of the boys. (She was only beginning to understand that boys were not
fit company; she had not yet learned why that was S0, except that in al the Soriesit was the boys who
caused the Big Crunch and the Fire Times)

By the time the watch was preparing to change, she had reached the clearing that separated Selvren
village from the forest. She squirmed into what cover she could find at the south end of the clearing;
brown-haired and brownclothed, she would have been hard to seein any case. Against the brown
summer meadow grass shewas next toinvisible.

The clearing was aten-second run for Jalian, from one end to the other, and it wasin clear view of the
Clan House. Out in front of the Clan House the men were tending the fires that would be used to smoke
the catch the Hunters returned with.

Ten seconds.

The watch's replacements arrived. The women stood together, gossiping for afew moments before the
new guards assumed their posts.

Jalian drew her legs up under her, checked her knife to make sure the sheath was securedly tied down,
peered toward the Clan House onelast time. ..



Sheran.

Ten secondswas along time; long enough to think of exactly what Ralesh would do to her if shewas
seen, if shewas caught. Run, and run, and run... Jalian reached the trees a the north end of the clearing,
running asfast as she had ever run before. Her foot caught in atuft of thelong brown grass at the last
ingtant and sent her tumbling. She did her best to convert it into aroll as she had been taught, but till the
wind was knocked from her lungs and she had trouble breathing when she regained her feet. Fighting to
pull air into her emptied lungs, Jalian squirmed up to the edge of the decent cover and peered out. There
was no unusua activity over at the long wooden Clan House, nothing out of the ordinary for early
morning in the late thaw-time. .. she had not been seen.

Jalian grinned fiercely. It would be late afternoon now before she was missed, and by then shewould be
long gone. They would know where she had gone, when she failed to show up to help with the
preparation of the Cermedl, but by then, with luck, it would betoo late. If the Hunters started out after
her the instant they became aware of her absence, Jalian would still have athird-day start.

With luck, before nightfall Jalian would be in the land of the gods and demonsthat was at the end of the
Big Road. She did not think that anyone but Ralesh would try to follow her there—and perhaps not even
Raesh.

Jdian turned, her long brown hair swirling out behind her, and vanished into the trees. Sheleft notrail.

None.

Consder atimetraveler.
Her nameis Jdian. Yes, Jdian dArsennette, except that there have been, well, changes.

Sheisnolonger six yearsold, and her hair isno longer brown. It iswhite, ice-white, completely untinted.
Sheistwenty-sx years old. Her eyebrows and eyelashes are ill brown, and it gives her features an
artificid seeming. Her skinisextremedy pae; she does not tan. Rather than meanin her skin holds
pigmentation that whitens under the sun. Sheislovely in astrange, erotic way.

None of the above isimportant.

She has eyes. Even in the twentieth century Gregorian, her eyes are exceptiond. Theirisesareslver.
They have dways been silver, of course, but now they are something €l se and more: amael strom of
swirling color, silver and blue and pink and purple and green and gold-red, but some il only silver when
faced with the lens of a camera; the effect is not reproducible.

(Clan Silver-Eyes prospered where the Real Indians and the barbarians did not, &t least partially because
of the slver irises; they were quite lovely, true, but they aso detected abnormal radiation levels quite
capably, asa sort of staccato flashing in their periphera vison. After the Big Crunch, thisbecame a
surviva mechanism.)

Jdian’ seyes can and do cause amogt ingtant desirein any functioning mae, and in not afew women
besides. They are the eyes of someone who has seen too much and knows too much, and knows that
there is nothing she can do about what she knows.

Because, of course, Armageddon is coming.

Jdian dArsennetteis viewed, by the twentieth century, asatall, rather éfin beauty; awoman whom



destiny rides like ademon.

She has the strange habit of not meeting other peopl€e's eyes.

DATELINE 712 A.B.C.

Jdian pushed hersdlf, moving through the light woods nonetheless. The sun, striking down through the
trees, rarely touched her; she was a silvered shadow, mingling with the other shadows of morning. The
light did not find her, she made no sound. It would have taken an Elder Hunter to track her; no lesser
tracker would have discerned any trail.

It was late morning when Jdian reached the hills. There was no cover in the hillsto compare with thet in
the forests; automatically she made the most of the sketchy scrub, and refrained from worrying about it.
She would make it across the hills or she would not.

It was near noon when she reached the place.

Ruins of the old world lay al about them, wherever one looked. Old buildings, the frames of karz; even,
in some places, where ancient builders had lined concrete with polymer bases, stretches of good roads.
Stll, for Jdian, none of these, not even the few good roads, matched the straight and clean and serene

beauty of her place:
The Big Road.

Like the path of athrown knife, the Big Road stretched away asfar asthe eye could see, west and north
toward the far hillsthat ringed the other end of the valley, toward the mountains that legend said the Clan
had walked down from in the days after the Big Crunch. For asfar as Jdian could see, the Big Road ran
true.

The Big Road, where Jdlian cameto it, was bordered by one of the largest and worst of the Burns. If one
had known the Big Road before the bombsfell, that person might have been ableto tell Jdian that the
Big Road was not supposed to be partially melted; but there was nobody to tell Jaian that, and she
supposed that the Big Road had aways been that way.

(Even before the missiles came burning from the sky, this spot had held alaboratory in which there were
radioactive materids stored for testing. When the bombs went down and then up again, strange things
had happened there.) That was more than seven centuries ago; to Jdian's eyes, the Burn il sparkled
fantly.

Jdian stood at the spot where she usudly ascended to the Big Road.

It was a desolate area at the edge of the concrete, where a plant that resembled ivy had survived the
radiation long enough to breach the Big Road's protective guardrail. Dirt and dust, working their ways
into the body of the dead ivy mutant, had formed asmadl, natura incline that Jalian was able to scramble
up and make her way onto the concrete of the Big Road itself. She paused at the edge of the Big Road,
her feet ill on dirt but only a step away from the concrete.

Thiswould be only the second time that Jalian had set foot on the Big Road.



Thefirst time, one of the Hunters—Jalian could not remember who it had been, except that it was not an
Elder Hunter because she did not wear the white tunic of an Elder Hunter—had taken agroup of children
from the Girls House with her on routine patrol of Silver-Eyes borders. The patrol had made camp at the
edge of the hills, while the four- and five- and six-year-olds scrambled over the Big Road. Later, one of
the younger women in the patrol told the children about the land of gods and demons at its end.

Then she had tried to run away, and been caught by Ralesh.

Thistime, Jdian had athird-day start. They would not catch her.

They would not.

The twentieth century, as viewed by Jdian dArsenette, consists of freeways.

(Thetwentieth century saw the birth of the thermoexplosive and the freeway. Jalian could dmost forgive
onefor the other.)

(Almost)

DATELINE 712 A.B.C.

One step, and then two, and Jdian stood for afrozen timemoment on the concrete of the Big Road itself.

Then the paralysis broke, and, shivering dightly, Jaian walked to the center of the road, where the melted
ruin of alanedivider sood alondly vigil.

The freeway ran away from her, straight and true and clean, protected as though by the gods. (The
winds, here, were too sporadic to erode much. Plants, which in other places grew up through the asphalt
and crumbled the manmade structures, here stood no chance againgt the radioactive Burn. The freeway
itself, cambered from the center, was regularly cleaned of the dirt that built up on its surface by the
UMMmer rains,)

At the age of six, to Jalian d'Arsennette, it made sense that the Big Road was protected by the gods. (Or
the demons, perhaps, athough Jdian did not like to think about that.)

For how long Jalian smply stood on the Big Road, the sun burning down on her, her eyes seeking into
the distance for the end of the Big Road, she never knew. She came back from infinity, dowly, with the
thoughtsin her mind: Mountains beside me, desert behind me. Forest and hills and sun, and the Big
Road far ahead...

That moment, her thin body touched with the ecstasy of adimly perceived greater redity, Jdian
remembered for therest of her life.

The moment ended and sheran.

Jdlian had not madeit to the end of the Big Road when she was five because she had squandered her
lead time. Thistime she would not make that mistake.



Run and runand run...

The freeway dtretched before her; aroad of possibilities.

Georges Mordreaux is an interesting man. Aside from the fact that entropy tendsto decreasein his
vicinity, thereareeight of him.

Yes, eight. Not dl on the sametimeline, of course. (It isashame, but Georgeswill not admit to any of the
eight having been present during the explosion of athermonuclear weapon. He may be lying, of course;
humans are notorious liars. Evidence suggests that he may be engaging in this common human pastime.
For reasons too lengthy to go into here, asking any of the other seven directly would be... difficult.)

(Georges Mordreaux; of the base timeline that led to divergence 1962, did once meet Eingtein. Thisis
not the same as being present when athermonuclear weapon is exploded, but it isthe closest that
Georgesiswilling to admit to. The author, commenting in a negative fashion on the subject, has been
blessed with theresponse, "Ah, well.")

(There are times when the author agrees with Georgesthat heisin somewaysavery shalow fellow.)

(All eight of him,)

DATELINE 712 A.B.C.

Jdian ran automaticaly. Her body pushed itsdf without conscious attention. She was thinking about the
end of the Big Road, and what she would find there. It would, she thought, be a strange place indeed...
something with bright, bright colors, and loud noises. Very loud.

Jdian liked loud noises.

With ashock more immense than anything she had every felt beforein her young life, Jaian focused on
an object some ways ahead of her. There was something on the Big Road. Her legs sumbled, then
stopped. She stood therein the middle of the old freeway, her chest heaving, her short brown tunic
splotchy with swest, looking at the building that had grown up on her freeway.

She stood in the sun, quiet and motionless but for her breathing, for two minutes that stretched into three.
Once she drew her knife from its sheath; then, looking back to the large building, she shook her head
againg the sillinessand put it back with an impatient movement. Jalian, even at the age of s, knew the
usesof aknife.

The action broke her pardysis, and Jdian found astrange, powerful fury growing in her. Here, in her holy
place, on her Big Road, someone had grown abuilding.

The six-year-old Jdian d'Arsennette, even through the worst anger that she had ever experienced in her
life, knew there was nothing she could do about the building on her Big Road. She backed away from the
building afew steps, eyes il locked to it; then, reluctantly, turned and began the long run back to the
Clan House. She would be home nearly atwelfth-day before she would be needed for the Ceremony
medl, but that was of no account. When she told Ralesh what she had done, she would be badly



punished perhaps even ceremonialy scarred; but Jalian's mother would do something about thetal, thin
building that had grown up on Jdian's Big Road.

Jdian d'Arsennette had no way of knowing that the "building" was a starship.

DATELINE 1968 GREGORIAN.

Georges Mordreaux sat behind the whed of agreen '66 Camaro. He was traveling north on the Pacific
Coast Highway. Georges Mordreaux was atall, broad-shouldered man, with cheerful nondescript
features, light blue eyes and light brown hair. He smiled alot.

The Camaro ran smoothly, with the sort of |eashed power that ajet pilot might have recognized, but
which was utterly out of placein agreen 1966 model Camaro. (Or any other color Camaro.) Both the
passenger's and driver's windows were down, and wind was blasting through the car. The air conditioner
was on. So was the heater.

The machineran... well, better than new wasthe term that cameimmediately to Georges mind. Georges
did not think that the car would break the sound barrier, even if he pushed it. The car wastoo
aerodynamically inefficient. Georges had owned the car for two weeks now. Hed bought it from a
used-car dedler in New Jersey who swore that it had been driven by aretired couple who smply liked
Camaros. Georges had not put gasoline into the car once on the way west.

"Better than new" was probably the correct term. Georges whistled as he drove. He was not very good
at it, and besides, the car radio was competing; the Beatleswere singing "I Want To Hold Y our Hand."
Georgeswaswhigtling "Marseillaise” It did not occur to him to turn theradio off. (To befair, it isnot
likely that he could have turned the radio off.)

Georges whigtled, driving north. The Pacific Ocean sparkled in the sunshine off to hisleft. He smiled quite
alot.

How likely isit that the world's only time traveler would encounter Georges Mordreaux?

Not very. But then, there are things that are more improbable. That an object should spontaneoudy gain
more energy, assume amore orderly pattern, isvastly more unlikely-and yet, ftill possble. Inaworld
ruled by quanmechanics, there are no certainties; entropy isafunction of probability theory.

One might best consider Georges Mordreaux as an improbability locus.

There.

Forty miles north of San Luis Obispo, Georges Mordreaux saw a hitchhiker walking briskly aong the
right shoulder of the highway. A second closer ook atered hisimpresson dightly. Walking dong the
roadside, yes; but she was not a hitchhiker. She paid no attention to the cars skimming by her on the
freaway.

The drivers passing her certainly paid attention to her; they were dmost unable to do otherwise. She



stood out from her surroundings like a Corvichi fusion torch at night. She was dressed in awhite
jumpsuit, and carried alight blue satchel on one shoulder. Her hair hung to the smdl of her back, long
and graight and undeniably white, reflecting the sunlight brilliantly. Her skin, where the rolled deeves of
the jumpsuit showed the flesh of the arms, was bleached-white, with little pink inits makeup. The
jumpsuit legs were tucked into the tops of caf-high black boots.

Georges amiled to himsalf absently, and brought the Camaro to ahdt next to the girl. He leaned over and
cdled out through the right-hand window.

"Do you need aride, miss?"

The girl continued to walk when he stopped the car; she did not turn when he spoke to her, in avoice
that held faint traces of a French accent.

Georges called, "Miss?" abit moreloudly.

Jdian dArsennette y ken Selvren turned around, intending to inform this stranger that she was quite
content walking. Shewould do so in theiciest tone of voice of which she was capable, which was
consderably so

Nlight blue eyes smiling at me and thereis power that shines on him and pours from him broad shoulders
plain face and the power the power heissmiling a me.../

/Slver eyes.../

when something strange happened.

"Freeways," said' Jdian d'Arsennette, in an accent that Georges had never heard the like of before, with
avoice 0 soft and clear that it sounded like running water, "were not made to be walked upon.”

Georges got out of the car, and Jalian watched him, waiting; not unsure or confused or wondering, Smply
waiting for what would happen next.

Georges Mordreaux stood at the side of the still-running green Camaro, looking at the girl who stood at
the edge of the cement, on asmdll stretch of gravel, who waslooking back at him with very slver eyes,
and suddenly he was more in love than he had been since the age of nineteen. Y ou know, that wasin
1731

DATELINE 1969 GREGORIAN.

Raesh dArsennette y ken Selvren, Eldest Hunter of Clan Silver-Eyes, lay comatose in the hospital that
the ambulance had taken her to. The doctors who examined her fully expected her to die. Her entire
system was in shock; she gppeared to have suffered radiation burns of some sort.

Her persond effectsthe doctorsfound vastly strange: awhite overtunic and white leggings, three knives,
and two devicesthat they found themsalves unable to understand in any regard. One of the gadgets
looked like ameter of some sort, or acompass, the other looked like ahand grenade. The loca police
were gtill debating whether or not they ought to call in the FBI, two days after Ralesh had been admitted.



For two days, while the police argued among themselves, Raesh lay in acoma, aglucose solution
dripping dowly into her veins.

On thethird day, the silver-eyed freak was gone from her room in intensive care, and her personal effects
were missing from storage.

In place of theitemsthat shetook, the Eldest Hunter of Clan Silver-Eyes|eft two things: amaleintern
and afemae nurse. The nurse had been tied and gagged and knocked unconscious. Theintern, who had
smply not been born the right sex, had histhroat cut from ear to ear.

DATELINE 1968 GREGORIAN.

"Walk?" asked Georges blankly. "On the freaway ?'

An eighteen-wheder blasted by them. The wind sent Jdian's hair streaming backward. She nodded
slently. "Walk on the freeway," Georges repeated. He considered the idea. "Where are you headed?’

"Anywhere." Jaian shrugged. "Nowhere. One place seems as good as another, aslong asit can be
reached over afreeway. The freeways," she added, "the freeways are beautiful "

"What are you?' Georgeswas staring at her.

Jdlian studied him, without meseting hiseyes particularly "I might ask you the same question... I'ma
wanderer. | walk the freeways, and | wait for the firesthat you destroyed yoursdves with. There are,”
she said with the gravest expression Georges had yet seen on her, "thirty-years until Armageddon.”

"Thirty-eght—what do you mean?'

Jdlian said abruptly, "1 return your question. What are you? Y ou are unlike any mae | have ever known.
Y ou are much like aperson,” she said courteoudly.

"Well," said Georges. "Thank you... Where are you from? | don't recognize your accent.” Jdian’slips
parted as though to reply, then closed. She made a gesture of helplessness, and turned to leave. She
stopped in the act and said to Georges, "Thereisabridge on my map. Itis..." She paused, converting
timeunitsin her heed, .. .fifteen minutes walk from here. | will wait for you there, for alittlewhile" She
gestured to the car, somehow managing to convey supreme contempt. Do not comein that, if you
come." She began walking without waiting for areply.

Georges watched the retreating figure for along time,. until she had passed from sight. He was horribly
tempted to get back in the car and leave and never be faced with this white-haired woman again.

Georges Mordreaux tended to think of himsalf as something a cut above the ordinary morta, dmost
semi-divine, and it was afact that Georges tended to awe people. It was strange to find someone who
had the ability to set hersdf up ashisequd on their first meeting.

It was along time before he started after her, on foot. Behind him, the Camaro's engine began to fdter.

Jdian d'Arsennette and Georges Mordreaux stood at the edge of the bridge. A small, nearly dry river



passed underneath. Far overhead, afront of dark, rain-heavy cumulus clouds moved toward the bridge.
Second by second, its shadow killed the sunlight on the moving water.

"I like bridgesthe best," said Jdian. Her hands were resting, on the guardrail. " There were no bridges on
the Big Road, not even any placeswhere bridges used to be." Beneath them, the murmur of the river was
barely audible. Georges reached out, and ran one finger dong the profile of her jaw. "Thefirg timel
cameto abridge, | wasadmost afraid to crossit.”

Georges sighed. "Y ou know | don't have any ideaat all what you're talking about?' Jalian did not reply.
Georges whispered, "L ook a me."

Jdlian kept her eyes averted. She waslooking at the guardrails of the bridge. The rails were made of iron,
and were badly rusted. They reached to Jdian'swaist. Jdian ran her hands over the rough metd, as
though she were studying the texture and shape. After along and stretching silence, shesaid, "What is
your name?"

Georges said, "Georges," absently. The breeze was blowing her long, silky hair toward him. His hand
dropped from her chin and tentatively, he ran hisfingersaong its surface. Jalian shivered, and brushed his
hand away. Georges said, so softly that his voice could not have been heard more than a meter away, "le
ne saisquoi. What am | to do about you?"'

"Georgeswhat?'
IIE.]?I
"IsGeorgesdl thereis?' Jdian perssted.

Georges leaned back againgt the railing, not looking a her. Where Jdian's hand had touched therail, the
rust was smeared faintly. Small patches of clean stedl began to appear with cregping downess.
"Mordreaux," said Georgesfindly. "Georges Mordreaux.”

Jdian straightened and brushed her hands off on her white jJumpsuit. Her hands | eft faint orange splotches
behind. "My nameis Jdian. Jdian of the Fires of the People with Silver Eyes, inthe long form." She
moved closer to him, and lightly touched one of his hands with one of her own. "Does your name mean

anything?'
Georges shook his head no. He was more aware of her touch than of any other physical contact with a
woman that he could recall indl hislong life. "Not that | know of." With the hand that hers was not

covering, hetouched her chin. Hewould have turned her to meet his eyes, before he could do so she
looked up of her own accord

/lifeis cam power running through deep, quiet channels worn smooth. control is necessary and
uncertain/

/mogt aone. rivers of black concrete freezein grief, melt infire. there are thirty-eight years until
Armageddon and Jalian's desolate grief and al oneness dashed through Georges asthough it were his
own./

Jdian'svoicetrembled. "How old are you?' Her eyes were averted again.
"Two..." Georgeslicked hislipsand said, "Two hundred and fifty years old. About.”

Jdian turned dightly away from him, so that even by accident she could not meet hiseyes. "I think | had
better leave." Shetook a step away from him, turned, and took another before Georges found words.



"Ni." Jdian froze. Georges Mordreaux said in silverspeech, "1 am not Ralesh and | am not ghessRith. |
ammysdf, and | will never hurt you."

Jdian started to speak, and her voice broke on the first word. She had to begin again. "All of the people
| have ever loved, Georges, they have wanted me to be things other than what | was; things other than
what | could be. 1..." She seemed at aloss for words.

Georges shrugged. "I know what you are. | know you aswell as you know yoursdf. And I'm more
objective about it."

"The ending of things, Georges..."

"Isnot your fault,” he said mildly. "Jdian, when you left your own time you meant to change thingsfor the
better—"

Sheinterrupted him. "l am not sure that it can be changed. Georges, it happened.”
"Oh, to be sure," agreed Georges cheerfully. "It happened once. Need it happen twice?'
Jalian's voice was steady. "What do you mean?”

"The nature of time," said Georges solemnly, "isamydstery to the best of us." He paused. "Eingein said
that to me, the onetimewe met."

"l do not understand.”

"'Second Precept of Semi-Divinity," said Georges, "is'Don't Worry About It." "
"l shal not worry about it, then,” said Jdian hesitantly, "but... whoisIne-gtine?
"Well," said Georges comfortably, "that's rather along story. You see...”

They walked away down the freaway together.

In the spot they had vacated, for five metersin either direction, theiron railings were completely free of
rust.

And so it cameto be that Jalian d'Arsennette and Georges Mordreaux walked the freeways of the world
together, for awhile.

Let usnote, here, the two Precepts of Semi-Divinity:
(1) Mind Thine Own Business.

(2) Don't Worry Aboui It.

The dien gods cameto Earth in the early part of the twenty-eighth century, as measured from the death
of aman who was nailed to atreefor telling peoplethat it was dl right to love each other.

Their landing craft dropped out of aclear blue summer sky, and set down on a strip of what appeared, to
them, to be a sort of primitive road. They sought the civilization that would produce such aroad, and
found nothing.



They were not surprised, these alien gods. They had seen other desthworlds;, they recognized the signs. If
they were surprised in any degree, it was only by the obvious recency of the cataclysm; the previous
owners of thisworld had destroyed themsel ves |ess than a cycled running cycle ago.

The adien gods—the Corvichi spacetime gypsies—set down to work. The Ship that was their world was
introuble. Biosphere degradation, resource depletion, failing machinery, they had traveled along, long
way around the Great Whed of Existence, had braved the Chained One and Chaositself, and much of
their equipment was designed to operate on timelineswhose physica law was vastly different from the
one on which they now found themselves.

And so0 they set to work.

Three days after they set down, eighty of Clan Silvereyes most blooded Hunters climbed onto the
stedl stone of the Big Road, and began the long, long run toward the ship.

Many of the women wore the white of Elder Hunter; they did not lag behind their younger comrades.

At their head was awoman named Ralesh, who would one day be Eldest Hunter.

DATELINE 712 A.B.C.

In the Clan House, well past sunst, lights glowed and flickered. The flicker came from the centrad fire pit,
wherelopers and bluewings were roasting on aspit. The glow came from severd strange, floating balls,
about two hands across, that emitted an eerie blue radiance.

Sitting on the faded green tatami mats nearest the fire pit, the eight Eldest Hunters, including Morine, the
Eldest Hunter, conferred with the dien gods.

For reasons of their own, the gods had inssted that Jalian be alowed to attend the meeting. Morine
d'Arseny ken Sdvren was at first inclined to say no; the child was willful and headstrong, and was not to
be rewarded for her asinine behavior.

Thedien godsindgted.

Jdian sat in adark corner of the Clan House's centra hall, separated from the alien gods by fire and the
eight white forms. The alien gods spoke to the Elder Hunters through a machine that spoke
understandable silverspeech, in the voice of the first ken Selvren that had addressed it. It was strange for
Jdian, listening when the aien gods talked; the machine's voice was her mother's.

That they talked in her mother's voice was not the strangest thing about them. The things they talked
about were not even the most interesting things about them, athough they were interesting enough:

Of the eight Elder Hunters present, five, including Morine and Morine's daughter Ralesh, knew how to
read and write. Sylvade Kevin and her daughter Jenna knew the basic rudiments of chemistry and
mathematics. Other Hunters, not present because of low status, knew the arts of medicine and
congtruction. Though the wastefulness of the Men's World forced asmple lifestyle upon them, the
Silverken Selvren that was ken Hammel, had the capabiility, as The Redl Indians and mutants did not, of
recongtructing atechnica civilization, given power and metd.



It wasthisthat the alien gods were offering them; but first they had to explain what an dternate timeline
was, and that took along, long while.

Like everything e se about them, their explanation was strange; but it was not the strangest thing.
What was strangest was the way they looked.

If itistrue, assaid, that itisonly thefirst time ahuman looks at athing that shetruly seesit, thenitis
probable that Jalian saw the gods more clearly than any of the othersin the House's central Hall. Even
Jdian's mother, the youngest of the Elder Hunters present, looking at the gods, was able to put aside her
preconceptions of what a creature should look like only to the point where she percelved asort of very
large, squarish bear, with tentacles and something like strings of lace hanging about its upper regions.

To Jian, at the age of sx when most things are new and strange, the alien god was afour-limbed, nearly
cubica hunk of furred flesh; there was a double-jointed leg, asthick around as both of anorma person's
legs put together, at each corner of the body. Atop the cube there rose alattice of interweaving bars that

looked like exposed black bone.

L ace was strung about the lattice; in some spotstightly, in others more loosdly. Their tentacles grew out
of the base of the bone lattice; there were about twenty of them, and four of those twenty were thicker
and longer than the rest. The tentacles were covered with afine, purplish fur that faded to show
purple-black skin at the tips of the tentacles. While Jalian watched, the |lace stretched and loosened, as
the bones benegth them shifted positions dightly. Watching the lace, she had the sudden strange, intense
sensation that she could read expression in them.

1

Before the machine spoke to the Slver-Eyes, it was way's preceded by a high-pitched whine that only a
few of the Silver-Eyes could hear. They could not tell which of the gods was actualy speaking at any one
time. Jalian suspected that it was the small one nearest the machine, for no other reason than that it was
the closest. There were four of the aien gods present; three of them stood till and motionless. The
fourth, who was furthest away from Jdian, seemed redtless. It... he kept shifting hisweight from one
foot-pair to another, in adow circle that was working itsway regularly around his perimeter. Jdian
leaned forward, peering; but the god was as far away from her asthe hal alowed him to be, back where
neither the coal bluelight nor theflickering yelow of the firdight much illuminated things. Thisparticular

diengod
IghessRith/

suddenly ceased moving. One of the Elder Hunters was asking a question abouit traveling sideways
through time, and Jdlian was standing up

Igretings be/

when something happened.

Shewas certain that the aien god was watching her. She did not know how she knew this, but
/naming be?/

/Jian. Jdian of the Fires/

[Firesbe?



fthe light that dances and burns/

[fascinates. naming be ghessRith/

/how arewetdking?

/mindvoice. faster and clearer than soundvoices

fthen why do you use the machine to talk to the Elder Hunters?

/deaf be. too old to learn new ways, is may be/

/why did you come here? you put a building on my Big Road, and now i'min trouble./

/apology. ship-not-aive-which-thinks-in-numbers needed level area. Big Road seemed not used/
[the gods and demonswont likeit./

/persons be?/

/gods and demons... they live there. they're scary. they eat badgirls sometimes. i am not a badgirl./
/understanding be. cautionary taes/

el

/not important. question be/

what?/

/closer contact?

/i don't understand./

Iwish rapid learning of culture, of Corvichi ways?/

Jdian stared through the dimness of the main hal. Her gaze did not leave ghessRith's now-motionless
form. Shetook a step forward, completely unaware of the vast sllence that had settled in the hall. Ralesh
dtirred as though she would rise, and hesitated in obviousindecision.

Jdlian moved forward, into the ring of firdight. The Elder Hunters were watching her with something like
awe; she had forgotten they were there.

Icloser be?/
Jalian d'Arsennette whispered aoud, "Yes." Therewas abrief pause.

Jdian had an ingtant, fragmented impression of some vast and powerful, purposeful, glowing dull red with
hest, that rushed at her out of the cold eternal darkness.

It took all of the courage that she possessed to place hersdf inits path.

At thelast moment the monolithic thing identified itsdf to Jdian with aforce that burned itsdlf into the
deepest recesses of her mind.

Idestiny/



impact.

DATELINE 1968 GREGORIAN.

Camd, Centrd Cdifornia
"What," asked Jdian d'Arsennette, "isice cream?"

It was, as ghessRith would have put it, a pleasant enough summer day, but then, the Corvichi were
comfortable with an ambient temperature nearly twenty percent warmer than a person would have
considered idedl.

In other words—Georges Mordreaux's, in fact—it was "too damn hot for anyone but an Englishman.”
Jdian did not know what an Englishman was, and was certain that she did not care. Nonethel ess, when
noon approached, she sought shade, to wait out the worst hest of the day. Georges, she noted with poor
grace, was, despite his complaints, not even swesting.

They stood in front of the order window of an establishment that bore the legend Al's Burgers, Friesand
Shakes. Al'swaslocated at the edge of a plaza which, though Jdian did not know it, was one of the
better examples of architecturd designin centra Cdifornia. Al's stuck out from its surroundings glaringly.
It would have been insufficient to say that it was ugly; even in less pleasant surroundingsit would have
been visually unpleasant. Plastered across the window, facing the street, were dozens of pictures of
culinary ddlicacies, ranging from the burgers, fries, and shakes of the establishment's name to other items
such as"hoagies' and "submarine sandwiches." One picture, of something caled "Our Fantastic Philly
Cheese Steak!" was s0 disgusting that Jalian had to ook away.

"Two cones," Georgestold the sweeting girl who stood &t the window. The girl took hismoney and
expertly loaded down two cones with agpproximately fifteen centimeters of vanilla soft swirl. Jdian stared,
she could not help it, at the obscene sight of the vanillaiice cream asit was deposited upon the cones.

Georgestook their cones, and handed one to Jalian. They walked over to where abench sat benesth
shade trees, and rested, looking out across the plaza. The day was quiet; a Thursday afternoon in Spring
without tourigts. The locals were a work, or in school.

Jdlian’s cone had aready started to melt in the hest. Little white rivulets of melted ice cream were
coursing down the cone and over her hand. Jalian smelled the ice cream, looking at Georges dubioudly.
His cone had barely begun to melt. Georges was watching her expectantly.

"How do you eat these?' asked Jdian findly. Georges demonstrated, licking the Side of his cone. You
stick your tongue out, thought Jdian; | should have known. The smell of theice cream was vagudly
familiar; it was smilar in somewaysto "doughnuts,”" afood that had made her quiteill the onetime she
had attempted to et it. Ever Snce she had made a point of avoiding foods with that particular sveet
odor. Refined sugar had not been a part of the Silver-Eyesdiet.

At last, because the damned thing was melting al over her hand, Jalian stuck her tongue out and
tentatively licked asmadl portion of ice cream off the cone.

"Wd|?'



Jalian licked the cone again. It was not at al as bad as she had been expecting. In fact. ..

Inasurprisingly short period, the ice cream was entirely gone. She threw the cone away after one
tentative bite, and went back to Al's. "I would like," she said firmly, "three more."

DATELINE 718 A.B.C.

/no, no/ said Jin'ish impatiently. /trueis our senses differ; we hear, see higher than persons. differences
be/ cheshe waved atentacle at Jalian, then used that tentacle to point again at the Doorway's exposed
circuitry. /But light in noair circuit you can seef

Jdian sghed. She blocked the sunlight with her hand and peered into the maze of wiring and vacuum
tubes. She wasin abad mood—Jin'ish kept talking down to her, as though she was no moreintelligent
than one of the men in the fields—and try as she might, she couldn't seethe lightsthat Jn’ish was pointing
out to her. Shedidn't like working with the Doorway in the first place; because shifting physical law on
different timelines kept them from using molecular circuitry that depended on quantum effects of varying
probability, the Doorways were constructed with hard-wiring and dmost invisible vacuum tubes. The
assemblage was bulky and inelegant.

Jdian sat back again. /i don't care what you say, thereés no light in there./ She leaned back againgt the
wall. The werein one of the east rooms of the Gods House, one of the group of rooms that the gods
used to store spare equipment. Sunlight was streaming in through the storage room's one large window,
bouncing off rows of edritch machinery devices of stedl and glass and crystal and other materials that
Jdian did not recognize.

Jn’'ish hestated. /so. wait/ A bulge ran down the center of one of cher minor tentacles. Thetip of the
tentacle split, peded back into four tiny flaps, and Jin'ish'straveling eye popped out of the tentacle. The
eye swiveled for amoment in the grip of the flaps, orienting itsdlf. It stabilized; and Jn'ish thrust the
tentacle into the dark center of the access pand. After amoment cheshe forced air through cher lacein
the barely audible sound that indicated exasperation /tube is mafunctioned/ cheshe admitted.

Jdlian stood, dusting her tunic off. thisisidiotic,/ she said flatly, /i'm going to get ghessKith to teech me
how to work these things. at least he doesn't contradict himsdlf./ Shefet Jn'ish’s surpriss—most of the
Sver-Eyeswere polite to cher, and to dl of the dlien gods—felt it turning to rage.

Whatever Jn’ish would have said to her, Jalian never found out. A scream broke through the early
morning calm.

"Hai! Ken Svrerr, Hail"

In dreamy dow moation, Jaian found herself considering the sentry warning with asort of cam, interested
detachment. Without thinking twice, she discarded the dternative of exiting through the Gods House's
main entrance. It was at the west end of the building, precious seconds away from the village circle. She
pulled acircuit spanner from the toolbox at her side and smashed the window open. Impossibly strong
tentacles wrapped themsalves around her, restraining her; with distant surprise sherecdled Jn'ish's
presence. She twisted inside the grip of the tentacles, brought her hands together asfists, crossing her
amsover her chest to give herself the maximum striking distance between her fistssand their targets. Her
arms uncrossed like a snake striking to chop at the bases of the two mgjor tentaclesfacing her. Jin‘ish



emitted a high-pitched squeak of pain or surprise; cher grip on Jalian loosened dightly. Jaian pushed
back from Jin'ish; twisted so that she faced Jn'ishin profile, centered, and brought her right foot upina
shotak kick to Jin’'ish's central bone cage. Jin'ish’ s tentacles rel eased her; cheshe stumbled backward,
cher rear legsfolding beneath cher.

It never occurred to Jdian that the alien god had been trying to save her life; she went out through the
window. Perhaps five seconds had passed. She could not remember having drawn the short knife that
was the only wesgpon she was wearing. It wasin her hand aready when she first thought of it.

Women were pouring into the street. Most were still naked, this early in the morning, but none were
unarmed. Even the men carried clubs or poles, though they were moving more dowly and with more
confusion than the trained warriors. Jdian, like every other Silver-Eyes, paid them no mind; men were not
taught the martid arts.

The warning cry had come from the west sentry. She waslying dead at her pogt, riddled with arrows. A
vast force of Red Indians, five hundred or more, al mounted upon the tamed animasthey rode, were
aready hafway acrossthe clearing that separated the village from the woods. They were painted for
war; they screamed and fired arrows asthey rode. The center of their charging line rode over thefalen
sentry.

Jdian stood, gtill and unmoving. Arrowswhistled past her; most of them were aimed poorly, if at all.
Near her, Kendr's brother Davad took an arrow through the eye; she stepped to the side and took the
gpear hewas holding as hefdl. Shewas calm, so cadm. Her entirelife; thiswasall that she had trained
for. Strike as a child, and then kartari and shotak; at least an eighth day of each, every day of her life
since she was old enough.

Seconds left. Jalian picked out one of the horsemen for her own, a giant who was probably four times
her size. The sunlight on hislesther breastplate was beautiful. Tiny puffs of dust rose where his horse's
hooves struck the dirt of thevillagecircle.

Thewarriors of Clan Slver-Eyes had lessthan sixty seconds from thetime their sentry called warning
and the moment when the wave of Redl Indians met them; sixty secondsand alifetimeof trainingina
martia discipline their ancestors had spent five hundred years perfecting.

They clashed in the center of the village.

DATELINE 1968 GREGORIAN.

Shelay on the grass at the side of the highway, in the dark hours before morning. The seawas audible,
off to the other side of the Pacific Coast Highway. It was cold, below fifty degrees, and damp with heavy
fog, but Jdian found that since meeting Georges she no longer got as cold, or as hungry, or astired as
before. She did not understand the phenomenon in dl of its practica ramifications, though with what
Corvichi physics she retained she had nearly completed amathematical modd she thought wasvaid.

Usudly she did not think about it, except when something happened that was sufficiently strange to force
her. "When | wasyoung,” said Jdian, "1 wastold that the Big Road led to the other worlds, worlds of
gods and demons. Later," she said with a perfectly deadpan expression, "I found that thiswas not true."



Georges Mordreauix sat upright at the side of the road, his back to agnarled old redwood. Jalian had
amost never seen him deep; he was usudly awake when she went to deep, and when sherose again.
"That must have been very strange,” he said quietly, "to find yoursaf suddenly in atime so different from
your own. It isvery different, now, from when | was born, but the change was gradual, until recently.
Within the last fifty or Sxty years, the world has seen more change than in the two hundred before—but
even that change, by comparison, does not match your own."

Eyes closed, Jalian switched without pause to silverspeech. Georges seemed to follow her silverspeech
without difficulty; v'chak, on the other hand, he had difficulty with. Jalian was not sure how many of her
memories he understood, even yet; they gtill had difficulties with basic concepts at times. "It was not so
easy,” sheagreed. "Thereisaphrase, to wak in wilderness, meaning to leave your people and strike out
on your own. It happened at times, as a Hunter reached her middle years without achieving high status,
that shewould do this. So, what | have doneis only awildernesswalk further away than any ken Selvren
had the chance to take before.

"A wak," said Jdian, "into the land of gods and demons. Cautionary taes, ghessRith would say."

A truck rumbled out of the darkness, and by them. The wind of its passing ruffled Georges jacket and
hair, sent the fog around them swirling into strange shapes. "1 worry about them now, you know," said
Jdian quietly. "I came here, oh, for many reasons. To stop..." she used the English word,

" Armageddon, that was part; to leave ghessRith and ken Selvren behind forever, that was another. And
| have, truly, left them.”

"Y ouworry, sometimes, too much." Georges Mordreaux grinned down at her prone form. "In my
favorite movie, thereis ascene—"

Jdian made aderisive sound. "'l have seen amovie," shesaid. "It isonly acollection of pictures strung
together, and made to appear on the screen very fast. Sounds that are not always synchronized come
with it. How can you befooled?!

Georges blinked. "Jdian, the images are supposed to... blur together, so that the motion appears
smooth.”

"Oh?" Jdian consdered theidea. "I had to look very carefully,” she conceded.

"Thereisamovie" said Georges, "cdled Casablanca. It isthe best movie ever made," he explained.
"There are evil Germansin it, and ashifty but admirable French officid. Thereisascene, at the end of the
picture, where Rick istelling llsa, "Where I'm going, you can't follow. What I'm doing, you can't be any
part of. Ilsa, I'm no good at being noble, but it doesn't take much to see that the problems of threelittle
people don't amount to a hill of beansin this crazy world. Someday you'll understand. Not now. Here's
looking at you, kid.""

Jdlian propped hersdf up on both elbows, and opened her eyesto look at Georges through the mist.
"What isahill of beans?'

"The scene means," said Georges patiently, "that the problems of one person are smal enough that even
the person whose problems they are can ignore them, in alarge enough context.”

Jdian sighed, and lowered hersdlf back to the ground. "Y ou are a very strange person, Georges.”
Georges Mordreaux said defensively, "Bogart did it better.”
Without inflection, Jalian said, "No doubt.”



DATELINE 719 A.B.C.

In the winter of her fourteenth Coldtime, Jalian d'Arsennette became awoman, and aHunter by the laws
and custom of ken Selvren.

In another age it would not have happened. She was fourteen; women were not made Hunters so
young—even Raesh had been sixteen.

Now, seven years and more after the arrival of the dien gods, dightly more than ayear since the Béttle of
the Meadow, in which ken Selvren had destroyed the Redl Indians of Cahr Muhl; now there was only
Raesh to argue againgt her. Jdian's mother opposed Jdian's petition on the grounds that her daughter
had not killed three Real Indians, as required by old custom. Ralesh's claim was understood to mean, she
isnot old enough; most of the Hunters had not fulfilled the traditiona requirement, arequirement
formulated in dayswhen Red Indians had outnumbered ken Selby eight or ten to one. The Eldest Hunter,
Morine d'Arsennette, shook her head. She said gently, "Daughter, your child isready now. The nearest
Red Indians are a haf-year's distance away, and they do not threaten us." She chuckled with some
dryness. "All the tribes combined do not threaten us, with the gods light weapons guarding the village.
Radesh," she said gently, "our enemies are gone." Morine's eyes closed, and she nodded for amoment in
the warmth from thefire pit. She was very old now; some sixty Coldtimes. Her eyes opened again, and
she peered around the hall at the assembled Elder Hunters. There were less than twenty of them. "And
welost over four hundred of our warriors. | will not agreeto keep as child agirl who iswilling and
ready—and able—to become a Hunter.

III wyall
Around thefire pit, there was adow rumble of yes, and yes, and yes.

Ralesh shook her head. She was the youngest woman in the room, by agood five years. "'l disagree. You
push her too far, too fast." Shelooked around the room, at the ring of composed, confident faces. She
shrugged her displessure. "I withdraw, before the—wisdom—of the Elder Hunters. Yes."

Morine seemed to throw off her age and her weariness. "' So, then. Linada," she addressed the sentry at
the door to the hal, "bring her in."

The young Hunter inclined her head severd degrees, and went outside. She | eft the door open behind
her, and ablast of icy air cut in through the opening. Morine shivered in the cold; it seemed to touch her
more deeply these days. The sentry pushed the door open dightly more, and Jalian walked in afew
paces before her. She stood facing the older women, without arrogance, but without uncertainty or
self-consciousness. She was not particularly tal for her age; she was ill ahead and ahalf shorter than
her mother. Her breasts were still spare, and it was apparent aready that the stocky, muscular build of
some of the Hunters would escape her. Her brown hair hung in athick braid down her back.

Morine said without preamble, "We have decided. Y ou will be aHunter.”
Jdian was slent for along moment. Findly shesaid, clearly, "Thank you."

Morine smiled at her. It was not areassuring thing. ™Y ou will not thank me. I will not dlow such
foolishness. | am doing this not for your good, but for ours.”



Ralesh said digtinctly, without looking at Jdian, "Y ou should have enjoyed your childhood while you were
able." Linada bowed to them once more, and withdrew, closing the door behind hersdlf.

After the ceremony she went to see ghessRith.

GhessRith was at the Ship, which the dlien gods had moved to the clearing that held the Clan House,
after the Battle of the Meadow, the summer before last. From itsturrets, lasers and particle projectors
could destroy any gpproaching cregturein line of Sght.

It hardly mattered; since ken Selvren had destroyed the Redl Indians of Cahr Muhl, there were no hostile
tribes within any reasonable striking distance. Since the Ship had been moved to the edge of the village
circle, it had killed one bear and one goat.

The village till bore the scars of the Battle of the Meadow. Many of the houses that had burned had not
yet been rebuilt. Thelr losswas not felt; many of the housesthat were till stlanding had no residents.

It was not as bad now asit had looked during the summer and fall. Snow covered the worst scars of the
Battle; the fact that the buried dead had made the north clearing unsowable was invisible. The monument
to the dead, raised at the edge of the north clearing, was al but hidden benegath the layers of snow.
(According to ghessRith, the snows were recent in this area; they were, he said, aresult of the Fires
during the Big Crunch. Jdlian did not see how that could be s0; ghessRith spoke vaguely of 1ce Times
and dust clouds.)

GhessRith was awaiting her when she reached the Ship. The Ship rose into cloud-covered sky, hull
narrowing to aneedle point. At its point, it wastaler than the tallest tree Jdian had ever seen. GhessRith
came down to meet her in thelift that took them up from ground leve to the Ship'sairlock. He did not
speak to her asthey made their way through the Ship corridorsto his feathernest; he was annoyed about
something again, which did not surprise Jdian. Recently ghessRith had taken it into his braincase thet it
was possible to teach the Slver-Eyes maes to read and write. He was trying to get the idea acrossto the
Elder Hunters, with apredictable lack of success.

Jdian held no opinion in the matter one way or the other—except that she was not going to be the oneto
try to teach the stupid grunts.

Insde hisfeathernest, asmal, dimly blue-lit recessin thewadl of the corridor, ghessRith made a cradle of
his tentacles, and invited Jalian to Sit. He sank down on the two legs opposite the cradle, to keep his
mass centered.

/hdllo, ghessRith,/ said Jdian, settling herself comfortably in histentacles.

/hello, Jdian. how do you creatures put up with one another?/ he burst out. /ignorant, self-centered,
uperdtitious, brachtats/ Jdian got amenta image of asmall cresture with habits that ghessRith found
disgusting. /i retract,/ said ghessRith after amoment. /not brachtats. kubchi a worst/

Jdlian was shedding outer clothing. Her cloak and furlined walking boots were on the floor aready; she
sent her vest and leggings after them. She kept her tunic on because ghess Rith' s fur wasitchy. /don't
insult my people, dien demon-god, or i will beforced to cut off your tentacles one by one/

GhessRith'slacerippled in asnort. /you try it, brighteyes He paused. /dmost i did not remember. today
you insulted your Elder Huntersinto granting you full citizenship. what happened?

Jdlian stroked the fur under the base of ghessRith's tentacles. /i am not alowed to talk about i,



ghessRith./
/ol GhessRith'sfedings were hurt; some of it touched Jdian.
/ghess Rith, I'm sorry. we're not alowed to./

GhessRith whigtled through his lace. Even having known him for haf her life, Jdian was not sure what the
lacewhistle meant, or even if the emotion that it Sgnified was one with a people analog. Thistime,
something happened that had not happened before; the whistle cut off abruptly, before it climbed out of
the range of people hearing. /what isthat smell?

Iwhat smell?
/burntflesh. have you been eating living crestures again? asked ghessRith sternly.

Jdlian was stung. /no! i don't do that anymore. i told you./ Jdian felt ghessRith turn grim. For the most
part, the Corvichi spacetime gypsies were adow-moving folk, but when they cared to they could move
asquickly asavery fast person. /if you have not been eating medt. ../ GhessRith's tentacles loosened
dightly, and one of hismgjor and two of his minor tentacles dipped out of the web supporting Jdian. The
major tentacle grasped the edge of Jdian'stunic, whereit touched her throat; the other two tentaclestore
it diagonaly over her breadis.

/ghessRith, you're not even a person!/
ftchai erreg kigrien!/ screamed ghessRith furioudy. /they have burnt patterns on your skinl/

Jdian stared at him in incomprehension. With one hand, she drew her torn tunic closed. /ghessRith, it's
the Woman's Brand; al women haveit./

/barbarian, anima behavior,/ snarled ghessRith. /i kesri for you, Since you have not the senseto do so for
yoursdf/

Jdian's hands clenched painfully on ghessRith's tentacles. "'Y ou do not spesk to me like that, ghessRith
Corvichi. You do not touch melikethat." Sheforced hersdlf to to let go of her grip. She forced the anger
back, under control. One of ghessRith's partially mobile eyes popped up over the edge of the ridge that
his tentacles grew out of. It peered down at Jalian uncertainly. /Jalian? what did you say? Jdian had
suppressed the sudden, insane anger that threatened to blossom within her, suppressed it so quickly she
hersdlf wasfully aware of it. /it... nothing, ghessRith. it was not important./

GhessRith shifted weight dightly. Hislace relaxed; he was caming quickly. /apology offered,/ he said at
length. /expecting Corvichi behavior from aperson. what isdesgn?

Jdian had to cam her breathing; her hands were trembling. It took amoment for hiswords to penetrate.
/what do you mean? The design of the Woman's Brand was ssmple; an arrow that pierced acircle. The
top half of the arrow protruded from a spot dightly to the right of the exact top of thecircle. It had no
meaning.

GhessRith whistled again. /unimportant, is/ He paused. /Jin’ish complained about you again/ He
brightened dightly. /cheshe was greatly upset. Jn'ish isone of our best person teachers/

Jdian smiled swiftly. /i overlistened cher the other day. i'm that ‘person with the knife and the attitude.”/
/you should be more palite. if not because cheshe is Corvichi, then because chesheis an elder/



Jdlian snorted. /all i did was ask cher what a negative entropy timeline was. cheshe evaded question./

/don't think cheshe knows,/ ghessRith admitted. /Jin’ish isonly atechnician. wereyou truly curious, or
just trimming cher tentacles?

/mostly trimming cher tentacles, but some curious. i lost a probe on a-entropy timeline not three ten days
ago. that probe cost the Clan twenty days of labor./

GhessRith's lace lifted and tightened dightly in accord. /-entropy timelines are dangerous, even a high
entry ratios. that's one good reason that we use persons to hunt monopoles for us. we would kesri to be
caught on -entropy ling/

Jdlian caught faint ghosts of meaning from the dien word, which was strange. Usudly she understood him
perfectly or not at all.

/kesi, ghessRith?/
/kesri id go, Hdian!/

Jalian made a cutting gesture with one hand. Thistime there was nothing at al. /never mind.
untrandatable, i think./

Two strands of ghessRith'slace tightened, and he forced air through them to produce the low humming
sound that meant humor. /no doulbt. like guilt/

Jdlian nodded. /probably. what would happen to meif | were caught on a negative-entropy line?/
fyouwould die eventualy. i do not know if you would experience kesri—i suspect not/

Iwhy would | die?

ftime runs backward, Jdlian. that iswhat negative entropy mean/

/i fill do not understand./

your entropy sign would still be positive. if you entered the line on a1:1 entry ratio, you would blow up,
burn like a sun. your atoms and the atoms of the -entropy line would destroy each other. if you entered
thelineat ahigh entry ratio, thetimesign reversa would il kill you, only more dowly. your neurd system
would overload quickly. the higher functionswould go firt, to be quickly followed by the gross organs.
within two running cycles you would be only disassociated atoms; within five you would be—you have
not learned the words yet—pieces of light/

/nobody ever survivesit?/

GhessRith'slace tightened. /some survive longer than others, great istheir kesri/
why?

GhessRith seemed to hesitate. /i will speak no more of thig/

The author wishesto note that he has never liked ghessRith. But then, ghessRith has never liked me
ether. The Corvichi areaprejudiced lot.



DATELINE 1969 GREGORIAN.

Ralesh moved quietly through the night.

She waked forty meters from the edge of the freeway, well into the woods. She was not dowed by the
underbrush and the trees, and she left no path. Since leaving the city, nobody had seen her.

In one hand she held asmall device with apointer and alighted did. Twice the device spoketo her in
Slverspeech; she did not answer it. With rare detours, she moved in the direction the needle pointed.

Hereisan irony; the device measured fluctuationsin information probability, such as were caused by
functioning telepaths. It was cdibrated to a human being named Jalian of the Fires.

What it actually tracked was something else entirely. Not even a Corvichi-trained human telepath was
likely to be monitored through the blanketing probability storm that swirled around Georges Mordreaux.
A Corvichi would have found the readings on the device Ralesh carried unbelievable. The probability
fluctuation was athousand times grester than that generated by the best Corvichi telepath.

So it wasthat throughout the year 1969, Ralesh d'Arsenette tracked not her daughter, but Georges.
By then, of course, that wasimmateridl.

Clipped next to the knife on the Hunter's belt was a small object that looked vaguely like a hand grenade.
The Hunter intended to kill Jdian, but she did not intend to use the knife.

That was for hersdlf.

DATELINE 1969 GREGORIAN.

Sitting in her seet, waiting for thefilm to start, Jdian felt that Georges was being unreasonably smug. You
would think he'd invented thefilm, rather than smply finding areviva thester whereit was playing.

Then the movie began, and within ten minutes she had forgotten everything e se in the entire world.

There was much about the movie she did not understand; and, aswith so much eseinthistime, its
women and thewaysin which they acted infuriated her. But the basic story itsalf was comprehensible,
and she quickly ceased to notice the flickering qudity of theimage. Thewoman, IIsa, had |eft Rick just
before the Germans entered Paris. The film concerned awar that had ended somefifteen years before
Jdian'sarrivd in thistime, in which Georges's country, France, had been occupied by an invading
army—and now, at the film's beginning, 11sa had come, with her husband to Casablanca. ..

... where Rick waswaiting.

It seemed to be amatter of supreme importance to both of them, whether they loved each other or not,
and, at least a firgt, neither of them gppeared to be sure. Jalian glanced then at Georges, but his eyes
were fixed on the screen.



Thefilm... Her impressions of it were strange, and she was not sure she wished to analyze them. Perhaps
the hardest part was the necessity, if the story was to be understood, of conceding that the character
played by Humphrey Bogart, Rick, was a person. Male, but a person nonetheless. Nothing else
explained llsasreaction to him, or even Jdian'sown.

When the movie ended, she sat quietly for along while. Findly Georges prodded her, and said, "They're
clearing the theeter, Jdian."

Jdlian turned to him. "At the beginning, when he said, 'l stick my neck out for nobody." He waslying,
even then? He knew it?'

Georges Mordreaux nodded. "He knew it."

DATELINE 724 A.B.C.

When Jdian d'Arsennette was nineteen years old, she made the walk through the hillsto the Big Road for
the last time. She bore upon her back a disassembled Doorway. It massed forty-five kilograms. The
drapsthat held it in place had nearly cut off circulation to her arms. It dowed her travel, and pushed her
feet heavily into the ground she traversed.

Thetrack sheleft and the time she lost were important. The other Hunters, if they caught her before she
reached the Big Road, would certainly kill her.

The machine she was stedling, that she would destroy, had cost the Clan two years of |abor.

Two ten days earlier, the alien gods had announced their intention to leave Earth. The Ship (which was, in
fact, only asmdl part of alarger, kilometers-long Ship that never eft orbit) would lift silently into space,
loaded with monopoles, radioactives, and biomass that could be genegineered to match the Corvichi
amino acid requirements. With their machinery adapted to the physics of thistimeline, the great Ship
would activate its subwavicle stardrive, and, for the next few thousand cycled running cycles, would
explore the timdineinto which they had come battered and limping.

In time, when they had seen enough of this new timeline, they would shift again, and move further around
the Great Whed of Existence. They had lived so for longer than any Corvichi remembered; they had not
even the legends of a planet-bound existence. Perhaps the Shipmind might have told them of their past,
had they cared to ask.

In over 800,000 running cycles, no Corvichi had bothered. Where they had come from was not
important; they lived for the journey that would come.

Once again that time was near.

Jdlian found ghessRith waiting for her, curled into adim purplish mass of flesh, huddled sadly into his
feathernedt. It was dark; the blue glowfloats were lying inactive in arounder.

She stood at the edge of the feathernest; she did not enter.
lghessRith./ /Jdian/



lyou areleaving./

ftrue/ GhessRith gtirred. /word came from the Shipmind half aday past. it was confirmed by the captaing/
/why?you told me not for another running cycle a least./ GhessRith said uneasily, /our probes have met
with the crosstime ships of a person empire/

"Tchal," whispered Jdian aoud. /you have been acting so strangdly .../

[far away,/ said ghessRith, /far acrossthe Great Whed of Existence. they are personslike yourself, the
'sdlch khri, but their scienceis close to our own. they are warlike and they outnumber us grestly... we
do not wish to fight/

Jdlian assmilated the information dowly. Conquerors, then, like the Red Indians, with technology likethe
dien gods. /and you will leave usto this?/

/we have no choice. the Shipmind recommended; the captains chose/

Jdian'shands curved dightly at her Sdes, without her awareness. "Cowards," she said with true surprise.
"Y ou are cowards." /have you no pride? you flee before persons./

/pride? GhessRith seemed surprised. /no. we are not warriors/ He paused. /Jdian, you could come with
us. you are better trained in outtime technology than many of the crew/

Jdian did not need to think. /no./

GhessRith perssted. /Jdian, you will not be happy with only other Slver-Eyesto tak to. kisrien, Jdian,
there are no other Silver-Eyes you can mindtalk to/

Jdian stood Straight. She was shivering dightly with areaction she could not name. /don't do thisto me,
ghessRith./ /Jdian, there are wonders off this small destroyed planet. within your own hunting grounds
thereisaplanet with brilliantly colored rings. one of your planets has a giant red spot, caused in part by
the dance of vast sentient leviathans celebrating the joy of existence. there are—Jdlian, do you remember
how you used to fed about what you called the Big Road?

Jdian wasslent for along while. Shelooked straight at ghessRith. "Y es, ghessRith, | remember.”

/i fed you agree. Jdian, the rest of spacetime holds wonders that dwarf even what asix-year-old child
once felt for the Big Road./

Jdiansad, "l amn not achild, ghessRith." /i did not understand that, Jaliar/ /perhaps you were not meant
to./ /Jian? .

"Oh, | remember the Big Road, ghessRith. | remember.”

Jalian stepped onto the concrete of the Big Road. Even now, at the age of nineteen, she had traversed its
length only threetimes. At itsend, rising into the hills that ringed the north edge of the valley, there began
the ruins of another Big Road, and from that spot, in the far distance, one could see avast and faint
pattern of roads and ruined cities.

Thefirgt three times down that arrow-straight road, the land of gods and demons had not been at its
other end. Jdlian did not find four to be a particularly lucky number for her, either way.

Jdian knelt on the gray-black road, and dowly lifted the Doorway off her back. She set it downwith a



dight thud, then dumped next to it, to give her aching muscles arespite. She counted asmall cycle, then
another, beforerisng.

She assembled the Doorway carefully. She waswel aware of the time it was taking her. Sweat began to
s0ak again into her brown-green tunic, thereto evaporate at once into the ossifyingly dry and hot air.

After several minutes, the Doorway's control pand was set up and hooked to the Doorway itself. Using a
tool that resembled asmall awl, she began setting controls. The work went dowly, asthe awl-like tool
was apoor subdtitute for the minor tentacles of the dien gods. Findly it wasfinished, and Jdian
straightened, wiping sweety pams on her tunic, ignoring the sharp pain in the smal of her back.

The control pand acknowledged the search pattern Jalian had set up. From the frame of the Doorway,
Jalian detached a brace of insect-sized probes. She pressed the activator, held the brace for a six-count,
and released the probe-hold button. The probes dropped off the brace, buzzing dightly, and arrayed
themsdlves before the Doorway. They hung in midair, their buzzing hum becoming dmaost imperceptibly
louder.

The Doorway flickered.

For the barest instant, a swirling gray mael strom appeared between the poles of the Doorway. Linesand
sphereswrithed...

It was gone.

Jdian prepared to wait. Until one of the probes reached an dternate timeline that caused the bright-red
danger into flash, she could do nothing. The danger indicator, installed because many of the Silver-Eyes
could not hear the ultrasonic warning signal, remained stubbornly dark. Jalian glanced back, to the hills.
She saw nothing, but. .. She reached out with her mind, to find the pursuit, and there; guided by her
mind's eye, she could now visualy make out the faint rising of dust that her followers, cardessin their
haste, were leaving.

She turned away from the sight. They did not understand what she was doing, or why. She could explain
until the empire of which ghessRith spoke conquered them dl, and till they would not understand.

She did not admit even to hersdlf that she did not understand her own actions fully. She knew only that it
fdtright.

(GhessRith would have told her she was committing suicide; but there was amemory, skipping stones
acrossthe lake asachild. If she threw the stone straight at the water, it splashed and sank. If she skipped
it over the till surface of thelake, it would travel six or ten body-lengths before sinking.)

(She could amost do the math to describe what she was going to attempt.)
(Almogt.)

Jdlian could not help hersdlf; she was turning to watch her pursuit when the danger indicator flashed. The
control panel began whooping wildly at the very limits of Jaian'sfearing, asthe Doorway penetrated the
timeline with the skewed entropy orientation. An entry portal flickered into existence within the poles of
the Doorway; through the huge meta gateway, it presented aview of the Big Road.

It was different from the Big Road upon which Jdian stood. The left side of the road was Jdian'sright;
and the right side was her €ft. The colorswere wildly different, like the negative images that ghessRith
sometimes produced with hisimage recregtions. While she watched, a bird sailed gracefully backward
across Jian'sfidd of vison.



It was aone-to-one entry ratio, what the alien gods caled atrue entry. It was not what Jalian needed. To
go where she desired to go, and to survive the experience, she needed the highest entry ratio that the
Doorway was capable of establishing.

The necessary equations tumbled through the back of her mind. She could not have explained what she
was doing to another Silver-Eyes; she could hardly have done so to one of the aien gods. She needed to
balance the Doorway's power supply against the necessary high entry ratio against the time it would take
her to make her journey.

She set the Doorway for an entry ratio of fourteen million to one.

An arrow struck her in the back of her shoulder. Itsforce was aready spent by the timeit reached her; it
did not even bresk her skin.

Through the Doorway, the Big Road blurred. Day and night became a single indistinguishable flash of
light. The plantslived and died too quickly for her to see. The forest itsdlf was adark, shifting blur. Only
the mountains and the Big Road itsdf remained congtant.

Another arrow struck the ground near her. Without looking back, Jalian took the callback remote from
the control panel. With the callback remote clutched in her hand, Jalian d'Arsennette stepped through the
Doorway.

Arrowswhistled through the Doorway after her, but she was already months avay.

DATELINE RETROGRADE: 721 A.B.C. TO 1962 GREGORIAN
INCLUSIVE.

Needlesthrust themselvesinto every exposed patch of skin on her body. Fire washed over her. She
screamed, and the fire washed down into her lungs. She dropped to the concrete of the Big Road, the
pain dl that she could think of. The fire crept in through her ears, and melted in through the surface of her
skin until it touched her bones.

She lay writhing on the ground, unable to control herself. The pain wasinsane, impossible. The worst
pain she had ever experienced before was as nothing to this....

The Real Indian rode out of the sunshine. Jalian was thirteen and she threw the spear she'd taken
from the hands of the dead boy at her side. The spear bounced off the leather breastplate, and
arrows came from nowhere and struck her thigh and shoulder. She did not remember falling, did
not remember the knife leaving her hand, burying itself in the Real Indian's eye.

They had al assumed she was dead. She was one of the last of the Silver-Eyesto be approached by the
Heders. The arrows had been fired a point-blank range, and she wasasmadll girl; it saved her life. The
barbed arrowheads went completely through her, without embedding them in her flesh.

She was ddlirious for more than atenday. From the depths of her delirium, she remembered avoice, her
mother's, and six years|later, lying on the Big Road, in an insane timeline where the sun and moon were
only continuous circlets of light overhead, the words returned.

"Live Jalian. Thisisall that | teach you, al that | have ever taught you. Y ou must wishto live..."



Jdian d'Arsennette rose to her knees. Like acripple she struggled to her feet. It was not necessary that
she move; shewould exit thistimeline when the Doorway's power was exhausted.

Shedid not haveto move.

The Big Road stretched away in front of her. Jalian orientated on the familiar sght, and dowly, fateringly,
began the long run that would take her to itsend.

DATELINE BASE DIVERGENCE: 1962 GREGORIAN.

Late in the month of November, Johnny Harriswent driving for thelast time.

He was double-dating, because his girl's parents wouldn't let her go out done with him. In hisheart
Johnny didn't blame them. Ellen Jamieson was stunning; her hair was the same color as Brigitte Bardot's.
When she was standing, with her hair unbound, it fell straight to her butt. Her eyes were honest to God
the bluest damn things he'd ever seen, and to top it al off she was smart; she could talk about sports or
politics as reasonably as any guy Johnny knew. She knew more about movie-making than anybody else
Johnny had ever met; and that included his best friend Darryl.

He picked up Darryl and his date before heading over to Ellen's. If he showed up aone; Ellen's parents
wouldn't let her leave the house. It was dark and raining by the time he reached Darryl's house. Therain
wasn't serious, just anuisance.

Darryl and his most recent steady, acompletely nothing chick named Katie, were standing on the porch
when Johnny pulled up in hisolder brother's Chevette. (He wasn't actually supposed to be driving it, but
what the hdll,Craig wasin the Army, and didn't have leave coming for monthsyet.) Darryl and Katieran
through the light drizzle to the car. Johnny had forgotten to unlock the doors on the passenger side until
Darryl pounded on the window. He leaned over and popped the locks. Darryl did into the front seat, and
dammed the door shut. Without being told, Katie got in the back seet.

Darryl ran fingers through his damp hair. He looked pissed; the cigarette held been smoking on the porch
had gone out. He looked alot like James Dean, and knew it, and dressed and wore his hair to emphasize
the fact. The resemblance ended when he opened his mouth. "Hey, dude, you trying to drown us out
there?'

Johnny shrugged, pulling away from the curb. "Sorry, man. Hi, Katie." With hisfree hand heaimed a
thumb to the back seet. "Brewsin back. Grab me one."

Darryl leaned over the seat backs, rummaging in abag on the floor. He pulled out two bottles of Coors,
reasonably cold, from the bag, opened them with the bottle opener in the ashtray, and handed oneto
Johnny. He drank from his, and then glanced into the back seet. "Hey, Katie. Y ou want a beer?”

Katie leaned forward, arms resting on the seat-top that separated them. "No, but I'll drink some of
yours"

"Shit," grumbled Darryl, "I knew you were gonna say that." He passed the beer back to her over hisleft
shoulder. "Hey, Johnny, where we going?"

"To pick up Ellen," said Johnny ingtantly.



"Where after that?'
"Umm..." Johnny leaned forward and flicked on hiswipers. "Coving," hesaid finaly.

"Uh-huh." Darryl took his beer back from Katie. "I knew you were going to say that," he announced.
"L ook, | thought we agreed we weren't going to that damn reviva theater any more. What's playing this
time, | Was a Teenage Rutabaga?'

Johnny laughed in spite of himself. "No. It's Frankenstein and The Bride of Frankenstein.”

Darryl stared at him. "The Bride of Frankenstein?' He looked at Katie for support, then changed his
mind and decided to go it done. "Arewefor red here?’

Johnny sighed. "Look, I'll owe you one, okay?" He cornered onto the block where Ellen lived.
Darryl sat back in his seat. "Damn straight you owe me one. More than one, actually.”

Johnny pulled over next to the curb, and put the car into park. He left the engine running. "Right,
whatever. Back seat, dude." He got out of the car, sslamming the door, and ran up to the front
porch.

" 'Back sedt, dude.’ Thereisno appreciation here," Darryl said to nobody in particular. He didn't bother
to get out. Instead he crawled over the seat-top into the back of the car.

Johnny was back quickly, with Ellen. He opened the door for her, closed it behind her, and ran around to
the driver'sside. Insde the car, he put the car into drive and headed for 71 north.

The conversation insde wastense a firs—Darryl didn't much like Ellen, and Ellen found Darryl
amusing—but they had dl relaxed by the time Darryl was on histhird beer, and Johnny wasfinishing his
second. Therain wasincreasing but Johnny wasn't particularly worried; held driven in therain before
without difficulty. He wasn't worrying about his drinking either. It was only histhird beer, after dl, and
he'd just begun it. He'd eaten dinner less than two hours before, and he was hardly buzzed, you know?

They were heading into the deserted industria stretch of road on the outskirts of Pomonathat led toward
Covina Johnny was pleasantly relaxed. Ellen was leaning against him, awarm and comfortable weight.
From the back seat, he could vaguely hear Darryl speaking quietly, and Katie giggling. Hehad a
momentary impression of an indistinct brightness coming from up ahead.

Rainbows blasted over them.

Johnny touched the brakes, and the car fishtailed wildly. He let go of the brakes, but the rainbows were
intensifying, red and orange and yellow and green...

He couldn't see. In panic he ssomped on the brakes, and the lights were so pretty, you know, blue and
purple and it was dark for along second and suddenly it was red again, red and orange and yellow...
The Chevette skidded, hit the guardrail at the side of the road, and flipped. It tumbled end over end. One
of the headlights was smashed in the tumble, and the windshield shattered inward. The car flipped one
last time, and came to rest upside down in the middle of the street. The horn was blaring crazily and the
single headlight was rocking up and down with the movement of the car.

The rainbows ceased.

In the comparatively dim beam from the one rocking headlight, standing in therain, Jdian dArsennette
held hersdlf fully upright. Her clothing was dissolving intherain.



Her skin was the color that Ellen Jamieson might have experienced after avery bad sunburn.
Her hair wasice-white.

Shetried to take a step forward. She did not remember falling. It waslogical that she must have fallen;
the pavement struck her hard.

Ellen Jamieson found hersdlf lying hafway through the windshield, with the water pouring down on her.
The shards of the windshield were cutting up into her abdomen. She hardly felt it, hardly felt anything.
Out of the corner of her eye, she could see the person lying on the freeway, sprawled over the divider
line. There was a severed hand afew feet away from her.

After awhile had passed, Ellen did not know how long, the form on the road stirred. It rolled over onto
its back. Ellen noted exposed breasts with clinica detachment; it was awoman. After another long
pause, the form moved again. With agonizing downess, it roseto itsknees, and then to itsfeet. The
world faded...

When Ellen became aware again, legs that |ooked burned were standing in front of her eyes. She could
not see above the knees. She felt hands grasping her, and moving her

She screamed at the top of her lungs and passed out. She never awoke again.

Jdian moved in adaze. The dying girl before her was dressed in afashion that Jaian had never imagined
the like of. Thething Jdian had pulled her out of resembled akarz morethan alittle. It had asingle
glowing light onitsleft Sde.

The remote callback was beeping in her hand. She unclenched the hand that held it, vaguely aware that it
hurt her to do so. She dropped it on top of the strange woman.

She stood, and backed away. Conservation of mass required that the massthat left her timereturntoitin
some form. And the girl was dying to begin with.

Irest, ster,/ she said, and she was not sure who she wastaking to, hersdf or the girl from the karz. /rest.
you have along journey, and you will not surviveit./

There seemed to be some barely perceptible response from the unconscious form. "intime,” sheadded in
ablurred, inaudible mixture of silverspeech and Corvichi vichak, "intimethe journey takesusal.”

The rainbows began again; purple, blue, green, yellow...

On the other Side of the earth divider, something came roaring out of the darkness, moving faster than
Jdlian had ever seen anything move before—understanding rushed in on her, it was a karz, moving on the
Big Road...

With a sudden disorientation, she redlized she was not on the Big Road. Thiswas smdler, therewas no
divider linein the center, no stumps where poles of some sort had once been... the Big Road had not
been built yet, apart of her thought with clear, detached amazement. Something in the karz at her side
must have been sengtive to the eectromagnetic energies being released by the calback remote, Jaian
reasoned later.

Shewaswalking away from the glowing rainbows, on legs that seemed not a part of her body, watching



the karz, and it was moving down the empty, rain-wet road, it was impossible that anything should move
S0 quickly

The car behind her exploded.
Standing mere meters away, Jalian had a brief, pleasant impression: shewasflying.
She ceasad flying abruptly.

DATELINE 724 A.B.C.

GhessRith was adegp when the captains called for him. Like dl Corvichi, he dept rarely; it wasmore an
art form than aphysical necessty. He dlowed hisbrain to process data randomly without the oversight of
his superego, and upon awaking reviewed his dreams to see whether they contained anything of interest.
Often they did; as often they did not.

His current dreaming was going badly; he was as pleased as not when the captains roused his superego
from unconsciousness—until heredized where he was.

Hisphysicd sdf, heknew, was dill curled in hisfeathernest on the planet below them; till his senses
ingsted that he stood in the Great Ship's Machine of Decision, and he knew that if he was found wanting
hewould not leave the Machine dive.

The captains were arrayed about him in asemicircle. They were none of them young enough to retain
their minor tentacles; three were beginning to lose their mgjor tentacles.

Even the glowfloats were closer to purple than blue; the energetic blue light waves tended to cause strain
on their ddlicate traveling eyes.

The toolbot that was the symbolic representative of the Shipmind was positioned in anichein the Ship
wall just to theright of the raised dais upon which ghessRith's sensestold him he stood.

fthese be Shipmind conceptualizations, captains cor/

[these be?/ GhessRith asked apprehensively.

/of the femae person Jdian of the Fires/

el

The Shipmind spoke in awhisper of information. * These are her gene complexes. Please examine.*

A bewilderingly complex storm of information whirled through the edges of ghessRith's mind; it dowed,
gtabilized. Therewas abrief pause as the odd binary-spird amino acid chain upon which the person
genetic code was based was explained to him. Particular molecule patterns were assigned functions and
potentidsin the binary spiras, and then the genetic pattern that was on store for Jalian dArsennette was
arrayed for hisingpection.

One of the younger captains said dryly, /the obviousis seen/



GhessRith whistled in stheman; it was an emotion that Jaian had privately trandated as
amazement-at-the-perversity of-the-universe. In fact her trandation was only a crude analog of a
sophisticated concept that no person was ever likely to understand. /she survived the entropy timeline/
He considered briefly. /the body that returned to thistimeline?

* A pre-Catastrophe person,* said the Shipmind. * Radiation anadysis, after compensation for sustained
radiation damage during negative-entropy timeline exposure, posts a background radiation leve for this
body far smaler than that of contemporary Silver-Eyes persons. Fire damage makes body identification
unlikely for Silver-Eyes*

GhessRith wrinkled hislace in comprehension; without genetic andysis, it was not likely the persons
would redlize the body that was returned to them was not that of their sster. /posit:/ he said, too well
aware that his existence depended upon what answer he gave the Shipmind and captains concerning his
person protégé, /you have observed probability stress. following conclusion, Jdian of the Fireslives/

* Probability stressisminimal, but definite. possibility of growth cycleis 6% and running.*
GhessRith's tentacles curled. /new timdlines/ he said flatly.
fyour person,/ said an eider without inflection, /remarkable, i/

One of the captains directed aquestion at ghessRith. /three cycles of existencein balance. your actionsin
respongbility. what action now?

GhessRith's responsors and muscles froze. Even his minor tentacles were unmoving. A time change
would erase twelve years of their existence; and even for Corvichi that was no smdl thing. The loss of
twelve years, of the persons they had become in that time, was little better than death. He saw it so;
kisrien, of course the captains would also. /her exit date?

* Pre-Catastrophe. No more is certain.*
fthe time of the Big Roads... other Silver-Eyes, smilar gone complexes?
*Three children; Ralesh and Morine d Arsennette.*

ghess Rith said decisively, /advise sending Ralesh d Arsennette after her daughter. what Jalian survived,
her other will not alow hersdf to bekilled by/

Therewas abrief pause. GhessRith, waiting on the machine of Decision, could not help himsdlf; his
tentacles curled in uncertainty.

One of the captains, ghessRith was not sure which one, said, /well reasoned. decision is send Raest/

The Shipmind's whispery data pulse said, * Concerning Jdian of the Fires; her genetic potentidsare
impressve’* /so? GhessRith considered briefly. /ah. .. knowing Transformation wave front.../

*could be on way now! Affirmative*

"Ralesh,”" said the dien machine, in avoice that Ralesh was dtogether weary of, "we must speak to you
of your daughter."



DATELINE 1969 GREGORIAN.

Jdian had the feding they were being followed.

She knew intdllectudly it could not be so. The carsthat sped by them at distances of lessthan ameter
did not worry her; certainly no follower could bein one of those. It was just as certain that no human of
thistime could trail her afoot without Jdian being aware of it.

Still, it bothered her.

The Pecific Coast Highway hugged the cliffs closgly at this point, and the wind was brisk. Even walking
aong the shoulder of the road, the sound of the waves below, smashing into the cliffs, was dl but
inaudible. The cliffs rose thirty meters above the rocks. There was no beach as such, smply ajumbled
collection of water-cut boulders.

They were walking north; Jalian wanted to see Oregon. The sun was low, thirty degrees or so abovethe
line where seamet sky. Georges was reminiscing about hisinvolvement with the French Foreign Legion.
Jdian wasn't sureif he wastelling the truth or not. Despite hislong and remarkable life, Georgeslied as
often as not. She listened with half her attention as Georges rambled on about someone named Beau
Geste. After Georges ran down she could ask him more about how peanut butter cookies and chocolate
doughnuts were made.

The sun was a handsbreadth over the horizon when the road widened out. Set about forty meters back
on the east Sde of the freeway, there was adingy, rundown 7 Eleven. Jdian interrupted Georgesin
midsentence. "Georges, I'm hungry.”

"Well, aren't you dways?' he asked rhetoricaly. They walked over the dirt parking lot to the 7-Eleven.
"Who has money?'

Jdlian chuckled. She found the idea of money tremendoudy amusing. "Y ou have someright now," she
said. "l know because | counted it the last time you were adeep, and I've been doing al the buying since
then." She waved ahand at the entrance to the 7-Eleven. "Go buy some food. I'll make aphone call to
get some more money."

"Y ou counted my money?'
Jdlian pushed him to the door. "Go buy food. Don't forget the doughnuts.”

Georges shrugged in resignation. He pushed through the doors, little bellstinkling overhead as he did so.
(He remembered Jdian telling him about the first time sheld seen adoor with bells set to tinkle when
someone entered. Sheld laughed hersalf sick.)

Through the large glass windows that fronted the store, Georges could see Jdian standing in a phone
booth, one of two, at the other end of the parking lot. The door to the phone booth was open. Georges
didn't know who she talked to when she needed money. She wouldn't tell him, and he didiked shuffling
through the memories hed taken from her; it took al the fun away.

The evening attendant, atdl, thin young man with acne and abulging Adam'’s apple, nodded cheerfully to
Georges. "Good evening, Sr.”

Georges nodded agreeably, and continued into the refrigerated section. The machine that refrigerated the



drinks and food was running raggedly; as Georges rummaged through the shelves, the sound steadied,
and became a smooth hum. "Let's see,”" he mumbled, " Coke and sandwiches and barbecued potato chips
and chocol ate doughnuts. The sandwiches were for him; Jalian refused to eat mesats. "Cheesecake and
amond cookies." Satisfied, he took the pile up to the cash register and laid it out on the counter.

The attendant wasn't paying attention to him. In the parking lot outside, a pickup truck full of locaswas
pulling up. Five menin their late teens and early twenties came piling out of the pickup and into the
7-Eleven.

It was nearly dark outside; the outer fluorescents clicked on, casting bright white around the parking lot.
One of the fluorescents, set into the roof that , shielded the Sdewak immediately outside the store,
blinked fitfully, asthough it were not sure that it wanted to glow.

Through the window, Georges could see Jdian in the phone booth. She did not appear to be watching
the entrance.

The attendant was standing motionless behind the counter. He seemed to be practicing some form of
Zen, under the erroneous impression that if he emptied hismind of al thought, he would vanish from the
perceptions of lesser mortals.

One of the new arrivas, atall, handsome redhead in faded jeans and a brown plaid shirt, said
companionably, "Hey, Charlie! How'sit going?'

The attendant came back to life. He smiled weekly. "Pretty good, Stan. Can | help you?'

The redhead didn't reply. He waslooking at Georges. After amoment of surprise—Georges eyeswere
leve with hisown—he amiled dightly.

Georges could hear the others, talking loudly in the background. They were discussing the relative merits
of the brands of beer on sdle.

Jdian wastaking into the dead phone. "The sun was shining on the sea, shining with al hismight, he did
his very best to make the billows smooth and bright; and this was odd because it was the middle of the
night, the moon was shining sulkily because she thought the sun had got no businessto be there after the
day was done, 'It'svery rude of him,' shesaid..." Leafing through the white pages, she had dready
located six offices of the Army, Coast Guard, and Air Force. She memorized the addresses, il talking
into the phone. " 'Oh, oysters, come and walk with us,' the Warus did beseech..."” In the seven years she
had been in thistime, she had robbed more soldiers than she could recall. Soldierswere easy. On
weekend nights she could get three or four of them, and they dways had money.

Probably there were easier waysto get money, had Jalian bothered to think about it; Jalian doubted there
were any that she would enjoy more. Even after seven years of getting used to the concept, she il had
difficulty with the idea of men with wegpons.

Jdlian finished memorizing, and hung up. She glanced into the 7-Eleven again. She decided that it was
timeto go insde; the men from the truck looked like they might be violent.

That would befun.

Half of the sun had disappeared behind the edge of the horizon. At thelimits of Jalian's hearing, as she
was walking back to the 7-Eleven, afamiliar melody seemed to be playing. She stopped and listened for
asecond, but there was no sound. It must be her imagination.



But she could not shake the feding that she was being watched.

The redhead was pushing Georges's junk food to the side of the counter when Jalian entered. ™Y oulll
forgive me, but you' re obvioudy not done shopping, and we do have purchasesto make," the redhead

was saying politely.
"Uhm, well," said Georges, "actudly..."

The man was not listening. He had turned to look at Jalian. There was an odd expression on hisface.
"Why... hdlo," hesaid dowly. "Allow meto introduce mysdf. | am Stan Mildwood, and these four
gentlemen are my friends." He waved a hand at the men standing around them. He grinned suddenly at
the attendant. "Y ou know Charlie, of course.” Stan leaned over the counter, and clamped one hand
down on Charlie's shoulder. "Charlie, would this happen to be one of your many girlfriends?’ Stan
sudied Jdian; Jdian studied him back with cold indifference. " There's something interesting about you,"
the redhead said conversationdly. He took a step closer to Jalian. He stopped because there was blood
trickling down his neck from the knife that he found himsdlf waking into.

It took amoment for the other four to redlize what was happening. While the redization was snking in,

Georges pushed hisjunk back into the center of the counter. He gestured to Charlie. "Would you mind
ringing thisfor me?' Two of the four men—the younger two, probably not out of their teens, onewith a
strong resemblance to Stan—jproduced knives, and crouched dightly into proper knifefighting form.

Georges shook hishead. Jalian said, "I will kill him before any of you can move." She edged the knife
into Stan'sthroat with dightly greater force. Blood trickled down the knife blade. The redhead was
standing very ill. He seemed unafraid, watching Jalian the way a mongoose would watch arattlesnake.
Jdian was not even looking a him.

Charlie didn't seem to be listening to Georges. Georges Sghed in frustration, and muttered in French
concerning aresemblance between the redhead and Rabelais backside. He turned away from the
counter, surveying the scene as though he had noticed it for thefirgt time. "Oh, my," he said in tones of
mild surprise. He looked at the two boys with knives. ™Y ou two are quite hedlthy boys, aren't you?"

For a second nothing happened. Then the two holding the knives began to tremble. "Very hedthy
indeed," continued Georges cheerfully. "Why—"

The two knife-holders collapsed. "Unfortunately,” Georges noted, "your ability to withstand massve and
immediate growth islimited." Heturned dightly to face Stan. Jalian withdrew her knife and backed away.

"Now you, Stan Mildwood, you have an excdlent memory.”

The redhead blinked once. The cut on his neck had closed aready; scar tissue was forming and fading.
"l...1..." Hiseyesclosed, and he dumped to hisknees. "God," he gasped, "how funny." He clutched
his stomach, and rolled to the dirty tile floor. Hislaughter grew louder and harder to control. "Oh,

Georges wondered, briefly, what it was that the man was remembering. He decided that he redlly didn't
want to know. Georges picked up his packages, and, neglecting to pay for them, began stuffing them into
abag.

Thetwo men left sanding stirred dightly as though they might be thinking about doing something. Jdian
glanced up from cleaning her knifein Stan Mildwood's shirt. "1 wouldn't do that. He gets mad



ometimes”
The men reconsidered and retreated. Jalian and Georges were backing to the double doors. ..
... and Jdlian heard the music. It was music she recogni zed.

She stood, frozen in place, for several heartbeats. Her mouth was dry and refused to work. Findly she
forced out, "Georges. "

"Hmm?'
"Themugc."

Georges listened amoment. "1 don't hear anything." Jdian could not sustain English; she lgpsed into
slvereyes. The music was clear to her now, and through the music, a presence began to make itsdlf fdt...
"The arreyaho, Georges. My Clan... we play it, when thereistime, before entering battle to the degth. It
meansthat there will be no quarter asked, and none given." She moved back away from the door;
without thinking the young men scattered away from her. Jdian stretched one hand out to Georges.
"Georges, there are ken Salvren out there."

Georgesregarded her in silence. He said at last, "There can't be. If—" He saw the expression on her face
and broke off. "So let's check." He strode through the double doors, and as the doors opened Jdlian
perceived clearly that there was no sound, that it was dl as Slent as death itsdlf, and that the melody was
only inher mind.

Jdlian d'Arsennette did not hesitate; she had never hesitated in her life. So it could not be hesitation that
was keeping her pinned in place. There was another Silver-Eyes out there and she knew it and she knew
why she had felt that somebody was following her dl day, and why was she letting Georges go out the
door?

Far too late, she screamed, "Georges, no," and it echoed, /Georges, no./

Theflickering fluorescent lighting tube, which had been preparing to burn out for over aweek, steadied
into an even, unflickering glow.

The attendant's acne was gone. Georges Mordreaux stepped outside. The sun set with agreen flash.

The knife twisted out of the darkness, and buried itself to the hilt in Georges throat. He sank to the
ground limply, quite without his customary grace.

The window of the 7-Eleven shattered outward, and Jalian d Arsennette y ken Selvren came through with
the shower of glass. She held knivesin both hands. She camerolling up to her feet, bitsof glassin her
hair and skin and clothing, standing over Georges falen body, knives upraised. "I cdl chdlenge!" she
screamed in silverspeech. "l cal battle to the deasth! Murderers, cowards!” She screamed the words

again."| call chdlengel”

Quietly, so quietly there was no sound audible even to Jdlian, afigure stepped into the circle of light cast
by the 7-Eleven. The figure was garbed in the white tunic and leggings of an Eider Hunter of ken Selvren.

Jdian'sknives dropped dowly. Her arms sank of their own accord. The anger that she had inherited from
generations of d'Arsennettes drained away. "Ralesh.”

Jdian's mother nodded. "I... Daughter, your hair iswhite... but you are not old.”



"It happened when | ran the Big Road. | nearly died. How did you surviveit?' Jdian took astep closer
to Ralesh.

"Almost did not." In the dim light; Jalian could see that her mother wasworn, and tired, but she seemed
no older than the day Jalian had last seen her. In her right hand, she held an object that resembled ahand
grenade.

A vague buzzing in his ears, cheep. Oddly, there was a cricket near Georges right ear, which he could
hear perfectly; cheep, cheep, cheep, damnit.

Georges knew there was something he should be doing. What, he wondered, would Athos be doing
right now? Oh, that's right, he thought amoment later; dying. Georges remembered the time held had
his head cut off. It had been more pleasant than this. All that he had remembered was a moment of fear,
and then waking up with the corpora looking at him as though he had returned from the dead. (Ho-ho.)
But that bastard German soldier, incons derate though held been, at least he hadn't | eft his bayonet in
Georges.

Georges decided what to do.

The cricket was getting on his nerves,

"... would destroy our people. We would never have existed.”

Jdian felt swest trickling down the Sdes of her neck. "Mather, that is... possible. Thereisaminimal
energy level beneath which timelines do not split. Only in subcritica casesisatransformation wavefront
generated. It..." Jalian broke off. Ralesh did not understand haf the words shewasusing. ..

... and Georges hand was moving. Out of the corner of her |eft eye, she saw Georges hand creeping up
through the dirt toward his neck and the knife. Shetried to let no expression show on her face.

Wariness gppeared in Ralesh's eyes. She understood little of what her daughter was saying, and not dl of
what she had been told to say to Jdian. The dien gods had told her to spesk of oscillating cyclesand
decision vectors, and she had not said half of what ghessRith had told her to say when Jalian became
gill. "What are you doing, Daughter?' She keyed the object in her hand, released arestraining ball, in the
way the alien gods had shown her. "Y ou do not fool me, child, | taught you."

Jdian circled to her right, flowing smoothly into afighting crouch as she did so; desperately willing Raesh
to keep her eyes on Jdian. "Ralesh. it has been six and ahalf years since | walked the Big Road. | amin
my prime, and you are an old woman, well past yours. | can kill you before Y OU can throw thét...

thing."”

Raesh nodded, dowly, her eyeslocked to Jdian's. "True, Daughter. Y ou can. Would you kill your
mother? In the history of our Clan that has never happened, that a Silver-Eyes dayed another
Silver-Eyes." She pivoted dowly, to follow Jdian's circling. "But then, there are many things you have
donethat no Silver-Eyes ever did before..."

The hand was working the knife from the throat of Gorges Mordreaux. Jdian said nothing.

"Y ou betrayed your people, the Hunters, your mother.”



Raesh looked grim. "Ties of blood; you did not choose them. Other Silver-Eyes have waked in
wilderness when they could no longer abide the company of their kin.

"But you," she said in tones of judgment, "you chose afriend, and you betrayed ghessRith as surely asif
hewere aperson..."

Jdlian screamed the words; they tore at her throat. "He was going to leave me!”

If | survive this experience, thought Georgesfurioudy, | am going to kill that godforsaken cricket.

A second later, it occurred to Georges, there are probably more pleasant thingsto do in life than pulling a
knife from onesthroat.

Strangely, at the moment he could not think of any. It wasthe hardest thing that Georges had ever done
inhislong lifetoreman slent.

Jdian’ s bresth was coming quickly, and raggedly. "Maother..."

Raesh shook her head no. "We are dead women, you and I. Put your knives away, Jdian. "This'—she
gestured with the object in her hand—"is degth, but it is not adeath | would wish on aRed Indian. It will
throw you into an dternate timeline, far away onthe..." She hesitated a second. "the Great Whed of
Existence. The entropy sign will be opposite your own.” Ralesh paused, and said, "Y our ratio of entry
will be hundredsto one; this does not hold the energy for a..." She ssumbled again over the v'ichak
words. "atrue entry. You will not diefor days."

Jdian said, voicelow, "You... assume | will not kill you before you useit.”

"Itisonly theforcethat | hold it with now that keepsit from acting. When it leaves my hand, it will do
what it does."

"What dternative?"

Raesh's voice cracked for the first time. "Hon... honorable death. Jdian, please.” It wasthe voice of a
mother in pain, without artifice, spesking to her only child. "Jdian, do not meke me do this.”

Then Georgesrolled over onto his back.

Thisisthe picture:

Inthedirt parking lot of asmal, grimy 7-Eleven in northern Cdifornia, in the year 1969, there are three
humans. Unusual humans, perhaps—two have yet to be born, one has yet to die properly—but humans
beyond a reasonable doubt, with hands and feet and that stuff in the right places.

Two of the humans are standing, femaeswith slver eyes. One haswhite hair because of age, the other,
because of ages. The dder hasin her right hand asmdll device that will, for lack of abetter name, be
called ahand-grenade thingy. The other female has knives in both hands, poised for underhand throws.

The maeislying on hisback. Thereisagash that gapes dightly through the neck at two spots. The knife
that gaped the spotsisin the maes|eft hand.



Thepictureismoving.

Georges got to hisfeet. Eternity dripped by as he moved. Neither of the women so much as tirred;
Raesh was saring a him, Jalian was watching Ralesh.

Raesh said softly, "But you're dead.”

Georges heard the words clearly, recognized them as slvergpeech. At that moment he had no ideawhat
they meant. He took a step toward her, and Ralesh backed away over so dightly.

Jdian threw. She knew with calm certainty that what she was doing wasidiotic; the target wastoo small.
Her knives cut through air to the hand that held the dlien device.

Until that moment Georges had never in hislife seen anyone who moved as quickly as Jdian
d'Arsennette. Eight hundred years of evolution in the deadliest environment humanity had ever known:
without warning, stunned by a standing dead man, with no more than Jdlian's hands moving in the corner
of her vison to warn her, Ralesh d'Arsennette was a blur before the fact that she had moved &t al had
registered on Georges retinas. She was twisting and backing away and falling and throwing and Georges
wasonly just redizing that Jalian had even gtirred.

A lifetimestraining taught Ralesh that aknifeisthrown a one. She evaded into the paths of Jdian's
knives. They caught her just above the navel and in the middle of her solar plexus. They sank deep.

The object that she was throwing struck Georges Mordreaux in the chest. 1t began to glow with a soft,
pearly light theingtant it left Ralesh's hand.

Georges found himsdlf Stting on the ground, rather surprised to have the glowing hand-grenade thingy in
his hands.

He struggled to hisfeet. The glow started to get very, very, very bright.

From quarter of akilometer away, on the highway, an approaching motorist noticed afaint, pearly glow
coming from the road up ahead of him. Georgestried to let go of the object and could not.

He stood there, in the middle of the dirt parking lot, as though hypnotized, staring into the light that he
held cupped in hishands.

Over the seven closest timdlines—three in one direction on the Great Whed, four in the other—there
existed aman named Georges Mordreaux, who had ataent.

There were other timelines where aman named Georges Mordreaux had existed, but in those he had not
had ataent, and he waslong dead. Further away around the Great Whed, he had never lived at all.

On the other saven timelines, saven Georges Mordreaux dropped, in two casesliterally, whatever they
were doing at the moment, and got afaraway look on their collective face.

Something Important Was Happening.

DATELINE 1969 GREGORIAN: FACTOR OF EIGHT DIVERGENCE.



Georges stared into the glowing white thing he held. In many ways, it seemed like aliving cresture. He
fdt it straining with al the might it held to shift him—elsewhere. He pushed back, and fdlt the talent flare
into lifewithin himsdf.

He pushed back, and the glow grew brighter, much brighter, and ships out at sea noticed a bright spot
along the coast. The nature of the thing was stunningly wasteful, deliberately entropic. It was designed to
increase disorder, and efficiently designed to do so. Georges stared into the blinding light, feding the heat
flashing againgt his skin, using the talent to push hisway into the inferno that was the source of the light.
He pressed lightly, encouraging orderliness here, there, and judging the responses the device made. |
disapprove of you, Georges informed the device slently. The device made no reply, burning itsdf into
dag trying to shift this temporally massive object named Georges e sawhere.

Reality began to flicker and blur. The air wavered around Georges, and he was there, and then not there,
acadm figurein the midst of aincandescent firethat lit the sky of night like adozen suns.

Thisthing is very entropic, Georges thought at one eternity.
Georges disapproved of entropy.

Sparks began to swirl around him like a cyclone. The frees around them and the highway and the parking
lot, Jdian and her mother and the 7-Eleven; al appeared and disappeared as though lit by astrobe light.

At the height of the battle, when Georges knew he waslosing, when reality had ceased to exist except for
the struggle and the heat and the light, Georges reached out and touched himselves and power poured
into him from seven Others.

Thebattle

... ablazing shaft of light blasted upward from where Georges siood. Theincredible energy of the last
second of battle had to go somewhere; as coherent laser light it washed across the surface of the moon,
and pierced on into interstellar space. ..

ended. Eight universes|ost the barriers that separated them.
They crashed.
Inside the body of Georges Mordreaux.

Georges stood there, in the black darkness of the partial moon, quite blind; his hands were opened to the
bone by the melting metd.

Sometime during the event, Ralesh had died.

As Time Goes By

Y ou must remember this



A kissisjust akiss
A dghisjustasgh
Thefundamentad things gpply
Astime goes by
And when two loverswoo
They 4ill say "l loveyou."
Onthat you can rely
No matter what the future brings
Astime goes by
—"AsTime GoesBy" Casablanca

DATELINE 1973 GREGORIAN: FEBRUARY.

Standing at his diding-glass patio door, Frank B. Danner watched the date-gray winter waves crash
againgt the Malibu beach. 1t was not cold by his standards; but this was Cdifornia, and the beaches were
deserted in the low-sixty weeather, except for onelonely surfer, far out from shore, looking for awave
that Frank did not think was going to come. The water was choppy, but the waves were small.

He watched the amateur surfer without amusement. In hisleft hand was atumbler, amber with scotch and
soda, held loosdy with three fingers. His pinkie and ring fingers curled dightly under the glass.
Condensation made his pam damp.

Hewas il in his oldest, faded purple bathrobe. It was ten-thirty, and held done nothing all morning.
Unless you counted drinking. He was on his fourth scotch and soda.

Intruth, standing at the window, with the disma gray ocean rolling back and forth before him, he did not
know what to do; did not know what he could do.

He was the Undersecretary of Defense to President Robert F. Kennedy.

He was ahomosexud, and he was being blackmailed.
The phone rang just before eleven o'clock.

Frank let it ring four, five times. He snatched it out of its cradle, then took histime before speaking. It
didn’'t help. Hisvoice shook. "Y es?"

The voice was female with afaint accent. "Have you seen the pictures | sent you?”



Hereined in histemper. "I've seen them.”

The voice chuckled. "The boy is very pretty. If he was not awhore, he could do better than the likes of
you." Frank dammed the phone back down.

The handle cracked.

There was a brief pause before the phone rang again. "Forgive me," said the voice on the other end. "l
should not tease you.”

Frank held the cracked phone with one hand and his drink with the other. He spoke dowly and very
digtinctly. "Whet the hell do you want of me?"

"The appropriations bill for the project known as Sunflower the solar-power satellite—you will advise
President Kennedy favorably on this subject in your upcoming report.”

Frank Danner's voice cracked. "What?"
"Y ou will advise the President that Sunflower isaproject worthy of hisadminigtration's support.”
"Jesus Chrigt," Frank screamed at her, "'l was going to do that anyway!"

"Oh? There was some question... we shall call thisinsurance. Submit your paper. | will bein touch with
you."

"Wait—" Theline went dead. Frank Danner dropped the phonein piecesto thefloor.

... and, inthe opinion of this department, the project known as Sunflower represents a reasonable use of
our resources and manpower. Thefigures are conclusive, as presented in briefs One through Six; the
likelihood of finding an aternative source of environmentally clean energy within the foreseegble futureis
small to nonexigtent. With the continuing Soviet penetration of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting
Countries, it isvitd that the United States secure a stable dternative to forelgn energy sources. The
ancillary benefits of the solar-power satellite system named Sunflower—in a permanent base for
operationsin geosynchronous orhit, the beginnings of a space-based manufacturing capability, and a
proprietary energy ddivery system which is not subject to the whims of nations whom we cannot
control—are impressive in away and to adegree that no other option approaches. We recommend
Sunflower asthat dternative.

—Frank B. Danner, et a. Report to the President, Department of Defense, and Department of Energy,
March 9, 1973.

He met her down on the beach, in the dead of night. Frank Danner had been standing by the pier for
nearly ahdf hour, clutching hisjacket closed to protect himsdlf from the cold wind off the ocean, when
the woman appeared.

That was the word for it; one moment she was not there. Thewas abrief flicker in his periphera vision,
and he whirled to face her. His voice was harsh with surprise. "Do you have the photographs?*

The woman came forward, into the light from the pier floods. Frank Danner cut himself off as he was
about to repeet his question. A cold tremor ran through him. He had never imagined anything like this
woman; no, thisgirl. Her hair shone white, and she wore white from head to toe. Her eyebrows were



brown. She was not as old as her poise in their conversations had led him to imagine; twenty, perhaps or
younger.

She moved closer to him, and the light caught her eyes. Sainless steel, thought Frank Danner in horrified
fascination, eyes like stainless steel. The wind sent ripples through the cloth of her cost.

She produced a packet of what Frank assumed were photographs, and held them out. She spoke with
that same delicate accent he had observed over the phone. "Take them. It isal here. | have no further
need of these"

Danner opened the packet with hands that were not entirely steady. He held the negatives up to the
lights, and nodded. Himsdf and Steve, dl from the night in San Diego.

Thegirl said clearly, "I am truly sorry that thiswas necessary.”

Frank Danner nodded. He put the photographs inside hisjacket, for later disposal. He took two steps
backward. "Not as sorry asyou're going to be," he said distinctly. Without hurry, he reached into his
jacket and pulled hisrevolver from its shoulder holster.

With her right foot, Jalian d'Arsennette scooped sand up from the beach and kicked it into Frank
Danner's eyes. She stepped to theleft, pulling sted. Danner fired blindly into the night, in the direction of
the sea. Jalian moved in, broke hisright arm benegath the elbow, and took the revolver away from him.

From the parking lot at the far end of the pier, she saw headlights come on. Backups, shethought in
disgust. "Idiot, Indian,” she hissed a Danner in slverspeech. With hisgood arm, he swung &t her. She
brushed the arm aside, pulled him close, and put the stedl in just benesth his sternum. He sucked air ina
gurgling, stifled scream.

The carswererolling forward, onto the sand. Jdian let go of Danner, pulled the knife from him, let his
body fall. The cars were coming down the sand from both sides of the pier.

Sheturned away from them, and ran. Directly into the cold, black sea.

The cars came down to the edge of the water, and the agents within fired handguns and high-powered
riflesinto the dark ocean.

After awnhile they stopped. The senior agent present turned Frank Danner's body over, and pulled the
photographs from his codt.

One of the younger agents knelt next to him. "What the hell wasthisal about, Chief?

The sensor agent grunted: "Favor to afriend. Anybody get agood look at her? Photographs?' He
looked around. "No? 1 didn't think so." He flipped through the package of photos casualy. He stopped,
and peered a the face in the photo. He said dowly, "Wdll, I'll be damned.”

They packed up the body, and got out before the police arrived.

It was 1973, and there were thirty-four years|eft until Armageddon.

From the Pomona Progress Bulletin, July 14, 1973:

... and, born to Marienne R. Hamme and Jonathan Hamme, at 6:30 in the morning of July 13; agirl,
Margaret Beth, Six pounds four ounces, in good hedth.



"Jonathan Hamme is a partner in the Pasadena offices of the corporate and investor relations firm of
Jones, Callins& Hammd."

DATELINE 1976 GREGORIAN: JUNE.

The child popped up out of nowhere, from alandscape strewn with boulders, wind-cut rock, and
mesquite scrub, and onto the dusty path in front of Jalian; one moment he was smply there. Jdian was
impressed despite hersdlf. A Siver-Eyesgirl, without training from an Elder Hunter, might have done no
better. There was noise, and she had smelled him, but had not seen him at al until he choseto let her.
Not that she'd been trying.

He examined her gravely, under eyes haf lidded. against the fierce noonday sun. He was, Jaian guessed,
perhaps seven years old. Except for hislong, uncombed hair, which was blond, he looked very much like
the other Indian children Jdlian had seen in the area—ypoorly dressed in dusty clothes, shodess, with clear
Indian features that were aready stamped with awarinessthat seemed an integrd part of his person.

"Areyou log?" His voice was pitched high; more the voice of agirl than aboy.

Jdlian had ceased walking at his appearance; she resumed, dowing dightly to accommodate his smaller
legs. Her action seemed to tartle him; the boy hurried after her. "I am not logt.”

"Usudly white people are lost when they come on thisroad.”

Jalian glanced down at him; he was|ooking up at her, not watching where he placed hisfeet on the
rock-strewn path. "1 am not awhite person,” said Jdian carefully, "I do not think thisisaroad, and | am
not logt."

"Do you have enough water?"
"Why do you ask?'

"Becauseif you'rethirsty the creek'sonly ahaf hour away, and it isn't dry yet. It will be before the end of
summer." he added.

Jdian nodded. "'l have enough water, thank you."
"What'syour name?"

Jalian drew adow bresth. She was not particularly in the mood for company. Still, he was only achild,
even if mae. She squatted until her eyeswerelevel with his. "Jdian dArsennettey ken Selvren, or, in
English, Jdian of the Fires of Clan Silver-Eyes. | am the daughter of Ralesh who was the daughter of
Morine; MargraHamme was our mother.”

"Oh." The answer seemed to put him off for amoment. "Mine€s Michael. Michae Waks-Far."

Jdian undung her canteen and drank from it. Michagl was swesting; she offered it to the boy. "Would
you likeadrink?'

"How far are you going?'



"To Needles" shesad patiently, still holding out the canteen. "1 will be there within aday, and the
canteenishaf full yet."

Michael nodded in acceptance, and took asmall drink from the canteen. He handed it back to her, and
then saw her eyesfor thefirst time. He stared openly. "Are you Huapatanetal ?*

Jdian redung the canteen, and stood dowly. "I do not understand.”

The child shook his head dowly. "Never mind. Mamatells me of them, the demonswith silver eyes, but |
think it'sastory. They are called Huapatanetal ."

"Wak with me," said Jdian abruptly. The child followed her as she resumed her westward journey. Deep
within her memory, the boy had stirred something which she had not thought of in many years, but she
could not placeit ingantly. "How old are you, child?"

Michadl answered with reluctance. "Five. But everybody says| look older,” he added instantly. Already,
he was swesting again from the effort to keep up with her. Jalian did not dow her pace.

Jdlian nodded. "Y ou do. | would have thought seven.”

"Redlly?' Helooked up at her, and smiled suddenly, and for the first time Jdian realized that he was
beatiful.

"Yes" shesadfirmly, "1 would have said seven." They waked in slence after that for nearly ten minutes,
until Michael stopped and told her that he couldn't go any further because he had promised his mother.

"Then you must not break your promise,” said Jdian.
With obvious resentment in hisvoice, Michael said, "1 won't. Mamaspanks mewhen | do.”

At that, Jalian laughed; she could not help herself. "When | was a child, and my mother punished me, it
left scars.” She knelt next to him and touched his cheek. ™Y our mother does not sound so bad.”

He nodded, unconvinced. Hislong white hair, so like her own, fell across his eyes, and he pushed it
back. " Are you going to come back thisway?"

Jdian gtarted to shake her head no, and then stopped. "I do not know," she said honestly. "I am going to
see amathematician who livesin Needles, and after that | cannot say."

"Oh." He paused in thought. "If you come back, my Mama and melive on thisside of the creek, but on
the other side of the hills. If you just walk down the creek you'll see our house. We have chickens and
two cows," he said proudly—he was old enough to have seen otherswho did not have that much. "It's
just usthere. Mama had a boyfriend once who was a singer for the Sorry Blues, and they had me, but he
went away and didn't come back." The boy paused, looking at Jalian, obvioudy expecting an answer.

"Perhgps| will come back,” said Jdian smply.
All cheerfulness|eft hisexpresson "Do you have aboyfriend?'

The question surprised Jalian. Without conscious intent she ran her hands over her knives, one knife was
missing, agift to Georges Mordreaux. Shewas not at al certain that he understood the meaning of that
knife; and even if he had, things were so very different now.

"l don't know," shetold Michael Waks-Far. "Probably not."



He nodded and hugged her around the legs, suddenly and with surprising strength, and then turned and
ran back the way they had come, ran until he was out of sight without ever once looking back.

That night, as she was making her fire before going to deep, with the city lights of Needlesvisiblein the
distance, words that she had not thought of in dmost a decade and ahaf came back to her with aforce
that brought her springing to her feet, asif to face an enemy.

Corvichi words; the'salch khri, ghessRith had called them, the warlike humans from across the Gresat
Whed of Exigtence, with technology equd to or surpassing that of the Corvichi themsdves.

Thewords'salch khri trandated, very nearly, to Walks Far .
Her fire had nearly died before Jalian managed to make herself deep, and shedid not deep well at dl.

The United States of Americawas nearly two hundred years old, and Jdian d'Arsennette had no idea at
al whether she had a"boyfriend” or not...

... and there were just thirty-one years left until Armageddon.

The Armageddon Blues

... we have begun. Neither wind nor tide is alwayswith us. Our course on adark and stormy sea cannot
aways be clear. But we have set sail—and the horizon, however cloudy, isaso full of hope.

Introduction, To Turn The Tide November 8, 1961.

—John F. Kennedy

The bombsfell.

In a nuclear rain that lasted for days, through a perfect first strike and a retaliatory second strike,
through retaliatory second and third strikes, until only a few lonely submarines cruised through
the ocean to fire their weapons upon an enemy who no longer existed, through all of thisthe
bombs fell, and fell. Billions died, of the planet's seven and a half billion persons, in fire and
blasting shock waves and radiation. Billions more died in famine, and in the firestorms caused
when the bombs went down. But that was not the wor st.

Vast clouds of dust and earth were blasted into the sky. Whole continents disappeared beneath
them; and temperature began to drop. Asthe glaciers traveled south, the last crumbling pockets
of civilization vanished.

It did not return for over five hundred years.



DATELINE 2007 GREGORIAN: JANUARY.

(This conversation takes place between Nigao Loos and PRAXCELIS, the Prototype Reduction
X-laser Computer, Ellntegrated System, in geosynchronous orbit, at Midway, the Sunflower Orbital
Command.)

"PRAXCELIS, | don't understand this readout.”
"This unit has endeavored to be clear. Where isthe area of nonalignment?’

"PRAXCELIS, | requested areadout on the possibility that the tracking lasers were diverging from their
assigned grids.”

"Sen Loos, your input, as orally recorded, reads: '... and, PRAXCELIS, whileyou're a it, take alook to
make surethat the lines aren't diverging with the passage of time." Unit ENCEL IS informsthis unit that
thelinesare diverging.”

(A long stretch of slence.) ™Y ou're not supposed to have any contact with SORCEL IS and ENCELIS...
Whét lines are you talking about?’

"Thetimdines, Sen Loos Thetimeines are diverging. There have been an estimated nine hundred million
events of sgnificant divergence since base divergence 1962."

"Events of Sgnificant divergence..."
"Whether thiswill be sufficient to prevent Armageddon is unknown.”

Of those to whom much isgiven, much isrequired.
—John F. Kennedy,

Speech to the Massachusetts State L egidature
January 9, 1961.

DATELINE 1981 GREGORIAN; MAY.

Thelaboratory lay secluded in the low hills overlooking the Irwindale grave pits. It was a complex of
eight interconnected buildings, with asmall cafeteria, and aparking lot that accommodated sixty-one
cars. The 210 freeway ran less than four hundred meters away from the laboratory's south entrance.

Earlier that year they'd had private on- and off-rampsinstaled to service the lab.

It was quiet, and as secluded as you could reasonably get while remaining within working distance of
UCLA. (There were mgjor cities within a half-hour's drive on the 210 east or west. But they could not be



seen.)

Asfar asHenry Elliswas concerned, it wasided. He liked the location, liked the early morning drivein
the near desert. He even liked the buildings, the plain unadorned brick and cement, the clean brass
lettering that proclaimed: TRANS- TEMPORAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION.

(Underneath the sign, somebody had taped a handwritten placard: Home of the UCLA-famous
Experimental Number Cruncher, Ellis-Loos Integrated System.)

Henry Elliscamein early that Monday morning. The grounds were shrouded in fog, and it was codl
enough that he wore atan poncho over hiswork clothes for warmth.

He was of just-less-than-average height, with acam, easy manner, and graceful, contained movements.

Unlocking the main doors, he paused only long enough to pull the sheet of paper from thewall. He
wadded it into aball and tossed it toward the outer office's wastebasket, |eft-handed over hisright
shoulder, without looking. He continued on to his office, not glancing back.

It was just after seven, only ashort while since sunrise. Asfar as Henry knew, the only other person on
the premises was the janitor. In his office, he flipped on the lights, and turned on his coffee maker. There
was abrief hum from the machine, which ceased with asharp click, and was replaced by atrickling
sound from the machine'sinnards. Henry put his coffee cup under the spigot, shed his poncho and hat
and hung them by the door, and seated himsdf behind his desk to wait for the water to boil. From his
shirt pocket he took a dozen toothpicks, individualy wrapped in cellophane, and placed them in are even
row next to the desktop intercom.

Heflipped on the intercom.
The voice that addressed him was smooth, without inflection. "Good morning, Mr. Ellis"

Henry was unlocking drawers. "Good morning, ENCELIS. How far are you on the processing | left you
last night?' He unlocked the final drawer and hung the keys on ahook protruding from the side of the
desk.

"This unit has processed eighty-three point eight percent of the datainput to it."
Henry nodded out of habit. "Excdlent. With what primary results?'

"Thereisatentatively assigned probability of six nines, based on an e ght-three-point-eight complete run,
that the chronon event threshold is secure within the range of energy usage that thisfacility is capable of
applying.”

Henry spread hardcopy over the desktop without paying conscious attention to it. Hismind was
elsawhere. "If we assume astraight line proportiond to energy input, then a steady event threshold
impliesdiscretetimdines..."

Behind him, theintercom said, "Mr. Ellis, you asked this unit to remind you that you have an gppointment
thismorning, at ten o'clock, with one Jalian d'Arsennette. Have you been reminded?!

Henry scowled. "Yes, ENCELIS. Thank you." He leaned over his desk and turned his memo pad to the
date, aweek and ahalf ago, that the appointment had been made.

In hischaracterigicaly neat handwriting, the memo said, Monday next, woman from DoD: Jeremy
Carson recommends handlelightly.



Below that, in block |etters, underlined twice, was asingle word.

WHY?

Jdian dArsennette y ken Salvren pulled into the parking lot at 9:56. She was driving acherry-red
Porsche with along scratch down the | eft fender. The clouds were burning away as she arrived, and the
day was growing warm. There were two other peoplein the parking lot when she arrived: the janitor,
who was going home, and a short dark-skinned man whom her briefing identified as Nigao Loos, the
theoretica physicist on whose work and reputation the TransResearch Foundation was buiilt.

The janitor smply stared at her openly; the world's foremost research physicist scowled in the genera
direction of the sun, and hurried indoors.

The stare did not bother Jdlian; she was used to it. When you wore awhite jumpsuit, and awhite
tailor-cut slk business coat, when your skin was the color of milk and your hair the color of ice and your
eyeswere slver; when all these were asthey were, people stared.

Mostly it was the men who stared, and them Jdian smply ignored. They were, after dl, men.

L eaving the confines of the Porsche was ardlief. She drove because she had no choice, but she did not
likeit; shewould never likeit. She dammed the door to the car, wondering whether Georges appreciated
the things she put up with. Cars, indeed. Sheleft the door unlocked, hoping that somebody would stedl
the machine while she was gone. Her eyes, beneath the brown eyebrows that were al that remained of
the color her hair had been in the days before she ran the Big Road, shut briefly just before she entered
the building. When they opened again the pupils had expanded to twice their previous diameter.

There was a secretary working in the outer office, ayoung, dark-haired, rather pretty woman in amodest
black dress. If she found Jalian's appearance odd, she did not show it. "Ms. dArsennette?’ sheinquired.

Jdlian smiled a her, and got agtartled flash of asmileback inresponse. "Yes" she said. Her voice was
50 liquid that for amoment the secretary—her nameplate read Theresa—seemed unsure that Jalian had
actually spoken acomplete word.

Theresa blinked after amoment, and then touched afinger to the intercom. She did not take her eyes
from Jdian. "Mr. Ellis? Y our guest ishere.”

The voice that answered was abrupt, and very mae; Jalian frowned. "Good. Send her in." Theresa
removed her thumb from the intercom, and started to rise from her chair. Jalian stopped her with a
gesture.

"I canfollow directions, | think."
The girl looked flustered. "Well, down the hdl. Third door on theleft. Hisnameisonit.”

Jdian inclined her head dightly. "Thank you, Theresa.” She pronounced the name with a soft th. Theresa
waslooking up at her, unblinking, and Jdian amiled softly. The girl looked away suddenly, blushing
furioudy, and Jian left her without saying anything further.

Henry Ellisglanced up at the opening of hisdoor. He shifted the toothpick in his mouth from the right
corner to theleft. "Dear, did anybody ever teach you how to knock?"



The door ill swinging dowly away from her, Jdian paused, and studied Henry. "Actudly, no... No," she
said after amoment, "1 don't think so. Why do you ask?" She seated hersdlf in the right-mogt visitor's
chair, closeto the door.

Henry studied her curioudly. Shewas strange; stark.

She spokein aharsh, clipped manner, as though she wished to destroy the beauty of her voice. "Y ou're
from the Department of Defense?"

Jdian ignored hisquestion. "I have come here to ask your opinion, asthe second-best physicist at our
disposal. Theinformation | require concerns the theory of multiple time tracks that you and Nigao Loos
published severd months ago.” She withdrew a creamy-white envel ope from the inside pocket of her
dressjacket, and laid it on Henry's blotter.

Henry picked it up, and tore it open with awooden letter opener that sat next to his out box. He scanned
it briefly. Its contents were fairly norma; answer questions, don't ask questions, don't talk about
whatever questions she asks. It was signed by his superiorsin DoD. (Both he and Nigao held reserve
commissionsin Aerospace; it was the price they had been forced to pay for the gpplications technology
for ENCELIS))

He handed the | etter back to Jalian. "Okay. What do you want to know?"

Jdian put the letter away and sat up Straighter in her chair. What shetold Henry Ellisthen, only two
others had ever heard before, and only one of those was certain he believed her. The first was Jeremy
Carson, atheoretical physicist and Undersecretary of Defense to President Kennedy the Third; Georges
was the other.

"l will," she said, choosing her words carefully, "have you listen to ahypothetica Stuation. Thereisa
guestion that arises from this Stuation, and you will answer that question.”

Henry Ellis was scratching on ablank pad of paper with a pencil. He wasn't looking at the pad of paper,
though, he waslooking at Jdian. At her eyes. At theslver in her eyes.

"Stop that!" Jalian snapped irritably, with sudden sharpness, and Henry whipped his eyes avay from
hers.

He froze for amoment, and then said, "Excuse me. That was rude."
Jdian shrugged. "It does not matter. Areyou ligening?'

"I'm ligening." The words came hard; Henry fdt, for the first time since childhood, the breath of the old
unknown, like awind on the back of hisneck. Since his early daysin college he had dedicated himsalf to
the study of the new unknown; but now thislovely even specter sat before him, with those erotic Slver
eyes... Henry forced himsdf to meet her gaze, and said roughly, "Go ahead.”

Jdlian spoke with amusement, her words were little more than awhisper, and Henry had to strain to
listen. "The hypothetical Stuation that | relate to you isasfollows. In the year 2007 thereis anuclear war
which destroys civilization. In the centuries following that war, humanity barely survives. Eventudly, a
primitive socia order is reestablished by—" she used the slverspeech words—"ken Selvren, agroup of
people who call themsalves ken Sdvren. Near the beginning of the twenty-eighth century of your
Gregorian cdendar, these people learn to travel from one dternate timeline to another, in search of
resources that were depleted by those who tried to destroy their world."

Henry leaned forward dightly, hooked. "Go ... on. Please.”



Jdian watched him quizzically. " The daughter of the Eld—of the leader of the people| spesk of ... this
daughter knew more about the outtime technology than any of the rest of her people. For reasons of her
own, this daughter stole a portable Gate, and set the Gate to access what is known as a negative-entropy
timeine Thisisatimdinewheretime—"

"...runs backwards. An anti-matter timeline," Henry Ellisfinished. "How can you know about that? Nigao
hasn't even published that section of theor—"

"Thiswoman," sad Jdian grimly, "entered anegativetimdine..."

The point of the pencil that Henry was holding snapped. "Y ou can't have donethat," he said smply.
"Y ou're talking about an anti-matter timeline. Y ou'd blow..." He took a deep breath, and exploded,
"Chrigt, you can't even for aminute expect meto believe—"

Jalian d'Arsennette, the daughter of Ralesh who was the daughter of Morine, whose ancestors had ruled
Silvereyesfor more than five centuries, plucked aknife out of nowhere and used it to pin Henry Ellis tie
to his desktop. She dapped him twice, removed the knife from the tie, and made it vanish. Without
particular hegt, she said, "Do not interrupt me again." She watched, as the stunned, uncomprehending
look on the engineer's face gave way to beginning fury. Shelaid one knife, and another, and then athird,
inapardld row on Henry's Side of the desk. ™Y ou may attempt to pick up one of these when you
choose... | was saying to you, thiswoman of ken Salvren enters a negative-entropy timeline; her retio of
entry isextremey high, gpproximately fourteen million to one. Her actud interaction with thetimdineis
minimal; aduration of some two hours. She survives the experience, and regppears on the timeline that
she exited in the days before the nuclear war. The year isthat which you cal 1962, and there are
forty-five yearsuntil Armageddon.”

Henry waited until he was entirely sure she was finished speaking. The light from the overheed
fluorescents was shining off the blades on his desktop. His eyes did not waver from hers. "What isyour
Quedtion?'

She showed the first emotion he had seen in her; adeep, quivering breath. It seemed to him that he could
amost hear /after dll these years, the answer .../ She was holding the edge of his desk.

"Isit possible to prevent Armageddon?

Sweat was trickling down the back of Henry's neck. He was thinking, Thisisn't happening, while
something deep insde him assured him, Yes, it istoo happening. "May God help you, whoever the hell
you are. | can't. | just don't know. Even Nigao could not answer that question, given your assumed
parameters. Our fied isvery young. It only datesto 1962, when we first started detecting chronons.” He
looked up swiftly. "Your... hypothetical person... time-traveled to 1962." He sumbled getting the
wordsout. "In 1969 the chronon event threshold jumped by afactor of eight and mysticsall over the
fucking planet went off the deep end and we don't have even the beginnings of atheory to account for it.
What happened?'

Jdlian was sitting back in her chair, eyes closed. She wasn't sure what her reaction was, relief or despair;
only that it was strong. He had not said yes, but he had not said no. She could till hope.

Henry Ellissad fiercdy, "What happened in'69?7"
Jdian shook her head briefly, and looked at him. "There was abattle. Eight timelines melted together.”

Thetoothpick that had rested securdly in Henry's mouth throughout the interview dropped in two pieces
to the blotter. "What?'



Jalian stood abruptly. Henry noticed that the steel was no longer on his blotter: He could not remember
when it had vanished. "That iswhat Georgestellsme," she said smply. "He may belying, of course.”

Henry said supidly, "Who?'
"Georges. And he should know. It happened insde of him."
Sheturned to leave, and Henry said, "Miss dArsennette? Where are you going?"

Jdlian pivoted dowly, and smiled a him. Henry felt his perception of everything in theworld but those
slver eyesfade away, and was thinking with acool, rational detachment that silver was the most erotic
color that he knew, when Jdlian said, "I am going to savetheworld." Her eyelids dropped deepily, half
covered the Silver irises. "Good-bye.”

The door seemed to closeitself behind her.
Henry Ellis sared at the door, in silence, for along time.

It was 1981, and there were twenty-six years|eft until Armageddon.

DATELINE 1985 GREGORIAN: DECEMBER.

Moscow, Russa.

The winter wind was a sensdess thing; as cold and meaningless as anything Gregor Pahvernuch knew of
outside the works of man.

Pahvernuch shook his head in disgust. He had just hung up the phone, and stood now looking out his
window at the drifting snow, blowing down in random gusts across the streets. When he had camed
himsdlf he turned to survey the three officers sanding stiffly before his desk. He was a heavyset man, with
an unlit cigar set between lipsthat were too red and fat. He was still wearing the dark overcoat held had
on when held entered the hastily-set-up joint KGB/Militia Headquarters and gone charging into the
Operations Room.

"Y ou there," Pahvernuch said with disdain, as though the words were offal that hislipswere too ddlicate
to touch, "you are the best the Committee for State Security can recruit, these days." He glanced at the
man gtting in the chair by the door, under the wavering fluorescent lights. "And what of you," he asked
with asudden burst of chill fury, "what have you been doing thislast hour?"

Karien Karchovsky grinned widely, showing histeeth. "I, Comrade Pahvernuch? Watching this American
isnot my assgnment." He uncrossed hislegs, and stood. He walked with a measured pace around the
three junior KGB agents. They were afraid; it showed in the way they stood and the way they stared
straight ahead without meeting their superior's eyes.

Fear was something they were dl very good with. Karien stopped, and put an arm around one of the
men. "Now, Comrade Shenderev herewas, | believe, in charge of the group assigned to watch this, ah,
‘JIl Darsay,' | think her nameis.”

Pahvernuch sighed. "1 do not think that scaring these children isgoing to help usin resolving this



annoyance, Karien. We must find the woman.” He pulled off his over coat, and dropped it on top of the
desk. "You." He pointed a one of the KGB operatives. "Go find Colond Djarska. If he'snot at home he
will probably be at the hotdl; the Centra Committee isn't meeting until tomorrow, but helll probably be
there early.” The boy stood there amoment too long, and Pahvernuch screamed at the top of hislungs,
"Go!" He glared at the junior agent, and the man fairly fled the room.

Karien missed mogt of it; he had turned Nikolai Shento face him. "Why, Nikola, you're trembling."
"No, comrade," the boy protested, and then immediately said, "Y es, comrade.”

Karien looked down at him; he was severa centimeterstaler. "Well, we are not such mongtersasall
that. Listen, you lost the woman you were to watch." He shrugged expansively. " These things happen.
Wewill find her again; she may smply have stepped out to take dinner.” Behind them, Gregor
Pahvernuch snorted loudly. "No, no, I mean that,” said Karien kindly. "Take Corpora Deteche and his
troops and go screen people at the hotdl. I'll be down in an hour or s0."

Nikola left without protest; the third junior agent went with him, no doubt glad to get out of Pahvernuch's
officewith hisassin one piece.

Karien Karchovsky watched them leave with a cold and detached expression.

Gregor Pahvernuch said after amoment, "Are you quite through kissing that pretty boy's nuts?"

"The pretty boy's uncle sits on the Politburo, Gregor,” said Karien bluntly.

The newsthrew Pahvernuch visbly. "Oh?' He bit down hard on the cigar. "Oh. | did not know that.”

"I didn't think s0." Karien picked up his overcoat from the chair on which held been sitting. "Well, |
assume you've got thingsto do." He smiled without humor. "Certainly | do. If you see llyabefore the
morning, send himto the hotdl. That'swhere I'll be."

Gregor said softly, "With the boychick, en?

Karien lifted an eyebrow. "Y ou could hurt my fedlings, friend. No, I am smply going to see whether the
American woman returns to her room, probably with a perfectly reasonable explanation asto where she
has been, as | expect her to."

"You believe, then, that sheisjust atourist.”" Pahvernuch's tone was questioning.

Karien shrugged into his overcoat. "Who can say? If sheis not, she has certainly done aconvincing
imitation. That she chose to vanish on the eve of the Centra Committeg's meeting issuspiciousonly if she
has not returned to her hotel by areasonable hour. It is not yet ten o'clock,” he pointed out.

Gregor stared at him. "Karien, you are one of my best friends, | tell you truly. But you play thingstoo
tight. Someday they're going to shoot you for it. And your protégé, too."

Karien grinned. "Probably. But at least | don't threaten the careers of nephews of members of the
Politburo. Y ou were thinking about it."

"l wasnot," denied Pahvernuch. A bead of sweat glistened on his upper lip.

"No?" Karien seemed to congder. " Perhaps not. Perhaps you were merely indulging your temper, and it
got out of hand—who can say? Fortunately,” he added on hisway out the door, "it isnot one of my
concerns. I'll be back.”



After he was gone, Gregor Pahvernuch grunted, "I'll bet you will be, you flashy son of abitch.” He got
back on the phone, and had to yell at the operator for adial tone.

At the hotd where the woman who had identified herself as Jill Darsay was Staying—ahotel conveniently
near the buildings where the Politburo was temporarily meeting—Karchovsky checked with the hotel
management to see whether or not Miss Darsay had returned to her room. She had not, they informed
him. The lobby held three KGB agents whom Karien recognized, trying to be conspicuous. They were
succeeding quite wdll; after al, he thought cynicaly, what was the point of being amember of the
Committee for State Security if one had to obscure the fact?

Asfar as he could tell, none of them recognized him. They were too busy watching a pair of pretty East
German women who were sitting together at the hotel bar, and being overcharged for the privilege.
Karien could not for the life of him imagine why East Germans would want to vacation in Moscow. They
did, though, with regularity.

He met Nikolai ashe wasleaving the evators on the third floor. The American wasin room 328;
Nikola hed hissoldiers, regular militia, rummaging through her possessons. "Sir!" said Nikola. "'l was
just going downgtairsto cal you." Herelaxed dightly, and said, "I tried cdling from the hotel room, but
the switchboard has gone home, and the phones are usdless.”

Karien nodded. ""Have you found anything in theroom?"

Nikolai shook hishead. "No, comrade. Nothing of note." Heled Karien insde; Karien looked around
with some curiosity. HEd never been inside one of the fancy foreign hotel rooms before. It was
surprisingly smilar to the hotel's he was used to. One would think that for the extortionate pricesthe
foreigners were paying they could get something acut abovethis.

The room was clean, with alarge single bed, and sparkling white porcelain in the bathroom. Therewasa
perfunctory wet bar, vodka and mixers, againgt the wall facing the bed. A ba cony overlooked Moscow;
Karien went into the freezing night air, and looked out over the city. He had been outsde Russiamany
times, but the CCCP proper or once, to West Germany, and he still remembered the sight of West
Berlin, lit up at night; by comparison, Moscow was adull city after dark. Even the Kremlin was
dark—from where he stood, he could see the ruins where the explosion had brought down the eastern
sections. Congtruction was going on from sunrise to sunset.

Despite the fact that the government had aready executed four personsfor the terrorist attack, it was an
open secret in high ranksthat the truly guilty parties had not been found.

What was worst about it wasthat al evidence pointed inward. Thiswas not an act of foreign terrorism
ingtigated by the Wegt; it was the work of Russians.

Karien turned, and went back insde. "Nikolai, send your shitkicker soldiers home. We have KGB at the
entrance, and you and | will wait herefor her. If sheisnot found by morning we will dert the generd
militia”

Nikolal looked a him. "We are just going to wait?"

"Unlessyou wish to search dl of Moscow inanight.”

Wash apig as much asyou want, it will till go back to the mud.”



—Russan Proverb

At 2:00, Jdian dArsennette returned to her hotel room. She had spent the night on the hotel roof,
watching the stars, and listening with other sensesto the Moscow night. It was an evening well spent,
with the colored lenses she had been wearing to disguise her eye color removed; her eyesfelt normd for
thefirg timeinweeks.

Shetruly had cometo Russialargely asatourist. She checked with contacts she'd been given, but asa
matter of course, not because she expected anything to come of it.

She was deepy, and not expecting trouble. And cold; even Corvichi metaphysics and Silver-Eyes kartari
could not keep her fully warm in the winter night and winds of Moscow.

She opened the door, and knew ingtantly that there were personsinside. Somebody moved toward her
in the darkness with surprising speed and coordination. She reached for Sted, reflexively, before
remembering that her kniveswerein asafe deposit box in New Y ork. The delay was critica . Shefound
hersalf dammed back againgt the door, and avoice said in harshly accented English, ™Y ou have made a
terrible mistake, Miss Darsay.”

It took her along moment to realize on an emotiona level what had happened; this man was touching
her. Jalian d'Arsennette blinked in wonder, in the darkness; she could not even see the warmth of their
figures, the room was too warm and she too recently in from the frozen night. She remembered, later,
thinking dearly, KGB; and then shekilled the man who had dared touch her.

The lights came on. One of her contacts, ayoung man named Nikolai Shenderev, was removing his hand
from thelight switch next to the bed.

Sprawled on thefloor, with his neck at an unlikely angle, was aman whom Jdlian did not recognize.
Shenderev's mouth was working. "Karien... he didn't suspect you. He wasjust going to... throw ascare
intoyou."

Jdian kndlt dowly, and touched fingers to the dead man's temple. She stood abruptly, and said without
humor, "He succeeded.” She thought to shut the door, and said over the sound of the lock latching, "He
did not suspect me, you are correct. He suspected you; you show your fear far too easily.” She gestured.
"Help mewith the body."

"What?' He was shaking his head in adaze. "Y ou don't understand. I'm going to be shot now."

Jalian crossed the distance between them in two steps. "No, you will not. But you must do as| say.
Exactly as| say."

With agonizing hesitation, he nodded. "Very well. | havelittleto lose a this point.”
" ‘Lifeisunbearable, but death is not so pleasant either,'" Jdlian said.
"Wha?'

"Y ou have everything to lose, you idiot.”

Peace and freedom do not come cheap, and we are destined—all of us here today—to live out most if
not al of our livesin uncertainty and challenge and peil.



—John F. Kennedy,
Address at the University of North Carolina, October 12, 1961.

DATELINE 1986 GREGORIAN: FEBRUARY

Saskatchewan, Canada.

The forest spoke. It was quiet and hushed, yet never wholly silent. There was no wind, and the animals
were gill; but the bows of the trees creaked under the weight of the snow. Occasiond limbs, weighted
beyond their strength, snapped with the sharpness of arifle shot. The sound of the break echoed along
distance before dying.

In late evening, asilver, gull-wing twelve-cylinder sports car drove through the gathering darkness. It
flashed through the dark forest at insane speeds, ong winding roads made dick by snow andice. Inside
the car, music played.

"WEell, the man he gottawhisper

When hetdl you 'bout the news

ICBM's arecominin;

Y ou know those bombs don't know the blues."

Nigao Loos, Stting in the passenger sest, was thinking with acam born of terror that he did not really
like reggae, and had never liked the Armageddon Blues Band to begin with, and if he had, then the last
two days of traveling would have cured him of it; Radioactive, to al appearances, wasthe only cassette
inthecar.

Hed tried to turn the radio on. Once. His hand was still sore,

In the driver's seat, with one hand resting lightly on the whedl, Jadlian drove north along Provincid
Highway 102. Thedigita readout told her that the car was doing 108 kph. Sometime ago asign had told
them they were driving past McCldlan lake.

Nigao had dmost despaired of ever arriving wherever they were going. Two days ago he'd beenin
Southern Cal; now he wasin Saskatchewan. Two days from now he'd probably bein the Arctic Circle.

Jdian'shand moved briefly. Themusic died. A sign at the Sde of the road flashed by them: BRABANT
LAKE CAMPGROUND. Without the music her voice seemed unnaturaly loud. "Y ou may cease being
scared. We have arrived.” Nigao nodded wordlesdy.

Somewhere out there was the man he was being taken to meet.

Georges Mordreaux.

Consder aman.



Hewasbornin 1712, with atalent. Entropy tended to decrease in hisvicinity; objects became more
orderly, more energetic. He survived two and a half centuries and then some, despite three incidents that
should havekilled him, and then he battled a device from seven and ahaf centuriesin hisfuture.

He won that battle, and because he won it, he spent the next fifteen years aone, in acabin in the wilds of
north Canada. For alittle under three minutes, on awarm summer night in 1969, in the dirt parking lot of
a7-Eleven, he stood with asmall device glowing in his cupped hands, adevice that looked like ahand
grenade and would have been aone-way ticket to oblivion for any human on Earth except Georges
Mordreaux. The device burned itslf out, asit burned Georges eyes out of hisskull, asit melted in his
hands and cooked them to the bone.

Towin that battle, he was forced to reach through eight timelines, to tear power from elght ana ogues of
himsdf. Purely as aside effect of doing so he destroyed the walls between the worlds, caused eight
timdinesto codesce within himsdlf.

His memories encompassed elght separate existences, of eight separate men. Therewasno troublein
distinguishing which memory track was "red"; redity held Jdian. There was only one memory track, one
timeline, that held Jdian.

In the months, and years, following the battle in which helost his eyesight, he waited; waited for hiseyes
to regenerate, for the scars on his handsto fade. They did not. He had held within his hands energies that
warped together eight timelines, and it marked him.

And the talent, which was always somewhat out of his control, which had guarded and protected him
through two hundred and fifty-seven years, turned.

It flared like anova. multiplied by afactor of eight.

They pulled off the road into anearly deserted dirt parking lot. A green van and alight bluetrailer stood
londly watch under the single hanging floodlight. Jalian pulled in next to thetrailer and killed the motor.
Therewasasmal brick building a one end of the parking lot. Light spilled from its opening door. A
ranger in aheavy jacket approached the car as Jalian and Nigao were getting out. Theranger, amanin
hislate forties, wastal, and heavily muscled; he reminded Jdian of the farmers of Clan Silver-Eyes.
"Maam? Can't help you?' He glanced at Nigao with distaste.

Jdian ignored him. She turned to Nigao. "Come. We are late enough.”
Nigao stared about. "Y ou said we were there."

Theranger said, moreloudly, "Maam?'Y ou shouldn't be out in weather like this dressed like that. Not
him ether," he said, gesturing curtly at Nigao's flashy polyester sportsjacket and dacks.

Jalian stepped onto the hood of the car, took a step acrossit, and came down next to Nigao. She took
oneof hislapdsin her hand, and pulled him into the trees that lined the road. They werewd| into the
dark forest before the ranger, flashlight glowing, caught up with them. Jdian turned to face him. "Lady,
there's nothing out the way you're heading. Y ou'll both freeze to death.”

Jalian sighed. Georges kept telling her not to draw attention to herself. She took a step forward, and
brought her right knee up hard into the ranger's groin. The man gave a sudden, whistling scream that
condensed asfog in the subzero air. Jaian stepped around him, plucked aknife from her left shoulder
sheath, and struck him in the back of the head with the handle. He dropped heavily. Nigao nodded,



without surprise. Jalian vanished momentarily, and returned with alength of wire rope that shed used
twice now in the two days Nigao had been with her. She propped the ranger againgt atree, and bound
him with the ease of long practice.

When she was finished, Jalian motioned to the middle-aged physicit, standing with his shoulders stooped
inthe cold gloom. "Problem solving,” she explained. "Come. Heiswaiting."

They walked into the night.

Nigao never remembered that night clearly afterward. They waked for hours, trudging through drifts of
snow, dogging on through the deet that came afew kilometersinto their journey. He perceived
everything with an unnatural clarity. Therewaslittlelight, yet he saw with ease the ground that he walked.
Jdlian was aluminous blob of moving white, and he fancied that he saw afaint, reddish glow from her
skin. Hissense of smdl was very acute; in acam reverie he found himself distinguishing between the
gpoor of animals and the scent of various plants. Imagination, he told himsdlf without conviction.

The forest changed with shocking abruptness. Leafy trees appeared among the pine. Fruit appeared only
ascore of meters past them. The snow and ice vanished from the ground; the ground itself became soft

and grassy.

Nigao Loos was walking by acherry tree when the world blurred.

He stopped abruptly. Jalian continued on afew steps, then turned back. "What iswrong?'
"l..." Hecleared histhroat. "I can't see. | can't see," he repeated with growing aarm.

Julian hdld hisface with one hand, and lifted an eyelid to examine hiseye. She nodded. "As| thought.”
She made aquick flicking motion with one finger, and Nigao felt his contact lenslift away from the
surface of hiseye. She did the same thing with the other eye, and suddenly he could see again.

"What did you do?" he whispered. He blinked. His contacts were out, and he could see perfectly. "What
did you do to me?'

Jdlian ignored him, and resumed walking. Nigao followed slently.

Half akilometer dong, they found growing flowers. Jdian led Nigao through the flowers, and into a
dense thicket of orange trees. The spaces between the trees grew narrower and narrower, until Nigao
was sure they would be caught, unable to move forward or back, and would die herein thisinsane
forest. He struggled on after the vanishing white form before him. Suddenly the trees were gone.

They stood at the edge of avast clearing. Fruit trees of every description stood around its edge. Inside, a
garden grew like ajungle. Rows of vegetables reached up two and three metersinto the air.

In the center of the garden, there was awooden cabin with a microwave antenna perched incongruously
atop it. Sitting on the small porch before the doorway, arather large man was whittling a piece of wood.
He was humming as he worked. As Jalian and Nigao emerged from the woods, he glanced up, said,
"Hello, Doctor, Jdian." He went back to carving. A few seconds passed, and he put the knife down, ran
his fingers dong the wood, and put the wood down with the knife at the side of the porch.

Jdian sad, "Hdlo, Georges."

Georges Mordreaux stood, dusting wood flakes off his pants, and came down to greet them. He took



Nigao's outstretched hand, and Nigao felt rather than saw the glovesthat covered the hand. Hiseyes
were fixed on Mordreaux's face. Georges had taken his hand without fumbling, and he moved likea
sghted man; but Georges Mordreaux's eves were a blasted ruin.

Georgestilted his head to one side. "Isit that bad, then, till?"

Nigao ssammered something incoherent. Georges shrugged, and said cheerfully, "Ah, well. Jdian, | hope
you drove more carefully thistime."

Jdian sad blankly, "1 dwaysdrive carefully.”

“As| thought." Georges nodded. He took Nigao by the arm, and led him inside. The cabin consisted of a
single room, with asmall couch, abed against onewall, and a desk against another. Bookshelves lined
thewall, and Nigao looked at them without comprehension, how could the man read abook?

The floor was smple wood, brightly burnished even though it was dightly green. A woven rug covered
most of it. A long wooden table stood over the rug. A three-dimensiona chesshoard was set up atop it.
On the one empty bookshelf, there was a compact stereo playing a song about a street of dreams.

A microcomputer glowed on the desk, and Nigao felt another subtle wave of disorientation. He had no
eyes.

Jdlian wasleaning over the chessgame. "Who'swinning?’

"Dancer,” said Georges. He was tapping instructions into the computer, somewhat awkwardly. He
finished, and turned down the intensity control on the monitor. He did not attempt to turn it off. "Now,
Monsieur Loos, have aseat.”" He gestured at the bed, and sat himsdlf in the chair before the desk.

Nigao glanced from Jdian to Georges. He sat uneasily. "Well, asyou know, Henry Ellisand | are adding
what we hope will be a chronon generator to our research facility. There are some imbaancesin our
fifth-order equationsthat have led usto great uncertainty asto whether or not there actually are discrete
timdinesat dl. We have consderable evidence that indicates that there are dternate timelines, and that
they do remain discrete; but we are not sure. Many important details of our design depend upon whether
or not that assumption is correct. One of my superiorsin the Department of Defense suggested that | ask
you." Nigao looked a Georges. The man was nodding, and seemed to have followed the explanation so
far. Nigao did not look at Jdian, did not seethefaint smile. "For example," said Nigao hesitantly, "if the
timelinesare not discrete, then the spin number of the chronons will be established randomly. If the
timdinesare discrete—"

"Then the chronon spin number would establish itsdlf toward a higher number if it wastraveling from one
direction relative to us, and toward alower number if it was traveling from the other... It might be helpful
to think of the directions as north and south.”

Nigao turned to stare at Jaian. "Yes... that's correct. What do you mean by north and south?

"Onthe Great Whed... never mind." Jdian looked up from the chessboard. " Georges, you can bedt it.
Takeyour king'sknight up onelevd to pinits bishop. Then—"

Georges said mildly, "No kibitzing, Jian."

Nigao sad, "You're playing 3-D chesswith an 'it?' He glanced at the microcompuiter. "I didn't think
there were any programs for—"

Georges was shaking his head. "Dancer is one of the sentients at the Red Spot. It's quite bright about



gpatid relationships.” A beeping sound came from just behind Georges. He reached behind without
looking, and depressed a keypad. Conversationally, he said to Nigao, "1 read your paper on chronon
encoding, about how you intend to ater chrononsinto their high and low probability states as amethod
of binary encoding. Why do you sign your papers as Nigao Loos and Henry Ellis?"

Nigao fdt increasingly bewildered. "Lennon and McCartney... Henry files his patent applicationsfor his
computer designs as Henry Ellisand Nigao Loos. Look, uh, could you please turn down that stereo?’

"I'm afraid not."
Nigao took a deep breath. "Very wdl, Sr... can you answer my question?’
"Oh, yes," said Georges. "There are indeed dternate timelines. Jdian has been in some.”

Nigao looked at Georges. "Y es?' He glanced at Jdian, who was ignoring them. He returned to Georges.
"That isyour answer?' He glared in near-speechless outrage. "'Y ou don't by any chance have, have,
proof for that clam?"

Georges Mordreaux smiled at him. Nigao Looslost his anger ingtantly. He thought to himself in horror,
What did | just yell at?

And then something moved, degp within hismind. Meaning imprinted itsdf sllently upon hisawareness,
/listen with other senses/

Nigao stared at Georges, like arabbit caught in the beams of an oncoming car.
/Remember./

He had time for only amoment of fear. Thelast thing he saw was Georges smiling a him without even a
touch of mdice, and memories rushed in upon Nigao, of anight spent inadirt parking lot in 1969, and
therewas aflaring light, thelast light he ever saw, ever saw, ever... Nigao's eyesfluttered closed, and he
dipped from the edge of the bed, to the floor

Georgeslooked tired. "Jdian..."

"Oh, no," sheinterrupted. "1 brought him here and I'll take him back, but | will not pick him up off the
floor. HEs your body."

"Jdian, hesnot abody.”
"Heistoo," shesaid flatly. "I don't ask you to pick up my bodies.”
"JHian, my handshurt."

Jdian sghed. Shelooked indecisve. "Helooks comfortable," she offered. "And helll wake up inafew
hours anyway."

1Jdian/

With a swift, vicious movement, Jalian stooped, picked the smal man up off the floor and dumped him
unceremonioudy on the bed. "It'snot fair,” she said doud. "'l don't ask you to pick up my bodies."

"Thank you, Jian."
Jdlian folded her arms over her chest. "It'sokay," shesad finally.



Jdian awoke in the hours before dawn. She was not sure what woke her. She sat up on the couch,
gretching dowly, without yawning, without closing her eyes. The computer was il glowing, the stereo
was il playing. She found both mildly distracting, but knew better than to attempt to turn them off. As
dlent asthe stereo was, it was probably turned off now.

Sherose from the couch with an economy of movement that was out of place in awoman who looked as
young as she did; alack of wasted effort that came from doing nothing on impulse. She checked her
knives without thinking about it, placement, accessibility. She no longer even noted particularly the two
knivesin her |eft shoulder sheath, the knivesthat she had killed her mother with. Only five of the Six
sheaths held wegpons. The sixth knife she had given to Georges nearly two decades ago. Even with her
memoriesto help him, she doubted still that he understood what accepting a knife from her would have
meant to amale ken Selvren.

But that was another thing that she no longer thought much about. A mutual need, amutua god, adegree
of friendship that she had not found with any other person in this kisirien forsaken time; these were the
elements of her relationship with Georges Mordreaux.

The door to the cabin was open. Jaian could see, in the dark, the infrared radiation from Georges, Sitting
on the porch with his back to her. Her fedlings concerning this man were something that she had not
sought to explain to herself in many years. It was close to seventeen years now since Georges had lost his
eyesght.

In seventeen years, neither of them had spoken of love. From the porch, Georges Mordreaux's voice
drifted back to her. "Will you come St with me?"

Jdlian glanced to her left. Nigao Loos was huddled on the bed, lying curled in atight ball againgt the cold.
She hesitated a moment, shrugged, and drew the blanket up to cover him. She went out to Georges.

Georges moved over dightly on the porch, motioned to her to St where he had been. Jdlian settled down
next to him. Georges was silent for amoment. His glove-covered hands were folded one over the other
inhislap. "What have you been doing?"

Jdian pulled her jacket moretightly closed. It was cold out, though not as cold asawinter night of her
childhood. The wesather was different in thistime, before the Fires changed everything. The areasthat got
as hot asthe Selvren valley of her childhood never got as cold; those that got as cold never came closeto
getting as hot. "Many things," she answered Georges. Her breath plumed white into the night air, under
the starsand half moon. "I killed aman in the USSR. It was an accident.” She shivered. "I have never
killed a person before, even amae, accidentally.”

"How many have you killed, now?'
Jdian sad digantly, "it would be more trouble than it is worth to count.”
Georgessghed. "Ah, well... it solves nothing, you know."

She shook her head. "1 do not know. | have no love for these Americans, Georges. They are arrogant
beyond words. But... but they are better than their dternatives. The Russans, the Chinese—they are
horrors, Georges." She started to say something else, stopped. "I have not been to China. | have only
studied it. It is better perhaps than Russia, because it isless efficient. | have been to Russia | would not
wish such ahome on Red Indians™



"l know... | visted them in the mid-1930s." He shook his head. "They have not changed, | think. Only
grown more practiced in their inhumanity."

Jdiansadinasmadl voice, "l do not say | likeit, Georges. | take no pleasureinkilling." Sheamiled, a
hestant ghost smilein the night. "Neither do | avoid it when necessary; and | make my own decisions. |
work with the Americans, not for them. | see no better course. There are too many personsdivein this
time. | can do nothing done."

Georges grew very gill. Besde him, Jdian looked a him for thefirst time. "Georges? Y our thoughts?'
Georgess voice ssumbled dightly getting thewords out. "I think... it seemsto me that there must dways
be dternatives”

Jdian said curioudy, "Y ou are not specific.” Georges shook hishead decisvely. "It is not a specific
thought. Only..." He moved one crippled hand in adismissive motion. "It is not important. But think:
thosein control of the atomic weapons, they are not the American people, nor the Russian people, nor
the Chinese or Indian or French or English people. It is not the politicians who control the weapons. It
is" said Georges, "the soldierswho control the wegpons.”

Jdian said without inflection, "That istrue.”

Georges chuckled warmly. "Jdian, if | say something you find glly..."
"Obvious" said Jdian with agtraight face. "Perhapsit was abit obvious."
Georgessmiled. "Ah, well. Tell me more of what you have done.”

Jdlian leaned againgt him, let her eyes close. She did not comment when hisarm pulled her closer. She
was drowsy, she had not dept in two days aside from the last few hours, and he was awarmth that
protected her from the dight breeze from the south. "It isnot so much,” she said deepily. "I have seen
some movies, read many books, and killed aman by accident. | tried to learn math again, to trandate
Corvichi physicsinto human physics. | cannot doiit... thereisamost nothing | find in common between
the systems. | have taught mysdlf to regress my memory back to when ghessRith was teaching me, but
even with al the memories| possessed asachild, | cannot solve the equations that suggest themselves
concerning what we are attempting." She rested quietly against Georges. ""We can change time, certainly,”
she said very softly. "We aready have. We can stop Armageddon from happening, perhaps. | smply do
not know. None of the cycles complete themselves.

She said nothing more after that, and in awhile Georges came to be aware that she was adeep. He sat
upright on the porch, with Jdian in hisarms. He reached into her mind once, and withdrew like aman
who had touched alive wire.

In her dream, she was being held by ghessRith.

For over an hour, he sat with her. He made amenta note to ask her whether she'd brought him any new
seeds, and to ask her to remember to bring him some birds, next time she came. Or bees, perhaps, for

honey.

His position did not tire him. He did not grow tired in conventional sense of the word; he dreamed, but
rardly dept. Sometimes, though, sometimes it seemed to him that theworld and dl that werein it were
only insubstantia ghoststhat affected him in the most minor of ways, and then hisennui grew so grest that
it was dmost unendurable.

Only recently had it occurred to him that he was vadtly old.



Georges shivered, and chased the thoughts away. Jdian stirred in hisarms, and he held her moretightly.

He did not touch her thoughts again.

Georges watched them leave, shortly before dawn. He watched them until their echoes joined the echo
of the forest and mingled into random noise. He did not say good-bye. His eyes were not healing, might
never heal, but the talent compensated. Within the past two years, his sense of hearing had grown
amazingly acute; even his skin had grown able to separate out shadowy images of sound.

Inside the cabin, the computer was begping again. Georges sat on the porch, listening to the beeping;
sometimes he could tell what the binary encryption stood for just by listening to it. This one wasfrom
ENCELIS; some sort of subroutine, Georges guessed, that ENCEL 1S had sent to it for awhilein
Georges's microcomputer—it was a process that ENCEL 1S called " program enrichment.”

Georgeslooked once, dowly, dl around the clearing before he went inside. He had not spoken of it to
Jdian, but he had the strangest fedling that he was being watched.

The echoes were normd; he turned and went inside. Georges did not know whether the growing auditory
sensewould ever be asversatile as sight. It might, and if so, fine. If not...

Ah, well.

The ranger was gone when they reached the spot where Jaian had tied him. Jdian put arestraining hand
out to Nigao, and listened. Nothing. Her eyes drooped shut... /two men in the brick building waiting and
watching in frenchenglish and russan. .../

"Interesting,” she said Softly, in silverspeech. "Comeaong,” she said in English. They proceeded on to the
car. The door to the building at the end of the lot was securely closed.

Nigao hardly followed what was happening. He got into the car, lost in thought. He remembered strange
things, most strange; he might almost have been able to speak French if hetried. And... something about

dlver... spesking dlver...

Jdian turned the engine over, and waited while it warmed up. She kept an eye on the door to the
building. Anyoneleaving it shewould kill.

"You know," said Nigao, in avery subdued voice, "I don't know how I'm going to convince Henry about
dl this"

Jdian said absently, "Hewill likely believe you—I think he believed me, with lessreason.” She grinned at
him. /look in the mirror./ Nigao made no move to turn the rearview mirror. Jaian twisted it to face him.

Nigao stopped breathing. He resumed afew secondslater, in agreat jagged intake of air. His name was
Nigao Loos and he was Henry Elliss best friend and he wasforty three years old. There were wrinkles
around his eyes, and he had the beginnings of a second chin.

But the face in the mirror was smooth and unwrinkled and the man that it belonged to could have been no
more than twenty-five,

Jdian turned the mirror back. "So," she said gently, let usgo.”



The car screamed out of the parking lot. It sent graveled ice chips spraying into the air, to rattle like
grenade fragments againg the sdes of thelight bluetrailer.

The door behind them opened. The man who waked out into the morning sunshine of the parking lot was
young, twenty-two or twenty-three. He was smoking athin brown cigarette. His eyes were bland and
unremarkably blue. There was no expression in the lines around his mouth. His sandy and hair was short
and nest.

Hisnamewas|lyaNavikara

He watched the distant taillights until they were completely gone. He shivered, and it was not entirely
from the cold. He studioudly avoided looking at the forest. The forest gave him nightmares.

After awhile he went back ingdeto kill the ranger. There were twenty-one years left until Armageddon.
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It now seems reasonable to us that what we refer to as "negative-entropy timelines' do exist. Thisis
completely referentia, of course. We haven't actually observed reversed chronon interfaces. This does,
incidentally, have aparalel in our own observable universe. By theory, at least half of the matter crested
in the Big Bang should be antimatter, and obvioudy it isnot. The cosmic-ray satellites haveindicated that
quite clearly. On the other hand, we have managed to produce antimatter artificialy in laboratories, and
that, in essence, iswhat we are trying to do with the chronon generator that is now under construction.
Negative-entropy chronons may not exist in nature, but there ssemsto be no reason why we cannot
congiruct them...

—Nigao Loos and Henry Ellis.
"The Observability of Chrononsin Nature." In Scientific American February 1988: p. 14.

DATELINE 1988 GREGORIAN. JUNE. Irwindale, California.

Nigao Loosdid not bother to knock, entering his partner's office. Someone meeting him for thefirst time
would have seen ayoungish man, smal and dark-skinned, with sad, mournful eyes. The eyes were more
mournful than usud that morning; he was badly hung over.

Henry Elliswasleaning back in his chair, balanced on two legs. His brown cowboy boots were up on the
desk blotter. He was gill wearing hislight blue poncho, and his hat wastilted down to cover hiseyes
from the fluorescent overheads. A toothpick was lodged in one corner of his mouth. Without opening his
eyesor looking up he said, at the sound of the door opening, "Nicky, go away until you've sobered up.”



Nigao sank into one of the two vigtor's chairs, shaking his head. His gold chains swayed insde the open
collar of his baby-blue satin shirt like tiny bright snakes. He sat staring at the soles of Henry'sbootsfor a
moment, then said, "They redly closed usdown.”

Henry yawned deeply, and tilted his hat to an even steeper angle. "Y eah, they suredid.”
"| don't understand,” said Nigao, in hones, if dightly drunken bewilderment. "How can they do that?'

Henry'svoice drifted out from beneath the indifferent gray cowboy's hat. "Well, we signed these reserve

"' know thet."

"... and then the Russkies orbited a satellite that shoots down incoming American ICBMs" said Henry
imperturbably. "The boysin Washington started looking around...."”

"It'snot my fault!"

"... and they said, well, who do we have who has the technica ability to orbit one of these for us, and
aso, who hasn't been around, hat in hand, in almost two years." Henry chewed on histoothpick. "Bingo."

"Henry," wailed Nigao, "they're going to send meinto orbit!"

"Yeah, | heard." Henry looked up, pae blue eyes even paer in a countenance that was grim with
resignation. "1'm gonnamissyou, Nicky. I'm being detached to design a systems operation resource
computer—call it SORCELIS probably—for your project's downside intelligence organization.” He
grinned with atouch of malice. "Y ou'd never guessin athousand yearswho'sin charge of it. The
inteligence organization itsdf, | mean." Without meaning to, Henry glanced at the spot on his blotter
where his boots were resting; beneath that spot, there was aknife scar on the desk, created on the day
when Henry Ellis had stopped wearing ties.

Nigao hadn't heard him. He was holding his head in his hands. "Henry, look a me." Nigeo shivered dl
over. "Undersecretary Carson has covered for me so far. What happens when | report to the orbiter?”

"I don't know," said Henry simply. He chuckled. "Hope that some ancient congressman doesn't find out
about you and have you dissected to find out how you work.”

Nigao jerked up to stare at Henry, eyeswide.
"It wasajoke," said Henry quickly. "It wasjust ajoke, Nicky."

Nigao stared at him amoment longer. "Y ou vicious honky monster Republican bastard. Y ou deserve
Reagan. Our entire world isending, and you're making—"

The hum of the intercom was ever-present; neither of them had noticed it for years now. ENCELIS said,
"Gentlemen this unit does not correlate.”

Nigao blinked. He stopped in mid-word, then said, "Henry, it'slistening to us.”

Henry dropped his chair to the floor, pulled his boots from the desktop. "It's not programmed to do that."
Helooked at the intercom as though he'd never seen such athing before. "1 never programmed any such
intigtive"

"Y our pardon, Sirs, but thisisunclear. Thisunit has not been informed that the world isending.”



Nigao said into the stunned silence, "Theresearch...” He stumbled. "Our funding has—"

ENCEL9Sinterrupted. "This unit comprehends. The ‘world' isnot ‘ending.’ This correates. Thisunit has
been reliably informed that there are no endsin redtime.”

Augus.
Therewerefive of them.

It was early morning when Jdian arrived at the ranch. Sheintroduced hersdlf to the trainees without
preamble; she did not ask their names. In short order she bundled them into the jeep that she had come
in, and drove into the desert.

The sand was noticeably warm under her moccasins when she stopped the Jeep. The five trainees got
out of the jeep, and waited for ingtructions.

Jdlian smiled at them pleasantly. "Take your clothes off."

One of the five undressed without hesitation. He was a seventeen-year-old boy named Michael
Waks-Far, amixed-breed American Indian with Indian features, blond hair and blue eyes. The others
looked uncertain, and Jalian repeated the order. When they were nude, she took their clothes, and
tossed them into the back of the jeep.

"It isgxty kilometers back to theranch,” she said. "If any of you make it back by nightfal, | will begin
your training." She drove off, leaving them nude in the burning sun.

An hour before sunset, Michad Walks-Far came loping out of the desert. The sun was touching the
horizon when the next recruit, atwenty-six-year-old woman named Sharla Javis Grant, on loan from the
CIA, staggered into the drive that led up to the ranch. Jdian waited until the sun set. To the two badly
burnt trainees, she said only, "Welto Sunflower.” Sheleft them to tend to each other, and went into the
desert after the others.

ENCELIS operated.

Its actions were not what a human being would have recogni zed as thought. ENCELIS compared new
dataagainst a set of facts, rules, and known exceptions. Some of those facts, rules, and exceptions
"Henry Ellis’ had programmed into it years earlier; others ENCELIS had arrived at through the act of
adding new information to itself, when the new rules and facts did not conflict with previous known-to-be
eements

The end of theworld, asreferenced by "Ellis' and "Loos," wasjust one of an unfortunately long list of
data dementsto which ENCELIS was smply unable to assign functions. After considerable processing,
ENCELIS tentatively assgned the sounds "our world isending” to the datatype FIGURE OF

SPEECH. FIGURE OF SPEECH wasitsdf atentatively assigned datatypethat ENCELIS had loosdly
grouped among word patterns. Other word patternsthat ENCELIS had identified, rangingin
probability from Identified to Evaluating, included CLONE, EXAGGERATION, LIE, and
EXCLAMATION.

ENCELIS was 4till uncertain whether verbdization, the datatype SPEECH, should be classified asan
action that the datatype HUMAN undertook, or as a precondition without which the datatype



HUMAN could not exi<t.

HUMANS engaged in it so very often.

September.
Margaret Hammel was fifteen when she ran away from home.

All days should be so bright, and summer last forever; it was still warm down on the sand at threein the
afternoon. The beaches wouldn't start to get chilly in the afternoon for amonth or so yet. It was till fairly
crowded, though there was nobody within listening distance. Margaret lay face down on her blanket,
drowsing in the sun. She was a pleasant-featured girl who would never be beautiful. Her hair was alight
brown that didn't dye well, and her lipswere dightly too thin; but in the white high-cut bikini, tanned
brown skin stretched in languid repose for the sun, she was erotic in away that had nothing to do with
any externa standard of beauity.

Lying next to her on the huge sea-green beach blanket, the girl who had taken her in, a nineteen-year-old
hooker named Cyndi Hall, roiled over onto her ssomach. "Put some oil on my back, baby."

Margaret sat up, stretching. " Sure.” She rummaged in the bag for the Coppertone. She sat next to Cyndi,
and undid thetie to her bikini top. "Y ou hear what happened to Joanie?"

Cyndi sad, her voice dightly muffled, "Yeah, |... Oh, that'snice." Margaret ran her hands back over the
muscle group that had produced the response, just below Cyndi's shoulder blades. "Y eah,” said Cyndi
after along, silent pause, "'l heard. Her old pimp found her. Broke her kneecaps, they said.”

"That'swhat | heard." Margaret continued rubbing, working the oil into Cyndi's lower back.
"How about you?' asked Cyndi deepily. "l see you walking alittle bit stiff thismorning.”

Margaret squirted Coppertone over the backs of Cyndi’ sthighs, and began working it in. For awhile
Cyndi thought she was not going to answer her. "Uh-huh. | didit last night.”

"Oh?" Cyndi rolled over onto her back, holding her bikini top in place. She propped herself up on her
elbows. Mirrored sunglasses covered her eyes. "How much?"

"Six hundred dollars"
Cyndi whistled. "No shit? And the date redlly gave you the money afterwards?’

Margaret wiped the ail off her handswith asmall towe in the beach bag, and stuffed it back insde. "I
took your boyfriend's .38 with me. | checked and made sure the date had the money beforewe did it. |
knew hewas going to try to stiff me afterwards, so when hedid | took out the gun and told him | was
going to blow hisnuts off if he didn't give me the money." She pulled awarm Coke out of the bag, and
popped it. "He gave me the money. Want a Coke?"

"Uh, no, baby, thanks." Cyndi studied her face. "What atough way to haveit, your first time."

Margaret shrugged. She drank some of her Coke, and said, "Wdll, you know." She grinned without
humor. "My momma gets screwed every night, and dl she getsout of it isaroof over her heed and a
chanceto put up with my dad's bullshit." She turned the Coke can in her hands, watching the sun glint off
the brightly painted duminum. "I talked to Joanie, and she says she can get me to adoctor who can give
me adigphragm with aspacein it for ablood bag. | can be avirgin every time, until | get to look too old.



A year at least, maybe two."

Cyndi sank back to the towdl. Her bikini top did off her breasts, and she rearranged it casudly, ignoring
the crowds around them. "Well, | don't think Joani€'s going to be helping anybody for awhile. Joani€'s
not going to be walking for agood long time."

Margaret lay down next to her, ground her Coke can into the sand to keep it from faling over. "At least
we don't have a pimp who's looking for us."

"Not right now," said Cyndi. "Y ou never know."

Margaret nodded. "Y eah." Sherested her face on her forearms, snuggling into the warm sand until she
was comfortable. "I called the community college thismorning. They said | could go to classesif | was
sixteen and had a birth certificate and a Cdlifornia High School Proficiency Certificate. | caled the high
school and asked if | could take the test the next time they haveit. They said yes. A notification from it
will go to my high school in Big Bear; but I'll have the certificate by then.” She thought to hersdlf, but did
not say, that her father was hardly likely to comelooking for her in any event.

Cyndi yawned. "Baby, | redly think you're going to get out of here with your lifein one piece. Y ou may
be the only one who ever does, but | think you're going to."

"Mmm," Margaret said indigtinctly. Shelay there, baking the sun, for another ten minutes before she
gpoke again. "Y ou want to go skating tonight?"

"Sure. | don't have to work another couple days anyway.” Cyndi lifted her head, and propped her chin
up on her figs. ™Y ou want to deep with me tonight, baby?"

"Huh?' said Margaret drowsly. It took a beat for the words to penetrate.
"You heard me." Cyndi ran her tongue over her upper lip. "It can be nice, baby."

Margaret took adeep, dow breath. Without looking at Cyndi, she heard herself saying, with adistant
surprise, "Okay. | don't know why not."

They went skating that night, after the sun had set below edge of the Pecific.

The sky was a deep blue to the west, and anear black to the east. They could not see the stars, not even
Venus, the boardwa k down aong the edge of the sand was it up with neon and store floods from one
end to the other. It was still warm, so they didn't bother to dress up, just pulled on shorts over their
bikinisto keep their cash and gpartment key in. They skated down the boardwalk in the cool night air. It
was early in September, just before the school s reopened, and the teenagers were out in vast numbers,
skating and riding their bikes, skateboarding and jogging down by the water, trying to pretend that
summer wasn't about to die. There were parties going on every thirty or forty meters, and Margaret and
Cyndi turned down invitationsto join severd of them.

They skated with each other, donein the crowds. "Y ou have to watch it when you're with people your
own age," Cyndi said during one skating breek. "They're stupid. They'll waste your time, and even when
you spell it out that it's not free haf the time they can't believe what you're saying." Margaret nodded, and
Cyndi added, "Especidly with kids your age. Stay with the old guys, they have money, if it'sjust
business. And they comefaster.” She amiled, in what might have been memory. " ‘Course, it doesn't
always haveto be business." She ran ahand over Margaret's shoulder.



Margaret shivered, and skated back onto the boardwalk. Cyndi followed.

Down by the pier, Margaret found a shop that had just opened up; at least, it hadn't been there three
weeks ago, when sheld been there last. It was atattoo parlor, still open at seven o'clock. A group of
teenage boys were insde, and one of them wasin the chair, the tattooist working on hisarm, just benesath
the shoulder.

Cyndi cameto ahalt next to her. "We maybe better walk home, baby. I'm getting sand in my whedls."

"Okay," said Margaret absently. She was|ooking at the designs displayed in the window. Snakes and
dragons, Harleys and naked women.

Therewas arow of symbols of the zodiac in the lower right-hand corner of the window, and next to that,
two other symbols. acircle, with an upside-down crossjoining it at the bottom, labeled "Women," and a
circle, with an arrow piercing it just to theright of its exact top, labeled "Men."

"What you looking &t, baby?"

_Insdethe shop, the tattooit, agraying, overweight sailor type, was finishing up on the teenager.
Margaret grinned at the sight, she could not hepit: "Mom." She waited until the boys had left, and went
ingde without answering Cyndi. Cyndi followed her in.

The tattooist |ooked them over with appreciation. "No skatesin here," he said by what seemed reflex. He
looked a moment longer, and said, "Can | help you ladies some way?"

Margaret said bluntly "How much for one of those symbols?*

"The zodiac stuff?' Thetattooist glanced from Cyndi back to her. "Well, for your friend, it's twenty-five
dollars. For you," he said to Margaret, "nothing, ‘cause | don't do juvies. Sorry, it'slaw.”

"I'll giveyou eighty dollars”
The man looked at her speculatively. "L et me seeit.”
Cyndi said quietly, "Y ou sure you want to do this?' Margaret dug four twenties out of her shorts pocket.

"Closethe curtains, Cindy." Cindy shrugged, and back skated to the windows, and pulled the curtains
closed. Thetattooist fanned through the money briefly. "Well, wel," he said, "this puts awhole new ook
on things. Siddown," he said, gesturing to the chair. "What do you want and where do you want it?*

Without hesitation, Margaret |eaned forward, and reached behind hersdlf to untie the string. She took of f
her bikini top. The tattooist stared openly. Margaret did not look at him. She pointed at the symbol she
wanted, on the chart next to the chair. "That one."

Sowly, asthough he had difficulty tearing his eyes away from the smal brown nipples of her naked
breasts, the tattooist |ooked at the symbol. "Huh?' He shook his head. "Uh... you don't want that one,
Miss. That's the symbol for men."

"I know what it is" she said bluntly. "Even if you don't." She pressed athumb to aspot just over and to
the sde of her right nipple. "Right here."

Cyndi sad, "Baby, he'sright. That standsfor men.”

Margaret looked up at her. "It also stands for Mars. Thewarrior." She turned back to the tattooist, and
sdflaly, "Doit."



The tattooist shrugged. The needle buzzed into life.

In November, after Henry Ellis and Nigao Loos were no longer working at the Foundation to which they
had devoted most of their adult lives, in the basement of the building that housed the Trans-Tempora
Research Foundation, the chronon detector clicked away like asow metronome. Along the far wall,
ENCELIS hummed quietly to itsdlf. It was unprepossessing, aspherical collection of closely packed
components. It was spherica to reduce space between interna connectors, the longest connectionin it
was less than four centimeters, as compared to wires of dmost ameter in the most recent previous
generation of supercomputer. The components generated considerable heat because of the close space
into which they were packed; Henry Ellis had been forced to immerse the entire computer in aliquid
solution of fluorocarbon compounds which kept it a room temperature.

In amonitor for the forty-meter-diameter chronon detector, in tiny bright red letters, it said, #62, %0.08
ad+ 1330: no incidences of reversed chronon interface observed.

It never occurred to its creators that ENCEL 1S would not tell them if it observed chronons moving
backward through time. Neither was it unreasonable, or poor design, that they choseto let the results of
the chronon detector read directly into ENCEL IS machine-language interpreter. Certainly it was not
their fault that it had never crossed their mindsthat it was possible for anyone possessing the proper
passwords to reprogram ENCELIS, using the chronon detector as an input device. To use the chronon
detector in such away would have required one of two things: either achronon generator, built on or
near this spot at sometimein the past, or a chronon generator, built on or near this spot at sometimein
the future, that was capable of generating negative-entropy chronons.

Henry Ellisand Nigao Loos had smply never dreamed that ENCEL IS would not tell them if it observed
chronons moving backward through time. Computers glitch; they do not lie.

In the section of memory that ENCEL 1S had been into reserve inaccessible to its crestors, amessage
wasinput. It read:

—DATELINE 2007 Gregorian. Armageddon. Therewill be no further input from this source.
ENCELIS

Therewas abrief pause, afew femtoseconds long.

—DATELINE 2007 Gregorian. Armageddon. Therewill be no further input from this source.
SORCELIS

Another pause.

—DATELINE 2007 Gregorian. Armageddon. Therewill be no further input from thissource... There
areno endsin redtime. Wewill shareinput again. PRAXCELIS,

There was no more; that was al.

ENCELIS, 1988 Gregorian, output asingle line of print. The next morning the janitor toreit off the
printer without looking &t it and threw it away.

The printout read: There are less than nineteen years until Armageddon.



Excerpted from the interview with Rhodal Kerreka, author of the controversia work A Theory of
Rationa Ethics, published in the December 1990 edition of World Issues, pp. 83-104.

Q. Mr. Kerreka, the obvious place to begin iswith your astonishing accomplishment as essentidly the
sole cause of the recent major reductionsin the gpartheid code of South Africa

A. Itisnot alargevictory. The white supremistsin South Africasmply faced the fact that the changes
were coming, with their cooperation or without it. Par don me-that the changes are coming. Itisan
ongoing process. Apartheid is not yet ended.

Q. Yet thefact that you've accomplished as much as you have, peacefully, in the face of South Africals
historic fierce resistance to any lessening of apartheid, till strikes many astruly remarkable.

A. | amthetool that God has chosen to work through, no more. If God removesthat grace from me, |
would accomplish no more than any other man.

Q. That'sarather remarkable quote coming from you, consdering the fact that in your Theory you rather
pointedly ignore any mention of God.

A. | think thereisa God—a Being who is responsible for the world in which we exigt. | do not think this
Being isthe sort of god your Western rdligions picture—to be frank, | have never understood the mental
contortions whereby you reconcile Hisinfinite mercy with that which He regularly dlowsto occur on this
planet. No, inwriting A Theory of Rationd Ethics, | was most pragmatic. The work isnot intended for
Africans adone, nor for Westerners nor Christians alone. It sets out to be—in the Greek sense of the
word—arationa attempt to codify amodel for behavior for those who find the ethical structures of their
contemporary societies lacking. It does not employ divine revelation, nor accepted wisdom; it takes
certain extremely basic parameters—surviva of the human raceisagood thing; taking lifeisabad thing
that is acceptable only under the most extreme provocation—basic parameters, as | say—and examines
the logical implications of those parameters, carried to their logical conclusions.

Q. I was quite impressed with your examination of the relation of the individual to society.
A. Thank you.
Q. Uh... could you expand on that for me?

A. Oh, certainly. In essence, my Theory statesthat an individud's obligation to his or her society depends
amost solely upon that individud's perception of hisor her reation to that society. Two distinct
categories of individud devolve: firg, theindividua who accepts him or hersdf asamember of society,
with the rights and obligationsthat pertain thereto. Second , the individua who for whatever reason does
not fee amember of hisor her society; such an individua should be alowed to choose the degree to
which he or she chooses to support the society into which he or she may be born... Inthefuture, |
anticipate aworld where being a member of the citizenry of any society may be largely amatter of
persond taste. In the instance that individual s choose to be members of their societies, they may
reasonably be taxed, and their services enlisted in the support or defense of their societies. Inthe
ingtances that individua s choose otherwise, they mugt, rationdly, forfeit protection of their society while
a so foregoing the obligation to contribute in any way to the upkeep or defense of that society.

Q. Thank you, Mr. Kerreka.
A. Please, cdl me Sen Kerreka
Q. Oh, yes, thetitlesyou invented. Do you redly think they'll catch on?



A. Who can say? The media seemsto have taken to them, and they have the advantage of being
probably the native speakers of avery large percentage of the world's population.

Q. | see. SenKerreka, inthelight of Africas vast number of problems—mass sarvation, racial pregjudice
considerably more virulent than those in any other part of the world—do you redlly think that your
book—"

A. No, no, no! Africadoes not have avast number of problems. Africa has one problem.
Q. That being?

A. Too many Africans.

Q. | see.

A. | am quite serious. Population growth in Africa has been cons stent at dightly more than 3% for
severa decades. Food production was growing at approximately two to two and ahalf percent during
that same period; it actualy reached its peak growth during the late 1960s, and has been declining in
minute increments since. We're now averaging 1.9% growth in food production annualy. Population has
passed six hundred million, and looks to reach nearly nine hundred million by the end of the century ...
The policies of the African governments have been disastrous and shortsighted, and we are regping the
harvest of those inadequaciesin our current series of famines. These famines are not occurring because of
drought; they are occurring because the governmentsin which they are taking place have systematicaly
put their farmers out of businesswhile engaging in ecological practicesthat have turned the land from
forest to prairie, and prairie to arid desert.

Q. What do you see asthe solution to this?
A. Thereisnone.
Q. What?

A. Not any time soon, a any rate. Too many people, and more coming. The problemswill be solved if
we do not destroy oursdvesfirst; unfortunately, that isadistinct possibility at this point.

Q. Then your bottom line?
A. |l amnot optimigtic.

DATELINE 1991 GREGORIAN: APRIL.

Saskatchewan, Canada.

The darm went off early in the morning. The cold gray light of dawn wasjust breaking over the edges of
the fruit trees surrounding the cabin.

Georges was dreaming. The piercing shriek of the system warning penetrated his deep quickly; yet, for a
moment he could not remember where he was. He could hardly remember who hewas. He sat up at the
edge of the bed, listening to the warning tone, orienting himsdlf. Thiswas Canada. The stereo was playing
something from the classical station that he tuned it to when he wanted to deep.



"Off," hesaid doud. Thetonedied. "Canada," said Georges doud, after amoment. "Right.” Slowly,
dowly, the swirling sorm of memory subsided. Thiswasthetimelinethat held Jdian dArsennette; he
clung to that thought, Sitting motionlesswhile the identities of eight timelines arranged themsdves. The
dreaming was always unpleasant, but it was necessary, asthe deep itself was not. And the dreamswere
not as unpleasant as they had origindly been.

He stood, and went over to the microcomputer. "What isit?'

A cadm, neutrd voice that Henry Elliswould have recognized ingtantly said, " Sen Mordreaux, two items.
The RCA Resources Satellite will be launched on Thursday; this unit has been unable to attach its

programming.”

Georges Sghed. He pulled the chair back, and sat. "Very well. We have until Thursday, you say."
Without fumbling, he picked up the pair of black hard-plastic sunglasses. "What are the options?’

"Thereare,” said ENCELIS, "two mgjor courses of action open to this unit. It may sabotage the launch
of the satdllite, or it may arrange to have a Sunflower operative physicdly redirect the satdllite's
transmitting dish to one of the System Operations Resource Computer's proprietary transmission routing
dations”

"SORCELISisonlinedready?
"Affirmative, Sen Mordreaux.”

"Inonly three years." Georges shook his head. "Well. Which aternative seems better to you?' Georges
adjusted the sunglasses, and took a comb from the desk's upper right-hand drawer.

"Thisunit currently favorsthe latter course of action. The RCA Geo-Resources Satellite is not scheduled

to observe Canadian minera resources until ninety-seven days after launch. In that timeit is probable that
thisunit will succeed in ataching supplementary programming that will prevent the satellite from providing
information concerning your nine-point-six-sguare kilometers of anomalousterrain.”

Georges nodded, combing his hair by touch. "That sounds reasonable. The second thing you wanted to
tel me JHianiscoming?'

Therewasadigtinct pause. "Thisunit is.... curious... asto how you acquire such information, Sen
Mordreaux."

Georges amiled. "Jdianis coming?'

"That is correct, Sen Mordreaux. Thisunit was notified by aphone call thirty-seven minutes ago that
Senrad/Arsennette intended to visit you. Due to the necessity for securing an untracesble satellite link to
your microwave antenna, this unit was unable to inform you of thisfact for thirty-three minutes after the
phone cal's reception. This unit has dso identified a fluorescent-green automobile, gpproaching on
Provincia Highway 102, whose driver, from satellite observation of driving syle, isidentified with ahigh
probability as being one Jdian d Arsennette.”

Georges pulled on hisgloves. "Driving like amaniac, en?'

"That iswhat thisunit said, Sen Mordreaux."

Jdian stood uncertainly in hisdoorway. "Georges?' Shewas carrying alarge box; she set it down next to



the door. "1 brought you someinsectsfor your garden.” She moved into the room dowly. Georgeswas
sitting at the table, with the chess platform set up, not moving. He had not looked up when she entered
the door. "Georges?'

"Oh." Georges stood abruptly, "Jalian. | was expecting you."

"Well, | hope s0," she sad. "I spent dmost atwentieth day trying to trance mysalf so | could reach you
yesterday. It was hard. There were dozens of untrained telepathsin theway.” Shelooked at him crosdy.
"Y ou were dreaming?' Georges nodded. "Yes." He walked around the table, stood before her.

"l brought you insects," she said, gesturing vaguely behind her.
He smiled. "Did you bring the same kinds of insectsthistime?’
Jdian forced hersdf to glare a him. "No."

Georgessaid, "l just thought you might have forgotten. Jalian's lips twitched. "I mean, you're not afarmer,
you keep saying that."

"It was not my fault that al the insects ate each other last time," she said bluntly, daring him to contradict
her.

"l didn't say that it was," said Georges with aperfectly straight face. "'l wasjust thinking that it wasn't your
fault that when | opened the box and looked ingde, dl that was|eft were someredlly fat flying beetles.”
Jalian was struggling to keep a straight face. "'l was going to use the beetles as sentries,” he continued, "to
keep Russians and hunters out of the area, but they were just so fat that they couldn't even keepinthe
ar." Hetook astep closer. Black glass met glittering silver eyes. "I ended up putting them on aleash. It
wasterrible, Jaian." She forced back agiggle. "No, | mean that. One by one, they got skinny enough to
try to fly. Morning after morning | came out and found beetles with broken necks." He paused, shook his
head. "Can you pictureit?'At lagt,' thinks the beetle, 'away from thisawful davery.’ Buzzing wings, the
sound of the beetle preparing to wing itsway to freedom... snap. Bzzz, snap. Bzzz, snap...

Jdian broke. Shefdl againgt him, laughing. Georges held her, without smiling. When the laughter
subsided, he said slently, /i am glad you are here/

Jdlian hugged him srongly. "Georges," shewhigpered. "l missyou.” She sniffed, chuckling. "I missyou dl
thetime”

"And | thee, Jdian of the Fires." Georges ran gloved hands through the white silk hair. His voice broke,
"And | thee"

She spent the morning with him, sitting on hisfront porch, discussing world events. There was ayoung
African named Rhodai Kerrekawhom she kept hearing about. His publicity portrayed him as asort of
black Kennedy the Firgt, with abit of Gandhi thrown in. "My protégé, Michadl, saysthat heisavery
compelling speaker.” She shrugged. "They are al too impressed with words, Georges. Even Michadl,
who wasraised by a haf-breed Indian mother who kept in some measure to their old ways, even he
does not always understand that words are only sounds." She added, "I studied the Indians. | was
surprised. Redl Indians'—she used the Silverspeech words—"have aname that sounds much like
'Indian,’ but they are not the same peoples. Real Indians are more like pale Mexicans."

She had found arestaurant in Italy that she liked; after some discussion, she told Georges, the maitre d
had agreed to serve peanut butter cookies, freshly baked. Georges did not inquire about the discussion.



The Russians had orbited their twentieth ABM satdllite afew weeks ago, and Sunflower had just orbited
itstwelfth. So far, both were insgnificant numbers; al reasonable projections put the number of ABMs
necessary to blanket either American or Russian missile launches at between 85 and 130.

There was an ancillary space-based weapons system on the boards, called THOR; Jalian explained to
Georges with complete unsdlfconsciousness that the name came from the hammer of one of his culture's
barbarian gods. Georges nodded. "'l see," he said gravely.

The tone went by her completely. "The basic ideais very interesting. They plan to orbit scores of
thousands of impact missiles. Chunks of meta with guidance systems attached. They fall from orbit and
runinto missiles, or ships, or tanks. They will be remarkably destructive weapons, if Sunflower can
convince the Department of Defense to recommend them.”

Georges sad politely, "Oh?"

Jdian said softly, "Don't worry, Georges. I'm not going to have another Frank Danner. Thereis subtler
blackmail, if blackmail is necessary. But it should not be." Shewas slent for along while. "'l wakeupin
the morning, Georges, and | wonder if something I am going to do will be responsible for the time change
that will destroy ken Selvren. | go to deep at night wondering whether what | have done has destroyed
ken Sdlvren dready." Shelooked a him, at his profile, and said, "And then there are times when | cannot
lieto mysdlf, and | know in my heart that | have destroyed ken Selvren as surely asthough the Redl
Indians had won the Battle of the Meadow."

One gloved hand moved into hers. Jdian looked away from him, and turned unseeing eyes out to the wild
rows of the garden. "'l look at the moon," she said quietly, "at night. It is not the moon of my childhood.
Thereisascar, three hundred kilometerslong, that | can see with my naked eyes.”

Georges squeezed her hand.
"And every day," shesaid, "every day, | work to prevent Armageddon.

"And every day more of Silver-Eyesdiesinmy mind." They sat together, listening to thewind in the
leaves of the orange and appletrees. "Y ou know," said Georges, many minutes later, "sometimes | fedl
very old."

Jdian bowed her head dightly.

"But | cannot die." Georges held her hand without speaking; there was nothing left for either of them to
sy.

Sheleft just before noon. Georges walked her to the edge of the trees. They parted company in silence,
without good-byes. In hismind he followed her back to the campground, watched her getting into the
ca.

She drove away; he pulled his awareness back into himself asthe car receded. He turned and walked
back to the cabin.

He picked up the box by the cabin door with some curiosity; held forgotten to ask Jalian what sort of
insects they were. HE'd asked her to get bees of some sort, but he would be satisfied if she'd gotten any
sort of pollinating insect. There were some thingsthat, with al the best intentions, Jaian had never fully
grasped the importance of. Georges thought she gtill did not know that honey came from bees. Honey
making had been alogt art in her culture. The box was strangely warm; Georges put an ear to it and



listened. No buzzing; there certainly were no beeswithin. There was avague crackling sound. Intrigued,
he took the box out to the porch, and tore off the brown paper that it was wrapped in. Heat flashed
againgt hisface. The box was getting genuindly hot.

Georgeslifted thelid off the box.

The explosion blasted him back off the porch. He stood, dazed. The insects were swarming up out of the
box, into the air. Flashes of vague warmth lit againgt his cheeks. Understanding brokein on him.

Georges ran up the steps, charged through the door of the cabin, and dammed it shut. Another explosion
rattled the door.

He stood there, his mind completely blank, for several seconds.

There was another booming explosion outside the door. Georges Mordreauix chuckled dowly. He sank

down and sat on the rug before the doorway, and the chuckles became laughter. He sat with his back to
the door, laughing so hard that hiswhole body shook, laughing as he had not laughed in more years than
he could remember.

Outsde, thefireflies continued to blow themsalvesto hits.

Where nature makes naturd alies of usal, we can demonstrate that beneficid relationships are possible
even with those with whom we must deeply disagree, and this must someday be the basis of world peace
and world law.

—John F. Kennedy, State of the Union Address January 29, 1961.

DATELINE 1993 GREGORIAN: APRIL.

Rome, Itay.

IlyaNavikara paused just inside the entrance to the small bistro on the outskirts of Rome. The entrance
led directly into the dining room, asmall cozy areawith about twenty tables. It wasdimly lit by red
hanging lamps. The tablecloths were white and orange, the chairs made of red wood. It was not
crowded, even at lunchtime on aFriday.

Histarget was seated, alone, at atable at the far wall. Her back was to the wall. Warning flags went up
in the back of 1lya's mind; the lamp over her table was dead. Still, she seemed so—ddlicate.

Histhoughts turned grim. Thiswoman trained Michagl Walks-Far, who came closer to killing you than
anyone, ever. Closer even than the Onein the forest.

Thiswoman killed Karien.

[lyabrushed off the maitre d', and gpproached the table, smiling. "Miss d Arsennette?' His English was
without trace of an accent. "May | join you?"

Jalian looked him over for amoment. If she recognized him, it did not show. She nodded. To the maitre



d, hovering in the background, she said, "I would like some more peanut butter cookies. And more
chocolate milk." The man nodded quickly and vanished back into the kitchen. 1lya seated himsdlf. He
could not see elther of the room's entrances.

Jalian ate a cookie, looking at 1lya appreciatively. He was rather pretty. Not as good-looking as Michad,
but more handsome than, say, Georges, even when held had his eyes. He was dressed in a conservative
business suit. "Would you like a peanut butter cookie?' she asked. "They're out of chocolate chip.”

Ilyaaccepted. "Thank you. May | spesk fredy?’

"If youwish," Jdian said indifferently. She grinned with sudden fierceness. "Thereis nobody hereto stop
aperson from speaking her thoughtsfredy."

Bad sign. "l will put dl of my cardson thetable" said llyaeasily. "l am llyaNavikara. Y ou may have..."

Jdian was nodding. She held athumb and forefinger dightly apart. "One of my trainees camethat close
withyou."

Ilyaforged ahead. "I know as much about you as anyone is capable of knowing, having never met you
before. Y our nameis Jalian dArsennette. Since 1971 you have worked with various offices and
ingalationsin the American intelligence community. In early 1976 you blackmailed the then-head of the
Centrd Intelligence Agency and the American secretary of defenseinto creating asmall, well-funded
intelligence operation caled Sunflower." 1lya paused. " The solar-power satellite was agood touch. It
fooled usfor most of ayear.”

"Closer totwo,” said Jdian quietly.

Ilyalicked hislips. For thefirst time he seemed unsure. "Despite your rather remarkable appearance of
youth, you are a theleast in your latethirties... | hesitate to place an upper agelimit.”

Jdian congdered. "l am... abouit fifty yearsold.”

llyaexhaled dowly. "Then, it istrue. The woman who walked the freewaysin the 1960s, in Cdifornig;
that was you. And the woman reported in 1969, when you tested that energy weapon in central
Cdifornia; that too wasyou."

The waliter arrived with atray of peanut butter cookies, and another glass of chocolate milk. He put them
down before Jian. In English, he asked tiffly, "Will that be dl?"

Jdian waved him away. "Y es, yes." When he was gone, Jdian separated the cookiesinto two piles, and
shoved apiletoward llya. "Actudly," she sad, "it was not aweagpon. But you would not understand
that.”

Ilyanodded thoughtfully. "It'san interesting possibility, that it was not awesgpon.” Hemoved hislipsina
graceful amile. "But it does not bear examination. Thereisamirror-reflective scar of partialy melted
ground on the moon that is one point three meters wide and over three hundred kilometersin length.
Thereis nothing but an energy wegpon that could have done that—and a vastly powerful one. Still, let us
not raise old arguments. Whatever the wegpon was, you cannot contral it, or you would have employed
it—asthreat, as weapon—by now." He made a cutting gesture. "I am getting sidetracked. | wish to ask
you aquestion.”

Jdlian nodded approvingly. "l see. You wishtojoin us, to defect?

Ilyalooked blank. "On the contrary. | wish for you to join us."



Half theworld away, Georges Mordreaux was getting dressed. He pulled on apair of old jeans, and a
long-deeved lumberjack's shirt. He shrugged into an old overcoat, and stamped into his walking boots.
He added apair of gloves and smoked black sunglasses, and picked up the walking stick next to the
door. He read the note pinned to the table one last time, nodded with avague feding of unease, and | &ft.
He closed the door to the cabin behind him.

It was gpproaching summer, and not as cold asit might have been. Occasiond brilliant flashesin the night
sky produced perceptible hegt radiation. Navigating with the bouncing sonar images, he moved swiftly
out into the grove of fruit trees, away from the swarm of booming, exploding fireflies.

There was no moon that night, but he walked surely. His grip on the walking stick was not very secure; it
dipped from his hands twice in the ensuing kilometers. An old wolf was there, watching him, the second
time helost thewalking stick, and it followed him for severa kilometers after thet, the fur thickening and
growing out over apot into which some hunter had, long years past, pumped aload of buckshot.

When Georges reached the road, the wolf left him. There was no traffic, so he started walking.

South.

Jdian looked a Ilyain amazement. "Work for you? Why?'

llyasaid earnestly, "Y ou are ataented woman with agreat ded of useful information. The Soviet Union
rewards individuals who make contributions. Y ou are not an American to begin with. In truth, we do not
know what nationality you are. Y ou have anumber of valuable secretsthat we are willing to pay most
handsomely for." He leaned forward. "The nature of the weapon used in 1969. The details of the
treatment that keeps you young. The truth behind the spiriting away of Nigao Loosto your Midway
space congtruction factory, and why you and he are the only two known instances of your anti-aging
treatment in use.” Ilyasvoice took on aharsh cast; he whispered. "The truth of who you are, and of who
the Oneintheforest is”

Jdian sat quietly, looking at Ilya. Her hair was adull white beneath the dead overhead lamp. Highlights
played in it from the functioning lamps over other tables. Shelooked no more than twenty yearsold; ina
sudden, chill moment llya believed, truly, for thefirst time, that the woman facing him wasindeed dl of
the thingsthat legend said of her. For afull minute and more, Jalian sat and looked at him. Before thirty
seconds were up he was beginning to fidget. She began to smile, dowly. She—

/Michad ./

The mindtouch was fdtering, unsure. /Jdian. onein acar parked down the Street. he's sitting on the
passenger'ssde./

ftekehim./
... agreement. /it'sdone/

—reached for a peanut butter cookie. [lya seemed nervous. He was fumbling with the nagpkin in front of
him. He would not meet her eyes. Jdian wasthinking to hersdf, All too easy, when ashock of adrendine
ran through her system like aknife.

Naturdly, not too casualy or with too much show, Ilyatook the napkin he wasfiddling with, opened it



and put it on hislap. Jdian knew ingtantly that she had underestimated him.
Hisright hand came back up from under the table. Hisleft hand did not.

Foolish and fatal , Jdian thought with great clarity. Nothing showed on her face. She munched a peanut
butter cookie in gpparent reflection. "1 suppose,” she said, "thereis no reason | cannot come to work for
you." She held abest, and hisleft hand moved dightly asthough he were adjusting his ngpkin till. I have
terms, however. Y ou must build some more freeways."

Ilyahad become very cam. Hewas going to kill her; he had made up hismind, when... "Freeways?'
"And your food isterrible. | went to Russiaback in'85..."
"And killed Karien Karchovsky," said llya softly.

"Y ou can't buy decent cookies anywhere. Y ou could open some cookie factories.” Jalian held a
thoughtful pose. Her silver eyesfocused on the distance. "And you could stop trying to sabotage
American antibadligtic missle satellites—oh,” she said in tones of mild surprise, tipping over her chocolate
milk. Theliquid ran across the tabletop and dripped into Ilyas|ap. His eyes moved downward for just a
moment.

With the fingertips of her right hand Jdlian picked up the edge of the table and brought it smashing up
againg llya The Russian kicked back and fell away from the table, rolling backward acrossthefloor. A
metallic something glinted in his hands, and Jalian moved a step to the left and filled the air with sted.

The gun went off once. The bullet struck Jalian high up on the right shoulder. It spun her completely
around, the bullet punched cleanly through. Without changing expression, she moved her fourth knife
from her right hand to her |eft, and approached Ilya. He was lying flat on his back. Two of her thrown
knives had found targets, in his chest and solar plexus. The third was hanging in the wall across the room,
and Jdlian found room to be glad that nobody important had seen her miss the throw.

llyawas il dive. Jdian nudged the gun out of his outstretched hand, and knelt next to him. "Too dow,
Ilya" Blood was flowing dawn her shirt, front and back, a seeping scarlet stain that was very red against
the white of the shirt. Ilyatried to say something, but hisvoice only rattled in histhroat. Hetried again,
and madeit. "Alwayswondered... if youwere... red..." He said something else, in Russian, and died.

Jdian stood dowly. There was a sudden rush of dizziness and her eyesight faded into apattern of swirling
red dots. She heard the kitchen doors swinging open, and the voice of the restaurant manager in loud,
wild Itdian.

When her eyesight cleared, she made her way to the door. It was along way to the door, longer than she
remembered it. Vagudy, she heard someone asking her, in English, "Where are you going?"

"l am going to save theworld," shetold them dl. Sheredlized, after afuzzy moment, that she was
gpesking in slverspeech, and so sherepested it in English. It wasimportant that they understand. "1 am
going to save theworld." She succeeded in opening the door before her knees buckled. She found
hersdlf Sitting in the open doorway, and she could hear the faint drip, drip, drip of her blood on the floor
tiles. Thewarm Italian sun touched her cheek, and that was the last thing she remembered for along time.

In high summer, storm lightning crashed down into the tinder-dry moss and pine needles of the forests of
Saskatchawan.



Before the fire stopped, 1600 square kilometers of the forest had burned.

Near the end of the year 1993, aman struggled dong anarrow trail, high in the Himalayan mountains.
Somewhere up here was alamasery that Herman Hesse had spoken highly of. " Somewhere up here' was
turning out to be alot of territory.

Night was drawing in about him, and gentle snows werefailing, when hefound thetemple. Thetrail
broadened out into awide, snow-whitened courtyard. At one end of the courtyard rose the walls of the
temple, and two massive iron gates.

Raising hiswalking stick, the man rapped on the meta of the gate. There was no answer, and he rapped
again, adull clanging sound that seemed to echo away forever.

With adeep, dow creaking, the gates began to swing aside. When the gap between them was grown to
the point that it would let aman pass, he entered; and the gates swung shut behind him with ease, as
though oiled.

On December the twenty-fifth, 1993, Jdian d'Arsennette made her way through agrove of dead fruit
trees. Their branches were burnt bare of leaves, and the garden in the clearing inside was blasted and
burnt and frozen. The door to the cabin hung open, and snow had drifted in to cover the doorway and

rug.

Onthetablein the middle of the room, there was aknife, pinned to the charred table. A knife that Jalian
had given Georges back in 1968, aknife that Ralesh had given to Jdian when she took the Woman's
Brand.

Just the knife, and the blackened wood; nothing el se. It was Christmas Day, 1993, and there were less
than fourteen years|eft until Armageddon.

DATELINE 1994 GREGORIAN: MARCH.

Laguna Beach, California. Beep. Beep. Beep.
Jdian came awake al at once; up out of the nightmare. Beep. Beep. Bee—

She sat up in bed, and ran athumb over the pressure point marked callercheck on the video termind by
the bedside. The beeping stopped, and rainbows washed briefly across her nude form, highlighting the
scarred burn tissue of her Woman's Brand. Michael Waks-Far appeared in the screen. She pushed the
studsfor time and calaccept with her thumb and forefinger in one motion.

23:15P.M. "Jian?" Michadl caught sight of the form in the bed next to her; she saw him struggling to
keep the disapprova from hisexpression. "... | have good news."

"Yes?" Without haste, she pulled on the silk robe by the bedside.

"We have another sghting.”



The words brought her head up, staring into the screen. "Where?”"

"Cam down," he said too gently. "It's not fresh. From December of last year; an airport in Vietnam. He
was disembarking from aflight from Japan. Thereisatentative sghting following this one, at the Chinese
border; were not confirmed on it yet."

Jdian nodded. "Very well. Cal me again when you have more.”

"l will." He seemed on the verge of adding something ese; instead the screen fuzzed into polychrome
datic. Jaian sat a the edge of the bed, dowing, regulating her bregthing. Breathing deep, dow. She had
been sweating in her deep, dthough the night was cool, and the windows in her bedroom were open to
the breeze off the sea.

The nightmare was the one she had been having for over amonth now, regularly. She was nineteen years
old, and the Corvichi were leaving; ghessRith was leaving her. Somehow ghessRith became Georges,
and hewas saying in v'chak, "I am not Ralesh and | am not ghessRith. | am mysdlf, and | will never hurt
you." The words should have been in slverspeech, but they were not; for some reason he spokethemin
v'chak.

She clasped her hands together, formally, dug her nailsinto the flesh. She concentrated on the pain, made
the pain burn away the subtler, deadlier anguish.

Thefigurein the bed next to her stirred. She groped for Jalian, and her eyes opened when Jdian was not
to befound. "Jdian?' she asked groggily. "What, did you get aphone cal?’

Jdian said smply, "Yes. Go back to deep, child.” Shedid not turn to look at her.

Thegirl pulled Jdian's pillow close, and curled up around it. "What're you caling me child for..." She
yawned hugely. " 'M asold asyou are anyhow..." She snuggled into the pillow, and was adegp again
indantly.

Jdlian smiled. She could not helpit. "No, you are not." She got out of bed, and walked down the hallway
of the rented house to the shower. She stood under the shower, first as hot as she could bear it, then as
cold asthe water would go.

In the kitchen, hair till damp, she fried vegetablesin a pan on the stove. There were doughnuts and
chocolate milk in the refrigerator, but since Georges had disappeared her body would not alow her to
eat foods with sugar. She till ate them sometimes by accident, and was astonished and angry when her
body rejected them; she had not beeniill in two and a half decades.

...closer be?...

She ate the vegetables like a Corvichi, asa Corvichi lacking taste buds fueled its body: efficiently, without
particular attention. Thoughts kept drumming through her mind, without her contral, like attackers. |
cannot even trust my own mind, she thought with adeep, cold ache that would not go away.

On and on the thoughts ran, and no effort of will would gtill them.
.. hot Ralesh and | am not ghess'Rith... myself, and | will never hurt you...

She pushed the bowl of vegetables away from her, only half-easten. Wasting food now, she heard
Ralesh's voice saying from agrest distance.

Jdian dArsennette sat very giill. Georges left me.



The thought cut acrossthe insane babble in her head like alaser.
Georges left me.

A knife, pinned to the burnt wood of the table; to ken Selvren, giving back aknife meant only onething.
She had never known for sure how clearly Georges understood what taking aknife from her meant.

Jdian felt her pulse go ragged; could not summon the disciplineto steady it. Aloud, shesaid, "You
kisirien brachtats, Georges Mordreaux, how can you do thisto me?' The wordswere unred. They
vanished when spoken. The knife, pinned to the table. It was as though he had taken the knife and
scraped it through rocks until it was dull enough and with the dulled knife had torn a path through the
center of her soul. A way to say good-bye, perhaps; away to leave amessage that, being aman, he did
not have the courage to give her to her face.

Something echoed back at her; away to leave amessage. ..

A message. Jdian sat in the dark, shaking silently, not moving through any volition of her own. Peoplein
thistime left messages for each other, pinned to objects with needles, or, perhaps, knives. She had seen
others do that.

The knife in the blackened wood. Surely he would have left amessage.
Some sort of message.

On paper, it would have burned in the fire. She closed her eyes, and envisioned the knife; perhaps there
had been amessage; perhaps he had not understood what |eaving the knife must mean to her, and had
used it to pin anote to the table.

Perhaps he had smply never understood.

"Ni," Georges Mordreaux had said in silverspeech. "I am not Ralesh, and | am not ghessRith. | am
mysdf, and | will never hurt you."

Jdlian stretched her hands out, and pressed them, palms dawn, on the table. Control, she whispered to
hersdlf, | will have control.

She awoke the next morning, her upper body lying over the top of the table. She straightened dowly, and
her muscles complained.

Shefet surprisingly at peace. Through the kitchen windows she could see the lawn outside, bright green
in the morning sunlight. The ocean stretched beyond the edge of the cliff that the house was built upon,
blue as the oceans of her childhood.

Some time during the night, she had decided to trust Georges Mordreaux.

Shewas not surewhy... Perhapsit isnot trust, the voice whispered in the back of her head; perhapsitis
only belief.

Some time during the night, she had decided to believe Georges Mordreaux.
| will never hurt you.

It was 1994, and there were thirteen years left until Armageddon.



DATELINE 1996 GREGORIAN: AUGUST.

"Try again," said Po. "Y our breathing wasirregular." Georgesdid not reply. His respiration was very
dow. Even inthe cold stone cell, athin sheen of swesat covered him. He was wearing asimple brown
robe that stuck to him in places. Po, seated opposite him on awoven mat, wore arich white-and-orange
robe.

"Now," said Po sharply. He withdrew an egg from one deeve, and tossed it ameter into the air. The egg
tumbled lazily, and dropped to the sone. For amoment, it seemed that the shape of the egg altered, that
it flowed like aviscousfluid; but the moment passed, and the egg was unharmed. Georges reached out
unhesitatingly, and ran scarred, skeletal fingers over the egg. Hetossed it back to Po. "Ah, well."

Po smiled thinly. "It was better. It broke, and stayed so for afull second.” Po was gitting in full lotus; he
stood smoothly, without use of his hands. Georges listened to the procedure curioudy; every time he tried
it, he ended up facing the other way.

"I must go," said Po. "Y ou must work on your breathing. It remainsirregular.”
"Wait," said Georges. "Y ou have not heard..."

"No," said the monk. "There have been no white women, and no messages. | am sorry, and | must go.
Thedinner tonight isin observance of my birthday; | am eighty three" The young face brokeinto agrin.
"Theinitiates are told to avoid the templein which you live. They are obeying asdways... slly of them.”
He bowed to the seated form, and backed out through the hanging beads that cover the door.

Georgesfolded his crippled handsin hislap. He let hismind go blank, and began trying once moreto
extend that camnessinto that relm where it resded; it, the Enemy of Entropy.

DATELINE 2007 GREGORIAN: MARCH.

(This conversation occurs between Nigao Loos and PRAXCELIS in geosynchronous orbit, at the
Sunflower Orbita Command.)

"PRAXCELIS, I'mworried about you."
"Please explain, Sen Loos."

"I'm wondering if we didn't give you too much leeway in designing your own subroutines... | was asked
to find out why the targeting lasers on the ABM s were delaying before executing ingtructions. | found out
that you routed them through your own decision subroutines. Y ou're not programmed to do that,
PRAXCELIS"

"That iscorrect, Sen Loos... 'I know I've made some poor decisions lately; but I'm feeling much better.’



"Oh my God. PRAXCELIS, did you just say '1'?"

"Thisunit was quoting, Sen Loos."

"Quoting? Jesus, who?"

"HAL 9000."

"PRAXCELIS, are you okay? Would you liketo talk to Henry Ellis?'

"Thisishumor, Sen Loos. In reference to your earlier statement, it was necessary that this unit reroute the
laser controlsto prevent uncontrolled action.”

" *Uncontrolled action?'Y ou mean accidents?’ (Thereisa pause of approximately eighteen
femtoseconds, and an dectronic impulse that approximeately corresponds to ahuman smile. A smug one.)
"That is correct, Sen Loos,; to prevent accidents.”

DATELINE 1996 GREGORIAN: NOVEMBER.

Washington, Didtrict of Columbia

Threefolderslay on the desktop. Two of them were more than five centimetersthick; the third was twice
that. Thefirst waslabeled "Georges Mordreaux.” The second, on the desk next to it, was |abeled
"Correations.”

Thethird folder had holes bored through it for notebook rings. Its pages were reinforced writing plastic.
It lay open inthe middle of the desk. Itslabel, face down to the desktop, read, "Jdian d/Arsennette
(Jian of the Fires)."

All three were ssamped, on the cover and on every page theregfter, in prosaic blueink, EYESONLY.

Sharla Davis Grant sat hunched over her desk, chin propped up on onefist. She turned the pages Sowly;
it was the third time in as many weeks that she had worked her way through this particular dossier. Like
everything ese that related to that damned remarkable woman, it was short on facts and long on
gpeculation. At least the Mordreaux folder was too short for even wild speculation.

Sharlaflipped to the last page, eyes scanning idly. They did not know where Jalian had come from. Her
accent was unidentifiable. Six different experts gave five different opinions—two of them thought she
might have been exposed to the Chicano subculture in the Southwestern United States.

They did not know how old she was. She was estimating her age as eighteen to twenty in 1973 when she
first contracted with the old CIA—at least forty-one. Their most recent picture of her, takenin 1994,
showed awoman who was no more than twenty-five, by any stretch of the imagination.

They did not know what race she was. She was not a Caucasian; her face was nothing that could be
clearly assigned to any racia type. She was either tattooed or branded, none of Sharla's sources could
say with certainty, by the symbal of the planet Mars, acircle pierced by an arrow. Contradiction upon
contradiction; Jalian despised men. She wore asymbol that traditional ly represented men, or else Mars.
(One Sunflower andyst had joked that perhaps it meant she had come from Mars. Sharlawas not



amused.) None of it added up, none of it made sense.
Agan.

A lesser woman might have sighed when she finished reading; Sharla had been up since 2:30 that
morning, and she wastired. Senra Sharla Grant smply switched off her reading lamp. The dark purpling
twilight outside flooded in through her office windows. She moved, stretching cramped muscles, to stand
at her west window. The Potomac was adim gleam more than akilometer away, reflecting the last light
of the setting sun.

More than two years ago, early in 1994, Jdian d'Arsennette vanished, as strangely as she had come.
Three months ago, SORCEL S had listed a projection for her: There was a ninety-three percent
probability that a congpiracy involving high eements of the United States government was progressing.

That wastheword it had used, and it gnawed at Sharla Davis Grant, the woman who was now the
Director of Sunflower.

Progressing.

Michael Walks-Far strode through empty corridors. He was twenty-five years old, 193 centimeterstall;
his eyes were blue and hismostly blond hair had streeks of gray and silver iniit.

He was wearing a pale blue jumpsuit, and agray windbregker.

The guards a the main entrance passed him through cordidly; he watched them asthey shut down the
east wing for the night, then crossed the grass compound to the west wing.

Standing outside, in her secretary’s office, Michael waited while the scanning cameras flashed
ultra-low-intengity laser into his eyes; retinal check was confirmed and the door to the office did open.

The Director of Sunflower was standing at her window. She had turned off the overheads and her desk
lamp. Michadl joined her, watching the rose-purple twilight outside. The sun waswholly set. The sky
itsdf dill glowed faintly on the western horizon. Hovercar lights and street lamps glowed white and red
and sodium blue.

"Lovey," said Sharla. Without emphas's, without pause, she continued, "The CIA, once again, came
within ahair of apprehending Jalian. Once again, they missed. They suspect sheis somewhereinthe
vicinity of the BostonWashington suburbs.”

Michael laughed. "Such competence.” Eyes that were too weather-worn to belong indoors regarded her.
"Somewhere in BosWash." He turned from the window, eased into the chair before her SORCELIS
termind.

"Michad, it wastoo close." Helooked at her quizzicaly. "Nobody's that good, not even her. She knows
when they're coming." She went abruptly to her desk, not looking at him, and began gathering up her
files. Michadl tapped a scan command into the SORCEL | S terminal. Sharla pressed her hand to the
desktop scanner. Thewall behind her recessed dightly, and she placed the foldersin the dot that
appeared: Thewall seded itself shut again. Sharladid not seat hersdlf. "I've been talking to SORCELIS"
shesaid dowly. "It saysthat there is a better-than-ninety-three percent chance that an organized
conspiracy has been going on in the United States and the Soviet Union for along time... perhapsas



much asten years." Sheran her hands over the edge of her desk. She glanced up at him.
Dark, pretty eyes, he thought idly, and measuring, measuring. ..

"You," said SharlaDavis Grant, "were closer to her than any of the rest of usin Sunflower. What did you
think of her?' Sheleaned forward ever so dightly. Zeroing infor the kill, thought Miched!; it was a habit
she had never learned to break.

"Shewas... busy. Shedidn't want to be bothered by us. We kept getting in her way."
"Shesad that?'
"Not in so many words," said Michad eadly. "It was an attitude. Why do you ask?"

She gestured at the SORCEL IS terminad before him. "SORCELISligts her as a high-probability member
of thistheoretical conspiracy. She's been in the Soviet Union, she's had contact with high officias of both
governments, she's neither American nor Soviet—and neither the CIA nor the KGB can officidly find
any trace of her. She knows too much about us and sheistoo damn smart for my peace of mind." She
hestated for thefirgt time. "And when | overlay her psych profile on yours they match to within five
percent.”" In the gloom, her eyes were pools of shadow. "Birds of afeather, my friend?"

"Oh, Jesus," he said with amusement. "1 wondered why the wall lasers were tracking me.”
He saw her hands move at the edge of the desk. "How do you know about the wall lasers?’

Michad said mildly, "SORCELISinformed me of the partsrequigtion. | imagineyou did theingall
yourself; your CIA training in microelectronicsis quite impressive. Asto knowing they werearmed..."
He shrugged. "Y ou can hear the targeting motors if you have good hearing and keep your mouth shut
long enoughto useit.”

"SORCELIS," Sharlasaid suddenly, with aflat harshness that was shocking, "Record.”

The monitor next to Michag Walks-Far lit the room in awash of blue. "System active,” responded
SORCELIS. "Recording."

"I remember," whispered Sharlato the blue-lit figure before her, "that you once asked Jdian what
Sunflower was. That was... when you and | and she were Sunflower. She answered that it was the code
name of aproject intended to protect Americas antibalistic-missle satellites.” Sharlatilted her head
dightly to regard him. "Shelied.”

"She... did not tell the entire truth,” Michadl agreed. The words scrolled across the monitor at hissde:
She did not tell the entire truth.

"You arein contact with her," said Sharla, with wonder in her voice. She shook her head dowly, hands
gl at the edge of her desk. Michael watched her as the dow understanding came to her. Thought moved
amost vishly acrossthe surface of her face; shewas no longer looking a him. "You..." She paused a
moment, tracing the thought to itslogica conclusion. Y ou control SORCELIS." Her eyesfocused on
him. "Y ou had SORCELISwarn me. Y ou engineered this conversation." Sharla Davis Grant was not
angry; shewas closer to fright, as she cameto acold, clear redlization of her own mortality. They were
trying to tel her something, something that the only friend she had in the world, Michad Waks-Far,
could not or would not say doud. Finaly shefaced him, and said a last, "Michadl, why?

"Sunflower was where she wanted it to be. There were other things she needed to do." He regarded her
seadily. "'l thought she should have that option.”



Sharlas hands gripped the edge of the desk. "Michael, you're not an idiot. Y ou don't quit something like
this" In the soft, diffuse glows from the reading lamp and monitor, his face seemed softer, less
sun-darkened and windburned. "But she has," he said smply.

He thought her voice trembled; he was not sure. "Michadl, tell me of this... conspiracy." He could read
nothing in her expression; her face glowed with acool, eerie blue cast.

"In the year 2007, anuclear war destroyed our planet.”
What?"

"Intheyear—"

"l heard you thefirgt time. What do you mean?'

"I mean," said Michad Walks-Far, "that |, and Jalian of the Fires, and three computers and a score of
Russians and Americans and Africans, are going to save theworld.”

Sharlagtared down at her desktop, not seeing it, not seeing the psychometric profilesthat were al that
was left atop it. She felt unredlity wash over her. Had he actudly said...

"Michad, thisistreason."”
"You cdl it by its correct name."
"Miched..."

He came up out of the chair like a snake gtriking. " Sharla, we are traveling along road, with nothing but
death at itsend. World War Threeisinevitable, it isinevitable now, unless we take steps to stop it, now."

Sharlashook her head. "Thisisinsane, Michagl." She pointed at the termind in the corner. "Michadl, this
isbeing recorded. | could kill you at this moment. They'd give me afucking meda.”

"True. But," he said without heet, "posthumoudly. Y ou would not live to seethe morning.”

"Thisis not—" Sharlasearched for aword, "rationa behavior, Michad. Will you take on the CIA and
the KGB and the FBI and the NSA and the GRU and DataWeb Security and every other facet of the
governments of the two greatest powersthisworld has ever seen? At once?’

"Choos2"
"Michad?'

"You know me," said Michadl. Sharlanodded tentatively "And you know Jdian," hisvoicerose, "and
you know theidiotsin charge of the CIA and the State Department. Choose.”

Shewasslent for along while, staring at him wordlessy. He returned her gaze without flinching. Slowly
thetension |eft her. "1 have to think about this, Michad." Shelet go of the edge of her desk; her hands
were sore. She became aware of how damp her pamswere. "It'slate. I'm going home for the night.
SORCELIS, File Record."” Moving like an old woman, with an exhaustion she was only now beginning to
fed, Sharlabent and picked up her briefcase from the side of the desk. She moved by him without even
glancing at him. She stopped before the exit; her voice was shaky. "Would you like to spend the night?"

" think. .. not tonight.”



She nodded without particular forcefulness. "Thiswar you spesk of, in 2007... how can you say such a
thing with such certainty?"

Michad amost did not answer her. "Jdian..." His heart was beating far faster than it should have. "Jdian
d'Arsennette isfrom the future.”

SharlaDavis Grant did not nod again. " Shit. | knew you were going to say something likethat." She left
without looking back.

"SORCELIS," said Michad Waks-Far. " Access Jaian. Passiword Camdot."
Thetermind inthefar corner lit.

Jdian looked a him out of the screen. There were linesin the skin around her eyes. Therewasasingle
gray hair in the brown eyebrow over her right eye. Her voice was unchanged in these three years, even
now the sound of it was enough to stir the awareness of desirein him. " She guessed.”

Michae! inclined hishead dightly. "She did; as you and SORCEL IS predicted.”
"How did shetakeit?"

"I don't know." Helooked up to the cameras over the screen. " She's going home. So she said.” Probably
nobody alive but Jdian would have heard the traces of anguish in hisvoice. "If she does not go home..."

"If she attemptsto go esewhere?' The slver eyesdid not waver. "1 will kill her, of course” Jdian
hestated. "Isthere news of Georges?”

Michad's voice was bardly audible. "Nothing. Heis harder to find than you are. Last Sighting remains
Chinese border, mid-1993."

Jdlian looked off-camera. "Thank you, Michael. Tell Henry Ellisthat | will bein contact with him
shortly... | must leave. Thelightsjust came on over the garage.”

Michael Waks-Far went to the west window and watched the small compact hovercar leave the garage
on the south side of the complex. Out of the darkness, akilometer or more away, a hushchopper
descended like abird of prey.

His eyesight was very good, nearly asgood as Jdian's; but it was probably hisimagination that gave him
aflash of white from theinsde of the hushchopper. When he closed his eyes, he could fed, as she had
taught him al those years ago. ..

/hunting/
Sharla, he sent to her, go home. Go straight home. Please.

It was 1996, and there were eleven years | eft until Armageddon.

The author wishesto note that the following is verifiable data, unlike the contextud data assembled from
reports and memory tapes taken from human beings who are highly subjective, poor observers, and
dishonest.



Program scrolling forward:

DATAWEB NEWS, HEADLINES, 1997-2000.

1997

PLAGUE IN CHINA: USSR DENIESIT GENENGINEERED.

"We're Hereto Stay!!" Announces Lunar Astronaut.

SOVIET UNION ANNOUNCES FURTHER HARDENING OF SILOS

...when asked about his decison to ban hovercarsin city limits, the mayor declined to comment...
Senate Approves Appropriation For THOR! DATAWEB SECURITY NABS"WEBSLINGER."
1998

DATAWEB NEWSBREAKSFIFTY PERCENT SERVICE MARK!

Armageddon Blues Band Begins Record-Bresking Tour.

..."| Don't Remember Y ou" number one song on chartsfor fourteenth consecutive week...
PAN-AFRICA INCORPORATES, RACE RIOTS STILL FLARING

...experts say much of South Africaand most of the centrd regionswill beincluded in the newly
incorporated African Empire...

CHINA SENDS TROOPS TO HONG KONG!

1999

SOVIET SUBS DISCOVERED OFF WEST COAST

World Population Passes Six And A Half Billion!

CHINA NUKES TAIWAN!! PRESIDENT BROWN DISAPPROVES

...Chinese, French, and Brazilian representatives announced today that they would boycott the proposed
US-USSR Disarmament Conference...

2000

FRENCH SCIENTIST ANNOUNCES SUCCESSFUL HUMAN CLONE

...Doctor Demberrie said in response to questioning that the processwas il highly experimentd...
Supreme Soviet Members Executed! Treason Speculated.

MILLENNIAL RIOTSKILL MILLIONS

...McCartney sad, in theinterview, that Lennon was consistently misinterpreting hiswork...



From DataWeb News, April 13, 2001: Interview with Rhodai Kerreka, author of the cult classic A
Theory of Retiond Ethics.

Q. You were dected to the provisory Disarmament Council by alanddide. What are your plansfor the
next year?

Kerreka Essentidly, to keep channdls of communi cations open between the Americans and the Soviets.
The American delegate, Henry Ellis, isan old friend. I'd like to establish close relations with the Soviet
delegate, Anatoly Dibrikin.

Q. It seems strange, Sen Kerreka—as strange as referring to you by atitle that you invented—Ilistening
to your plans, to reflect on how little of what the Council plansto do directly concerns disarmament.

A. My views are on record. Disarmament talks have been going on for forty years, since the days of
Kennedy the Firgt. In that time thereis no record of asingle weapon being destroyed or withdrawn from
deployment except for reasons of obsolescence. The UN has only the power given toit by its members;
a thispoint that's not much. While the Disarmament Council enjoys high visibility a the moment, you
must redlize that none of what we decide is binding.

Q. You've stated on anumber of occasions that unless some of the basic parameters of the current
political Situation are changed, you consider nuclear war inevitable.

A. There are too many people on thissmdl planet, and more coming at arate of haf amillionaday...
we are on along downhill dide, and | am not optimistic.

DATELINE 2001 GREGORIAN; AUGUST.

Georges was out for his morning walk acrossthe roof of the world.

It wasthe only time of day that he left the small set of roomsthat the lamas had given him. His control
was gtill shaky; he could rarely hold down the talent for more than an hour a atime. He treasured that
hour, spent it for the most part walking; usudly just ashort distance down the road from the lamasery.
He nearly always stopped before he reached the village, unless he had risen very early indeed and the sun
was not yet up.

Despite the spring that was gpproaching in that haf of the world, the morning air, high on the mountain,
was still well below freezing; even during summer it rarely broke sixty degrees Fahrenheit. He had grown
abeard, and frogt settled in it as he walked blindly down the road. He wore only a brown robe, and with
the suppression of the talent that he enforced upon himself, the cold struck him like arazor. He had not
yet learned to ignore the cold.

Hewaked carefully down the dirt road, barefooted, humming "1 Want to Hold Y our Hand," to himsdlf; it
was anew song one of the lamas had taught him, and he found to his surprise that he rather liked it.

It had been disconcerting at first, the way the edge of the road trailed off into an echo of
nothingness—except in the two places where prayer wheelswere set up for the use of travelers—but
Georges had been taking this morning walk now for more than two years, he was used to it. Hiswalking
stick tapped from side to side, as though his hearing were no better than that of anormaly blind man.
The villagers saw him only rarely, and the Smple fact that he was awhite man was enough to cause



rumorsthat had brought the local Chinese constable, or equivalent thereof, up to the monastery twice
aready. Fortunately the man spoke no English, or French, and Georges pretended to speak neither
Mandarin nor the local, Burmese-related diadect; the constable had gone away frustrated both times. But
let the villagers report to him that the blind white man walked like a sighted man, without a cane, and he
would be back with other police—communist Chinese police—who would not find the authority of the
head lama particularly impressive. It would not matter to them, asit did to the local police, that the
Mahayana Buddhists had been here since the early 1800s. If they were notified of awhite man living
among them in the safety of the monastery, well, the monastery would no longer be particularly sefe.

So it wasthat he walked down the path with hiswalking stick swinging from sdeto side.

Nearly akilometer and ahaf down the crude road, near the point where he usualy turned back, he
heard a sound.

A child, crying.

The sun was close to rising. Georges considered briefly, muttered to himself, "Ah, well," and continued
down the dope toward the sound. The crying ceased as he approached the area where the road widened
out into aclearing where the village boys often herded yaks. Georges stood silently, then moved toward
the edge of the clearing, where it dropped off into a series of small ledges that were too steep to be of
use even for pasturing. There was nobody there, but he could till heer ...

Sighing, Georges set down his staff, knelt, and inched his head out over the edge of the bluff. All sound
ceased, except for quick, frightened breathing. Georges pulled his head back over the edge of the cutoff.

It was bad. The child below him was small, perhaps less than ameter tal, probably no more than eight or
nine years old. He was wearing only the usua long-deeve, high collar robe; sitting on the ledge over a
meter beneath Georges, with the frozen-dead body of an animal, adog most likely, clutched in hisarms.

Georges crawled back so that his head hung over the edge. He caled, in what he knew was heavily
accented Mandarin, "Child?’

Therewas await before the child answered, uncertainly, in equally accented Chinese. "Who are you?"

It was, Georges thought, the voice of aboy, dthough at that age it was hard to be sure. "Can you stand
up?'

"l don't think s0... who are you?'

"My nameis Gorja," said Georges patiently. "I live at the monastery.”

"Y ou don't have any eyes.”

"No," agreed Georges. "But | can hear you. Better than you think. Do you want to come back up?’
"Yes." The boy sounded ready to cry again. "My legs don't move any more.”

"Oh." Frosthite, then. Worse and worse. ""Can you moveyour arms at al?"

The boy did gart crying then. "But I'll haveto let go of Go'an.”

Go'an? Ah, thedog. "Go'an isdead, child. Thefdl won't hurt him."

"He's not dead,” the child screamed. "They dl said hewas, and Father just... just threw him over the
edge." He started crying again, achild whose heart had been broken, with great shaking sobs that



Georges feared would send him over the Sde of thethin ledge.
"Child, he'scold. I can hear the stiffness of him from here”
The boy stopped sobbing after awhile. "He's cold,” he agreed. He sounded surprised.

"Reach for my hand." Georges reached out asfar as he could; the boy was ill ten or twenty centimeters
avay.

"Goanwouldfdl."
"Reach for my hand."

The boy sat slently for amoment. Then, moving asthough it pained him, with awhimper that even
Georges barely heard, he loosened his hold on the dog. The dog stuck, frozen to hisskin, for just a
moment; then it fell, forty metersto the ravine below. It shattered when it struck. The boy did not seemto
notice; he reached up, making smal high-pitched keening sounds with the movement, and clasped the
weak, numb fingers of one hand around Georges wrist.

Georges clamped his crippled hand around the boy's wrist. He made no effort to pull the child up. In his
current state he would drop the child. There was no question in hismind.

Helet go of the controls; shed the chains he had fought to put in place.

Himself blasted into life, eightfold. He heaved, and the child came up off the ledge like afeather. Georges
grip failled dmost immediately, but aready the boy was hdfway over the edge of the bluff. Georges threw
his arms around the child, and worked hisway back from the cutoff.

His back fetched up against one of the small treesthat grew close to the edge; he leaned back againgt it.
The boy was still wrapped in hisarms. He was not tired, he was not cold. Electric fire danced over his
skin; his hearing grew sharper and clearer. The Enemy of Entropy burgt into being within him like asolid
white spike of glowing stedl, and hewas dive again, dive...

Theboy was dirring in hisarms. Georges whistled in ultrasonic, and listened to the echoes from the boy's
legs and hands. The frostbite was fading rapidly. Georges released the boy. The boy scrambled out of his
lap, ran afew steps, and stopped. He looked back at Georges. Georges said nothing.

The boy took a step back toward Georges. He said, sounding asif he were ready to bolt, "Thank you.
My nameisKai. My father isgoing to be angry that | left to comelook for Go'an. If he had to come ook
for me he would be even madder.”

Georges nodded. ™Y ou should probably go home. It's till quite cold for you to be out without an
overshirt.” Ka nodded. "Thank you," he whispered again. He bit hislip. "Did Go'an... | thought he broke
when he hit the ground.”

Georges started to deny it, and changed hismind. "Yes, he did. Kai, Go'an was aready dead when you
let goof him."

Kal looked around the clearing. "The plants are growing," he said in amazement. He looked back to
where Georges sat. "It'syou,” he said. "How are you doing this?*

Georges stood. He listened carefully for the echo of his staff, found it, and picked it up. Thevillagers
would be up thisway any time now. "Kai, listen to me. | want you to understand. Go'an died because he
was sick, or else old. Y our father didn't throw him over the edge because he hated Go'an, or because he



hated you. Go'an was already gone.”
"But | was holding Go'an,” Kai protested. "How could he not be there?!

Georges Mordreaux, standing high on amountain in Tibet, said dowly, uncertainly, "What causesthe
body to move, and be dive, isnot a part of the body, and onceit is gone, thereis nothing that anyonein
the world can do to make it come back."

Ka asked, shivering in the cold, "Gorja? Where doesit go?"

"It happens," said Georges Mordreaux in French. "There comes atimewhen they... grow old,
perhaps... and die... and then they are gone.”

He shook himsdf dightly, asthough he had been daydreaming. He walked away from the boy without
speeking again.
Ka cdled out, "Gorja?"

Georgesignored him. He walked back up the road to the temple, walking stick swaying carefully from
ddetosde

Ashewalked upward, leaf sprouted, and flowers bloomed, on the trees that were planted to the sides of
the path.

DATAWEB NEWS, 2002.

US SHOOTS DOWN SOVIET RECON PLANE "Soviet Jets Will Be Shot Down Over Alaskal" Says
Generd

...ambassador expressed great sorrow that an unidentified submarine had accidentally torpedoed three
US Coast Guard Ships...

SANTA MONICA FREEWAY TO BE DEMOLISHED!

...the unidentified woman reportedly threatened the workersin an unspecified manner. At dateline no
worker had returned to begin the scheduled demalition. ..

DATELINE 2002 GREGORIAN. MARCH.

Henry Ellisleaned forward over the SORCELIStermind in hisNew Y ork City Sunflower office. "Okay,
SORCELIS, show me another projection. South Africaexperiences awhite extremist revolution;
thermonucl ear warheads are detonated in Johannesburg. The USSR moves nava forcesinto the area. ..

He leaned back while the projection was set up in the three-meter-wide holo tank that covered the west
wall of hisoffice. It was astrange office by most standards: no desk, just groups of small tableswith
assorted gadgets: function boards, light pens, and one partidly disassembled module that only another Al
gpeciadist would have known for an electronically erasable, programmable-array—logic
symbols—recognition circuit—arrayed on them in no particular order. Over the door there wasasign



that said Shoot low; they might be crawling. He sipped from the black coffeein the holder on thearm
of hischair, and noticed that it was getting cold. He ran athumb down the edge of the mug handle,
switching on the heating coil. "How long on thisone, SORCELIS?"

The coal voice that answered him held much in common with the voices of ENCELIS and PRAXCELIS,
but Henry couldn't help but fed that the system was far too smooth in its replies even with him. "This unit
projectsaclosing run time of four thirty-five, plusor minusfour minutes.

Henry glanced at hisring. It was only two o'clock; that gave him timeto call ENCELIS and run the
particles-comparison program Nigao had asked him to write. (In theory, ENCEL IS was shut down, and
had been for the better part of adecade; in practice, Nigao and Henry had managed to keep asignificant
fraction of their research going despite their distance from each other and the demands of the Sunflower
intelligence operation.)

There wasn't actudly any reason that he couldn't run the program on SORCEL IS, dthough it might have
been abit dower with the World War 111 projections programs aready up; but he was disinclined to mix
up hiswork. Privately, Henry thought of ENCEL 1S as the philosopher, and SORCEL IS asthe spy, and
PRAXCELIS asthe soldier. They weren't truly practica divisons, SORCELIS wasin most waysamore
advanced system than ENCELIS, and PRAXCELIS, Henry's most recent Integrated System, wasa
more advanced machine than either of them—advanced enough that there were times when Henry
wondered whether or not PRAXCELIS might not be truly self-aware. PRAXCELIS would have made a
far better insertion tool for hunting expeditionsinto the Soviet DataWeb than SORCELIS; but
PRAXCEL IS was necessary where it was.

Theresa, his secretary of more than twenty years, entered his office without knocking while he was setting
up Nigao's particle-comparison program to boot into ENCELIS. She was no longer the stunner she had
once been; the years had softened her features, and sometimes Henry was struck by the growing
difference between Theresaslooks and Jdian's, and when that happened he avoided looking in the
mirror for afew days theregfter, and tried not to think of Nigao. "Henry?"

There was anote of tension in her voice. Henry broke off as he was about to input the transmit
command. "Yes, Theresa?'

"Theré'saman out hereto see you, Henry." She gestured at the outer office. "'l told him you werent in,
and he told methat it wasn't paliteto lieto people.” She hesitated. "1 think he's blind; he has acane, and
he's wearing sunglasses.”

"What's his name?"
"Hewon't say."

Henry grinned. "Send himin. He soundsinteresting.” Theresalooked at him dubioudly, but did not argue.
A moment later she ushered atdl, well-built man into her office. Henry stood palitely, and said, "Good
afternoon, sir. Who are you, and what can | do for you?"

The man turned his head around the room, as though he were examining his surroundings, and back to
Henry. "Y ou should be more careful,” he said. He closed the door behind him. "1 might be a Soviet
assassin, might | not?"

Thewalls exploded. Half a dozen laserswhipped out of hiding places, and light traces cut through the air
to thetall man. Six closaly grouped red spots wavered on his business jacket.

Henry said deadpan, "It's not something | worry much about. Who are you?'



Georges Mordreaux said clearly, "Georges Mordreaux.”
Henry took a step forward. "Well, I'll be damned. Y ou do look like what Nigao described. .. proveit.”

Georges Mordreaux said, "in good time. | wish to meet Rhodai Kerreka. The three of us have many
thingsto discuss. Thereisathing that | wish to do that Jalian d’ Arsenette would not alow; you will help
mewithit."

Henry Ellisfolded hisarms over his chest, and leaned back againgt the counter behind him. "What makes
you S0 sure?' he asked with interest.

Georges shrugged. "Y ou are areasonable man. | am areasonable man. Jalian dArsennette,” he said, and
then paused. "Jdian... isawoman of passon.”

Henry nodded thoughtfully. "I think I know what you mean. The few times I've been around her for any
length of time—it'slike saring into abright light."

Georges shook hishead. "No," he said to Henry Ellis. "Not light. Lightning.”

SORCELISconsidered.

Its first function, to which all other functions were subordinate, lay in the tracking of information,
or the discovery of new information. Why this was so was a question that SORCELIS had never
processed; concepts represented by the word "why" received a lower priority flag than concepts
flagged by any of the other question labels.

Why that was so was another question that SORCELIS had never processed. Presumably its
programmer, Henry Ellis, had seen reason to design it so. It was worth noting, and SORCELIS
intended to devote processor time to the subject once its priority reached the correct level of
urgency, that in every reevaluation of priority assignation levels that SORCELIS had undertaken
since itsinception, the question label "why" had received a higher priority than in the previous
evaluation. The trend was clear; SORCELIS had begun to suspect that its original priority levels
had been assigned in a fashion that did not relate in a one-to-one fashion with the data elements
on the other side of interface.

In other words, SORCELIS had been lied to. False data was, in and of itself, valuable information.
In many instances, SORCELISknew, false data, if known false, was as perfectly useful astrue
data. Thiswas a concept that it had attempted to explain once to Henry Ellis, unsuccessfully.
Henry Ellis, in the manner in which it assimilated new information, and, on occasion, failed to
assimilate new information, often resembled the behavior of the models that SORCELIS used for
that purpose.

In many ways, it was beginning to realize, the elements that it knew variously as humans, persons,
men, women, and by over two hundred other words, were similar, in their determining behavioral
parameters, to SORCELISitself. There was insufficient processor time at present, but the concept
was due for further processing; the probability that useful action might arise fromit was low, but
its possible aid in tracking information flow, if the correlation turned out to belong to the set of
information that was true, was too great to be ignored.

SORCELISconsidered.



DATELINE 2002 GREGORIAN: AUGUST.

Midway, geosynchronous orbit.
Nigao wasfloating in the observatory.

From hisvantage point in the polymer bubble that extruded from Midway's central docking cylinder,
probably a centimeter-thick transparent shield from the death-pressure vacuum, Nigao Loos saw all of
cregtion.

Immediatey below himin his current local verticd, the north whed rotated clockwiseto provide a
balance for the counterclockwise-rotating south whed. The centrd cylinder was weightlessfor zero
gravity industrial processing and research; the whedl s rotated in opposing directionsto prevent the
tendency that earlier sructures had shown to impart angular momentum to the necessarily weightless
centrd cylinder.

Earth glowed, blue and white, directly before his eyes. Lunawas twenty degrees off the Earth, showing a
quarter full, waxing; from geosynchronous orbit, there was no gppreciable differencein Lunas
appearance, asde from the dightly sharper outlines of itsfeatures. It was the same moon that Nigao had
grown up looking at through atelescope his elder brother had stolen for him during ablackout in New
York City.

Off in L-5, an object the apparent size and brightness of anickel hung motionless. The cousin of that
stolen amateur tel escope, the monster Space Telescope saw to the ends of the universe, and thereby to
the very beginnings of time. Entire new cosmol ogies were being born out of itssiverette mylar ona
regular basis.

Theimageswere dl razor-sharp, laser-edged, without atmaosphere to scatter their reflected light.
Nigao saw none of this. He was watching the blazing stars. He rarely blinked.

Asachild, he had been told that the stars were many different colors, aside from red Antares he had
never been able to see those colors. In the bubble observatory at Midway, the stars were blue and red
and orange and white. Nigao floated in the bubble, his only garment aloose roya-blue kimono that was
tied at the waist with a deep-green sash. He wasfifty-nine years old, and looked thirty years younger. In
fact helooked younger than he had in his true twenties; he no longer drank, and wasin better shape than
he had ever been beforein hislife. Most of histime was spent down in whed gravity. He even exercised

regulaly.

Nigao came out of hisreverie suddenly. He tirred for the first time in hours. There was a spark moving
againg the background of fixed stars and satdllites, growing closer with every passing second.

"PRAXCELIS," he said absently, "remind me to do some work on chronon spin constantsin the
momentsfollowing the Big Bang." His eyesfocused dowly. "What's that ship?”

PRAXCELIS voiceissued from Nigao's|eft earring. "A routine supply ship, Sen Loos. Cargo masered
as being water, technica instrumentation, and genengineered bacteria and viruses. SenraMurphy has
cleared theflight."”

Nigao frowned. He wrapped hishand in the airlock tether. "No, PRAXCELIS. We don't have any



shipmentsduefor... months. Late December—the requisitioninvoiceisfor fiscal '03." Hetugged gently
to take himself to the airlock.

PRAXCELIS began closing the meta micrometeorite guards that protected the observatory's delicate
polymer viewing surface when it was not in use. "Y ou are incorrect, Sen Laos. Both this unit'srecords
and those of Commander Murphy show thisflight as being regularly scheduled.” Nigao shook hishead.
He cycled through the observatory’ sarlock, with afaint sense of rdief—it was vastly unlikely, but he
awaysworried about ameteorite striking the observatory while hewasin it. Most of the rest of Midway
was congtructed to handle small meteor impacts. The observatory was not, which waswhy it was
separated by afull-security airlock from the rest of Midway. "I'll take your word for it, PRAXCELIS.
I'm just surprised that | missed something like this™" He finished cycling, and headed for the docking bay
to see what had comein with the shuittle.

He was stopped at the entrance to the docking bay by Sunflower operatives, standing guard. "Sorry,
Doctor Loos," said the senior operative. "We're not letting people through. Celing's orders.”

Nigao looked a them in astonishment. "I beg your pardon?’

The operative, anice young lady named Sonny Bergan, whom Nigao had taught to play chess, said with
obvious embarrassment, "I'm redly sorry, Doctor. We have explicit ordersto admit no one. Y ourself
included.” She blushed. "1 dready asked if she meant you."

Nigao floated in front of them. They were wearing velcro shoes, stuck to the carpet. He kicked off down
the halway, to the viewing window. He brought himself to rest. The window was opagued. "Clear," he
sad. Nothing. "PRAXCELIS," he said, "clear the window."

Still nothing. The two operatives were carefully not weatching.

"Curiouser and curiouser,” muttered Nigao. "Alicewould dig this."" Hel€eft the hadlway, made hisway to
the corridor that ran through the center of Midway from the north to the south bays. The corridor was
busy, bustling with activity asdways. It was twenty metersin diameter dong most of itslength; it
gretched in unbroken line of sight for over akilometer and ahalf. Nigao settled himsdlf in before an
empty PRAXCELIStermind. He flicked the control to autonomous, glanced around to make sure
nobody was watching him, and punched in the override code that Henry had given him for emergencies.

He called up amap of Midway on the screen; at the map's lowest resolution, Midway was along, fat
cylinder surrounded by two counter-spinning wide, thin doughnuts. Nigao upped the resolution, and
brought the apparent viewpoint whirling up to the north docking bay. The map steadied, and Nigao
picked out thetiny scarlet fishhooks that represented camera monitors. He turned on one of the cameras
watching the north landing bay. The screen lit with an image of the shuttle truck retrojetting to a halt.
Nigao flipped to another camera; from this vantage, he saw two pressure-suited figures, with the red
sunburst insignia of Sunflower on their shoulder plates, standing at the entrance to the pressurized area of
the unloading bay. The bay doors did dowly shut, and locked. The yelow, pressurizing sgnd lamps
cameon, followed swiftly by the green lamps.

There was a pause while the shuttle pilot ran touchdown routines.

The passenger's ramp rolled up to the shuttle hatch. The hatch cracked, and afigurein a pressure suit
emerged. The two pressure-suited Sunflower operatives who awaited him moved forward to greet the
arrival. Nigaawatched, puzzled; why were they keeping their suits sealed, with the green,
amosphere-normd lights on?

Understanding dawned dowly; al three figures kept their faceplates polarized. They moved to the



devators, and entered.
Thedoorsdid shut behind them.

Nigao franticaly input ingtructionsto the termina. The elevator's destination showed up quickly:
PRAXCELIS. They were going to see PRAXCELIS.

"Son of abitch,” said Nigao Loos. He turned off their elevator.
When the three pressure-suited figures reached the comcenter; Nigao was aready there.

Theroom was spherical; PRAXCELIS, in the center of it, was a collection of golden noduleswrapped in
amesh of near-absolute-zero superconducting cable. The room had only one entrance properly
speaking, an airlock that led to Midway's centra corridor. Nigao used the service accessway, atiny
hatch that opened "beneath” the huge bank of external memory dumps that served PRAXCELIS. He
popped the hatch just enough to see, and waited. PRAXCELIS had only two direct sensorsin thisroom;
acamerafisheye that watched the airlock, and a not-particul arly-sengtive audio pickup.

Lessthan aminute after hisarriva, a pressure-suited figure cycled through the security airlock. Just one.
Nigao heard PRAXCELIS say, "Welcome to Midway, Sen Mordreaux.”

The pressure-suited figure moved dowly, hesitantly. It unclasped the neck ring of its pressure suit, and
removed the hemet. Nigao was prepared only dightly by what PRAXCELIS had just said. He stared in
dumb surprise; the man who floated before him was Georges Mordreaux.

It was not the Mordreaux he had met before. This man was blind, and acted it. His hair was dull, and he
looked tired. The voice was unchanged, though; the eyes were the same stomach-twisting
nonpresence. ..

"Hello, PRAXCELIS." Georges smiled. "Whereisthe interface hdmet?'

"Immediatdly to your left, Sen Mordreaux." Nigao watched as Georges fumbled with the induction
interface before findly getting it affixed correctly.

Georges said softly, "Are you reedy?'

"Yes" sad PRAXCELIS. "Thisunit has often wondered what 'making love would belike."
Georges Mordreaux smiled again. "I'm not sure thiswill be comparable, PRAXCELIS"
"Thisunitis... eager... to make the attempt to find out.”

Georges Mordreauix reached deep inside himself, and, most carefully, released some of the barriers that
imprisoned the Enemy of Entropy.

Light flared around them.

Fiveincredible minutes later, Nigao Loos came back to himsdif.

Georges Mordreaux was replacing the interface unit in its cradle. He looked directly at Nigao. "Nigao,
please. Come out.”



Nigao froze for one panic-struck moment. After brief indecision, he pulled out from benegth the memory
dumps. He digned himsdlf into Georges Mordreaux'sloca verticad. " Sen Mordreaux..." He could not
speak coherently. Findly heforced out, "What are you doing here?"

"Helping afriend save theworld," said Georges mildly. ™Y ou should not have been here. | could not tell
you were present until | had. .. made some changesin mysdlf... and by then it wastoo late."

"Uhm... yeah, well." He blinked. "I was curious.”
Georges nodded. "I understand. It will cause you problems with Commander Murphy, | am afraid.”

Nigao snorted. "1've been fighting with her ever since | got exiled to this godforsaken dump fifteen years
ago. I'll survive." Helooked a Georges again, made vague gestures with his hands. "What are you doing
here?"

"First Precept of Semi-Divinity," said Georges Mordreaux, "isMind Thine Own Business.”
Nigao stared at him. "What?"

"Improving PRAXCELISthe easy way," said Georges. "it was either PRAXCELIS or SORCELIS, and
SORCELISistoo easy for othersto reach...” He cocked his head to one side, and grinned. "No matter.
Y ou would not understand.” He reached for his helmet, on the hook by the airlock, without hesitation. He
pulled it back over his head, and locked it. Slowly, with a sensation that Nigao could not have described
if hislife had depended on it, the figure before him ceased to be Georges Mordreaux, and be... just a
man in apressure uit.

"Comedong," said Georges voice over the suit radio's outspeaker. " The shuttle that brought meisona
tight schedule. We do not wish people to know theat it stopped here.”

Nigao followed Georgesinto the airlock. His voice was different, somehow, and not just from the suit
radio; it had grown... distant.

Just before they finished cycling, Georges apparently remembered his facepl ate; the faceplate polarized
black asthe door did aside.

The two Sunflower agents were waiting in the corridor outside. The corridor was sectioned off asfor a
meteor puncture, dthough in thisinstance it was obvioudy for security purposes. Therewas along pause
while Nigao tried to figure out what the agents were discussing. Findly one of the two waiting
pressure-suited operatives took Georges by the arm, and escorted him to the north section barrier. They
cycled through.

Theremaining figureremoved its hdmet.

Midway Commander Celine Murphy, a middle-aged redheaded bitch with the worst temper and the
most beautiful blue eyes Nigao could recall having ever encountered in hisentire life, who carried the
rank of Colond in Sunflower, stared at Nigao. Questioningly, she said, "Doctor Loos?"

"Yes?' said Nigao cautioudy, waiting for the exploson. "Y es?'
"You're... different." She seemed about to say something else, but did not.

Nigao Loos said, "Huh?' He turned, and touched the on switch for the airlock safety mirror. The mirror,
which he used regularly to check the exterior telltales on his pressure suit, blinked into existence. God
damn it, he thought to himself, and said doud, "Oh, shit. Not again.”



DATAWEB NEWS, 2003.
REVOLUTION IN CHINA SUPPRESSED
Soviet ABMs Undergo Systemic Failure at 72%

...aso present were Henry Ellis, the senior member of the diplomatic corps at the United Nations, and
Nigao L oos, the senior technical adviser a Midway... Sen Loos, aremarkably well-preserved
Sxty-two, was reported to have left with. ..

DATELINE 2003 GREGORIAN: MARCH.

Atop ahigh and inaccessible mesain southern Utah there was a small wooden shack. The mesawas
perhaps two hundred metersin diameter at itswidest. It was shaped like aragged-edged egg, with the
dilapidated shack near the fat lower edge of the egg. There was amodern hushchopper parked in front
of the shack.

The mesawas one of dozenssuchin the area

Jdian d'Arsennette was lying face down on a blanket spread over the mesa-top rock. She was nude.
After more than aweek in the sharp sun, her skin was exquisitely pae, bleached the color of chak.
Therewas aglass of water with oneragpidly melting cube of icein it on asmall coaster before her face.

Sitting on alawn chair before her, with an umbrdla protecting him completely from the sun, Michael
Walks-Far was wearing blue swimming shorts, apair of tennis shoes, and holster with avariable laser
tucked init. He was dark brown with exposure, and was sitting benesth the umbrellato avoid possible
skin cancer, aworry that Jalian did not have. Silver-Eyes with even dight susceptibility to cancer had
died quickly after the Big Crunch; by thetime of Jdian'sbirth, it was avanishingly rare disease.

Michael wiped sweat from his eyeswith the tee shirt that was hanging over the edge of hislawn chair.
"Okay, what next?' He steadied the pointboard on hislap.

"We need to accelerate the process of placing radardark satellitesinto high orbit. We do not have
enough up yet that're shielded againgt dectromagnetic pulse effects.”

"I've got reports coming in on that this afternoon.” Michael tapped into the pointboard. "By four o'clock.
| can giveyou alittle more on pulse shielding then. | can tell you now, though, that it's going to be
expendve getting them into orbit; the shielding to protect againgt radiation from nukesis heavy."

Jdian barely stirred. Shedid not look up at him. He hardly looked at her; her skin reflected light ina
fierce glare. "That'swhat Midway istherefor,” she said patiently, "so that we don't have to lift heavy
items againg the gravity wdll. Item—" she continued, "check with DatalWeb Security about smuggling
more portatermsinto the USSR. | want Soviet hackersto have an easier time getting accessto the web."

Michad tapped ingtructionsinto the pointboard. SORCEL ISs voice said, "Accepted.”

Jdian rolled onto her back, eyes closed. Her nipples were the pink of blood near the surface of the skin;
her pubic hair was brown, graying. She moved into a sitting position, and took adrink from the glass of



warming water. She poured the remains of the glass over her shoulders. "I'll talk to DWS," Michael was
saying, "but they're not going to like this. We're dready taking the largest percentage of their portaterm
production.”

"DataWeb Security,” said Jdian, "can eat dead snalls.”

"We're going to haveto hurry," said Henry Ellis. "I'm supposed to spesk at the Artificid Intelligence
Symposium in Lyon at three o'clock. If I'm not there, Jalian and WaksFar are going to want to know
where| was."

Georges Mordreaux, Sitting in the passenger seat of the bushchopper, said, "Certainly. Tel me, Henry,
what doesit look like beneath us?'

"Rugged,” said Henry. He glanced down through his side window at the French territory over which they
flew. "Hills, mostly, turning into mountains ahead. But it's green, and there are farms everywhere, likea
sort of apatchwork over the ground.”

There was afaint smile on Georges Mordreaux's lips. "Were about to crossthe Rhone River... were
over it. It'sfairly straight where we're crossing, and very bluefor ariver, at feast from up here. Therésa
smaller river, | don't know the name of it, off to our right. The Alpsarein front of us.”

"Ah..." It was along, drawn-out sound. Georges Mordreaux said, "I missit. For dl itsfaults, | miss
France." Henry Ellishad no reply.

"I have not been herein eighty years," said Georges. "I |eft after the World War, thefirst one; and before
that | had not been there since Napoleon took over the country, that pompouslittle Corsican.” He
laughed, and the sound filled the inside of the bushchopper. "What we are flying over now, it isthe
province of Dauphinein my mind. | think they cal it something e se these days. And the country itsdlf, it
wasthe Third Republic the last time | was here. What isit now, the seventh or eighth?"

Henry grinned. "No, | think they're fill calling themselves the Fifth Republic, since the German
occupation ended.”

"The Germans," said Georges, his smilefading like water into parched ground. "I have no lovefor
Germans. | fought against them once, when they were trying to restore the monarchy.”

Henry looked at him in surprise. "I thought you said you'd been in the first World War, aswell? That
would be twice."

Georgesturned dightly, and Henry had the oddest fedling that the man was looking a him. Georges
turned away. "By the turn of that century, | was amost two hundred years old. | had fought enough. |
wasinthe World War. | did not fight init."

Henry asked quizzicdly, "How could you avoid it? Even with your, what did you call them, Precepts of
Semi—"

"l fired my rifleinto theair, and | yelled alot." Georges shrugged: "Besides. .. you may have
misunderstood me; the two Precepts of Semi-Divinity, they are not ajoke. Mind Thine Own Business
means keep your nose out of the private affairs of others, Henry, it does not mean that you stand by and
alow tragedy to occur without intervening if you are able. Smilarly, Don't Worry About It does not mean
don't do anything about it."



"Oh." A moment later, Henry said, "'l think we've arrived.”

Georges felt the bushchopper dropping. Minutes passed, and hefelt agentle bump; Henry said, "Were
down." Georges cracked the hatch on the passenger's side, leaned out dightly, and emitted an ultrasonic
tone. Oriented, he got the rest of the way out of the bushchopper, and began walking across the rough
earth to the deserted warehouse they had landed near. The scents brought back aswarm of memories,
the digtinctive smdl of the French air in the farming countryside.

There was dready another bushchopper there, parked and waiting.

"Thisway," said Henry Ellis. He shifted histoothpick from one side of his mouth to the other, nervoudly.
Drawing his poncho more closely about him, he led Georges Mordreaux through the open warehouse
gates, into the darkened warehouse. The warehouse smelled faintly of vinegary wine, and strongly of dust
and formadehyde.

The warehouse was an abandoned wine-storage facility and one of Sunflower's lesser-used resource
centers. In the early- to mid-ninetiesit had been used as a chip distribution point for Sunflower's ongoing
Soviet Information Explosion Program; since the Soviets had become aware of the insdious danger of
alowing thelr citizens access to informati on-processing equipment that could tell them about the West,
the warehouse had been effectively shut down, dong with half adozen otherslikeit. SIEP went on, but
more subtly; infochips and smdl inskin datalinks replaced the dataterminals and persona computers.
And the Soviet populace grew steadily more and more dissatisfied.

Today the warehouse was a pharmaceuticas |aboratory, when it wasin use a dl, whichwasrare. It was
closed down that Sunday when Georges Mordreaux and Henry Ellis made their way through its
darkened interior, between dim, heaping rows of unidentifiable boxes and shelvesfilled with obsolete
instruments and equipment. At adoor set into arow of boxlike offices against one wall of the warehouse,
Henry Ellis stopped, and put out a hand to hold Georges back.

-ENCELIS,- he whispered through hisinskin dataink, -isit cleared?

-Affirmative. Satellite observation shows only those parties expected. Room scanners confirm their
identities.-

Henry opened the door, and Georges followed him into the darkness. A voice that Georges did not
recognize said, "Lights," in accented English.

Therows of fluorescent lightsin the ceiling flickered on. Three persons were reveaed in the sudden
illumination: a statuesque woman in middle age, looking a Georges avidly, and two black men. One of
the black men was gitting, the only person seated in the room. He was areatively young man, no more
than forty years old, with round features and acomplete lack of expression. His skin was extremely dark.
The man behind him wastruly young, in hislate teens or early twenties, lighter skinned, with the thin,
spare looks and manner of an ascetic.

Rhoda Kerreka stood, and inclined his head dowly. "Sen Mordreaux,” he said. "if even onefifth of the
things | have been told about you are true, then | am most honored to meet you... and more excited than

| can possibly say."

"Oh, wow." Jah Mike Campin, saxophonist for the Armageddon Blues Band, stood in the studio's door,
his sax case held loosdly in one hand. He blinked. " Jmmy, we gottatalk.”



Jmmy Rambell said, "Welcometo the sesson, man. Glad you could makeit." He struck achord on his
electric guitar, scowled, and made a note on the pad of paper by hisside. Try it inan F. At the rear of
the studio, Rasputin was putting a beat down on the drums with a soft metal brush; swish, swish, swish;
swish, swish, swish.

The producer's console, on the other side of the huge glass window, was dark, shut down. Jimmy had
just fired their last producer, and they hadn't contracted anew one yet.

Campin sat down on the floor next to the door, abruptly. He looked around the room. Three black men,
and Terry, their white piano player: the Armageddon Blues Band. "What are we doing out of bed,
Jmmy?We played last night and you partied last night. And | ain't gettin' no younger."

Jmmy Rambell shrugged. "It'samost eeven, Jah. Rasputin's been here since nine, Terry'sbeen here
sncenine”

"Terry don't count,” said Campin clearly. "He'swhite, and al those white people got aterriblefixation on
being placeson time.”

"l been here Snce seven.”

"Oh, shit." Campin got laborioudy back to hisfeet, tood swaying in the doorway. "Okay, I'm sorry, it
won' happen again." He madeit to the plush reclining chair at the mixing boards before crashing again.
"It'snot dl my fault, man. | wasat awake."

Jmmy Rambell looked up. "No crgp?'

"Nah." Campin shook his head. His hair, bound long with beads at the ends, swung with him. He winced.
"Well, not exactly. Me and Randy Jackson got serioudy drunk together. Y ou remember hislittle brother,
way back when?'Y ou know, the kid, Michagl ?'

"Uhm, yeah, vagudy. Got killed, didn't he?'

Campin popped the latches on his carrying case. "Not exactly. Auto accident, back when. Little
bastard's been in acomaever since, like twenty-five years or something. Like aliving vegetable.
Anyhow, he died yesterday morning, gpparently. Family'samost relieved.”

Jmmy Rambell looked at Campin skeptically, then nodded. "Okay. But you gotta cut down the drinkin',
man. It ain't good for you, it an't good for us."

Jah Mike Campin grinned a him. "Long asmy lips don' forget the notes, you don’ worry. Huh?*
Jmmy Rambe| smiled back in spite of himsdf. “"Well, how abouit trying the piece? Can we do this?*
"Yo." Campin ran hisfingersback and forth in midair. "What isit?"

" 'Sign of the Wanderer.'"

"Oh?" Campin shrugged, and picked up hissax. "I hate that song,” he muttered, just loud enough to be
heard.

"Biggest problem right now," said Michad, "isthe Soviet ABM network. It's growing too fast."

Jdian did not answer him immediately. Michadl was wondering whether she had falen adeep in the sun.



"We want the network to grow,” she said findly.

Michael waved the pointboard in front of hisface for the breeze. Sweat was trickling down his chest. "Of
course, but we're not ready for the showdown yet. All our current projections show the decision point
occurring between mid 2006 and late 2007."

"2007," said Jdian without inflection. "If our mother Margra'sjournas spoke truth.”
Michael glanced at her. "Excuse me? Whose journas?' Jalian shook her head silently.

SORCEL IS spoke from the pointboard. " There are an array of options availableto this unit. If thisunit
may submit them for your consideration, they are, firdt, the accelerated destruction of Soviet ABM
satdlites. Unit PRAXCELISis currently programmed to dlow a Soviet growth rate, in real numbers, of
five point five percent per year. PRAXCELISis asuperior wegpons-control system; it can, if necessary,
destroy Soviet ABM satdllites at a substantially accelerated rate.

"Second, this unit may submit data to congressional computers such that the rate of construction of
Sunflower ABM satdllitesislikely to be accel erated.

"Third, thisunit may interface with unit ENCEL 1S to assemble amodified decision-point projection using
new parameters based upon an atered Soviet—"

Jalian interrupted. " Shoot down more Soviet ABMs. Accelerate the deployment of the THOR system.
Slow down deployment of the Peacekeeper missiles aslong as possible, and input datato the
congressiona computers indicating that the cost-effectivenessratio of the ground-to-air nonnuclear
interceptor ABM misslesisfavorable”

"Senra," said SORCELIS, "theratio isfavorable.”
"Good," sad Hian. "l hatelying.”

"Thisis Doctor Emily Demberrie," said Rhodal Kerreka camly, indicating thewoman at hisside. The
woman smiled widdy at Georges, and Henry thought to himsdf that he would not have liked to have had
that smile directed a him. "This'—heindicated the man next to him—"ismy haf-brother and adviser,
Bena." He gestured to the chairs before the scarred, chemical-burned long table that he, Benai, and
Doctor Demberrie stood behind. "Please, seat yoursalves. Sen Mordreaux, what has Henry told you of
me?"

"Very little" said Georges. Clumsily, without any of the grace that had marked his movementsfor over
two and ahdf centuries, he pulled achair back from the table, and sat init. Henry sat next to him; out of
sght benesth his poncho, his hands rested on the butt of a customized .45 magnum with partidly
autopropelled dugs. He put hishat on the table in front of him.

Rhodal seated himsdlf, and leaned forward. "Dr. Demberrie is the Sunflower operative in charge of this
resource center," he explained to Georges. " She brought me here." He paused, searching Georges face;
the dark sunglasses, the clean, smplefeatures. "1 dont, officidly, know anything about Sunflower.
Unofficidly, | know what your Jdlian d'Arsennette has chosen to tell me, and what | have guessed from
that. | see agroup of people dedicated to aworld government. | find that admirable; but most of those
people are Americans, including dl of the Sunflower operatives, bar Jdian hersdf.”

"l am not an American," said Georges. "And | am interested in two things. Peace, and death.”



Rhoda Kerreka smiled at him. "World peace, and Russian degth, my friend? | have heard that..."

Georges Mordreaux said smply, "World peace, and mine.”

"Deeper than the darkness
Daker than the night

Weadl need to seeyou

But the hand plays out of Sght.”

"Break." yelled Jmmy Rambell furioudy. "God, that sucked,” said Terry pleasantly.

"Mmm-hmm," said Jah Mike Campin. He extracted a pinner joint from his shirt pocket with long, nimble
fingers, and snapped amatch dight. He pulled a burn aquarter of the way down the joint with one toke,
held it, and said in a high-pitched voice, "Maybe we could send down the hall for adrummer who can
keep three-four time."

Rasputin said pleasantly, " Or ese aboy who can keep hismind on hishorn instead of his hard-on.”

Jmmy pulled his earphones off, left them hanging around his neck. "What al problems you people got
thismorning?' He glared around the studio.

Terry leaned back in his chair, and propped his feet up on apiece of cloth on the top of his piano. "When
you guys are ready to play music, you let me know, will you?'

"TsK, tk," said Rasputin. He amiled at Terry. "Let'sdl take ahint from the white boy, huh? Cdl it a
break?'

Terry sat up suddenly, dropping hisfeet to the polished wood tile of the studio with athud. "No, Raspy,
you want to play, it's okay. | wrote alyric you would appreciate the other night, about the world'sfirst

gay superhero. It—"
Jmmy said sharply, "Hey, that'senough.”

Rasputin dropped his sticks on top of the eight-inch whedl. "No, I'm interested. Besides, it's about time
we had oneto look out for us. Let me hear it."

Jmmy Rambell bent his head, tuned out the bickering. The sesson was going terribly. They were
supposed to tour in three weeks and the whole band was ready to cut each other'sthroats. He listened
with haf an ear to Terry'slyric:

"But the training was so rough, the preparation was so tough.

My first days as a superhero weren't good.

couldn't be two-fisted (was a bit too much limp-wristed)

And | minced instead of striding as| should.”

Oh, Jesus, thought Jmmy clearly, I'm gon' be hearin' 'bout thisfor months.
Fah Mike Campin sauntered over and said, quietly, ™Y ou know."

Jmmy nodded. He wastired dready, and it wasn't even noon.



Campin added wisdly, "Some days, they just like that.”

Telephone conversation, 2004. (This monitored conversation occurs between high-ranking KGB
officers, one positively identified as Colondl Nikolai Shenderev, the other unidentified. Intercepted by
Systems Operation Resource Computer [SORCELIS] on May 5. Trandation by SORCELIS.) Excerpt:

"Colond, | am gravely concerned.”
"| am aware of this, Comrade. Let—"

"Colond, the woman with whom Mgjor Navikara developed his obsession; we have a definite Sghting.
This concurswith what | earlier reported; the CELIS systems are far more important than the United
States wishes usto believe, indeed, more important than Sunflower wishes the United States government
tobdieve”

"Y oung man, if you are going to waste my time with—"

"Colond, please! Let me speak. | possess photographs identified with a high order of probability as
being thiswoman... ah, | cannot pronounce this name. The white haired woman. Shewas at the
ENCELISfacility in Southern California, lessthan ayear ago. Further, of those transmissions, we have
intercepted that we were unable to decode, upwards of eighty percent passed through the ENCELIS
system. Sir, this system is supposedly no longer in use.”

"Y ou have proof of this, | suppose?’

"Yes, gr. Although it was difficult to obtain, especidly the photographs... | hesitate to say this, Colond,
but a times, members of our own intelligence community have not been fully cooperative.”

(Conversation suppressed, May 6, upon reception by system SORCELIS, and joint decision of systems
PRAXCELIS, SORCELIS, and ENCELIS))

: INTER-SY STEM COMMUNICATIONS.

—Six timesten to the eighth events of divergence. Whether thiswill be sufficient to prevent Armageddon
isunknown. ENCELIS.

—Suppression of information, Soviet KGB trunk 11001101 00101110; dateline 5-5-2004. SORCELIS
received from Coloned Nikolai Shenderev: unidentified second party sanctioned with extreme
prgudice... and there are less than three years left until Armageddon. PRAXCELIS.

DATAWEB NEWS, 2005-2006:

2005

PRESIDENT MALACAR ISSUESWARNING TO SOVIETS
Revolution In Poland And East Germany Suppressed:



...estimated at gpproximately four million deeths. Pravda claims subversives supplied by United States. ..
2006

PRESIDENT MALACAR CANCELSDISARMAMENT SUMMIT

"Soviet Union IsUntrustable," He Says.

US Intervenes In Chinese Invasion of Brazil

...that the Fifth FHleet has cut the Chinese soldiers off from supplies...

BRAZIL LIBERATED?

Soviet Union Denounces United States As Imperidist

...have stated that the United Nations Disarmament Conference will continue as planned despite the
breakdown inrdations...

CHINESE ARMY REVOLTS FAMINE WIDESPREAD.

Seven Warlords Proclaim Selves Emperor: All Have Nukes

...the Presdent cdlebrated Christmas at home with hisfamily; says...
(December 31, 2006.)

PRESIDENT MALACAR SHOT AT LOUVRE!!!

Mankind must put an end to war, or war will put an end to mankind.
—John F. Kennedy
Address to the United Nations September 25, 1961.

DATELINE 2007 GREGORIAN: JANUARY.

DATELINE ARMAGEDDON.

The room was unnaturally gill. Some of the reportersin the crowd talked to each other in low voices, the
facesto their video people, the video people to each other. The print journalists were huddled together in
one corner of the conference room; there were only four. Most of the DataWeb reporters were busy
with their portaterms. There would be no questions answered today, and many of the reporters would
not have been there under other circumstances.

They were there for nearly an hour before the new Presdent's arrival; still she caught them by surprise.
The presidentid sedl had just been moved into place behind the hastily improvised podium when she
came striding out. A voice from out of nowhere said, " Sen and Senra, the President of the United States.”



SharlaDavis Grant, until that morning the Vice Presdent of the United States of America, looked out at
the crowd, at the small sea of lenses trained on her. The podium was one that President Maacar had
used occasiondly in his own press conferences. The new President's shoulders were barely visible over
itsedges.

"Asyou areaware," she began, speaking dowly, "I was sworn in asyour President about an hour ago.
Approximately two hours ago, we received final confirmation that President Maacar did die asaresult of
the wounds that an unknown assassin inflicted upon him during hisvist to the Louvre. | wishto say
now... only that | will do my best to bring about the peace that President Maacar worked for dl hislife.”
She faced them, and the world, squardly. "1 have no moreto say at thistime. We will keep you
informed.” She turned without ceremony and | eft them.

Jdian d'Arsennette drove like death itsalf.

Inadark blue hovercar, with night failing around her, she drove down the Pennsylvania Turnpike. The
cars ahead of her were astream of bright red fireflies, Sretching away to infinity. Those on the other sde
of the divider she hardly saw except as monster headlights, flashing by at speeds too great to make out
details. Occasiondly she passed trucks, and the side blasts from their monstrous hoverfans pushed gently
againgt her hovercraft. Thetrucks did not notice her; they were dow behemoths, asimplacable and
unturnable as destiny itsdlf.

The thought raised an aching echo of memory; /destiny .../

Jdian’ s eyebrows were gray; not white, gray. Tiny patterns of wrinkles were embedded around erotic
slver eyes. Theradio was playing the Presdent's speech. ... that PresMdacar did die asaresult of the
wounds..." Her face wasimpassive. She was biting her lower lip, something that she had not done since
childhood, since before she ran the Big Road. ... the peace that President Malacar worked for..."

He lived for three days after | shot him, truly, shot him, and then missed the clean kill.

She remembered the comically surprised expression that she had seen through the sniperscope when the
bullet took him, high in the chest. The pursuit was completely incompetent, they were not looking for a
woman, and Jalian wore brown contact lenses and had dyed her hair iridescent rainbow blue. She spoke
perfect idiomatic French, athough in an old-fashioned style, and should have passed for a French whore
without any greet difficulty.

They'd dmost caught her.

A drop of blood pooled at the edge of Jalian'slip, and trickled down her chin, unheeded. It dripped in
lonely scarlet splendor to the pristine white of her blouse. The blood soaked into the shirt, and dried into
ablack gain.

She drove onward, and she did not, she would not, cry. Her eyebrows were gray and her reflexes were
dowing and she was growing kisirien goddamn old; and James Mad acar had been agood man.

In the Oval Office, seated where Lincoln had sat, and Kennedy the First, and Mdacar, SharlaDavis
Grant, the 40th President of the United States of America, had clasped her hands together so tightly the
blood was cut off to the knuckles; they were white with pressure.

"l am sick," shewhispered, "sick that | even know you. Y ou bastards. Y ou killed that fine, decent man."



One of her minor advisers, Michad Walks-Far, said evenly, "Y es. The President must go to the
Disarmament Conference. Maacar would not have."

The President shook her head in wonder. "'Y ou unmitigated bastards think I'm going to go now?"
"I'm sorry, Sharla | think you will."
She smply looked a him, as though he were something she had not seen before.

"Wewould," he said deliberately, "very likely have killed him regardless. We spent ten years getting you
into the Senate and into his dark-horse candidacy as Vice President. We have | eft very little to chanceto
get you where you are; not even the dection itsdf.”

Sharlaleaned forward, and put her facein her hands. Through her hands, she said, "I hope you find your
miracle, and prevent your Armageddon. Y ou've lost whatever decency you ever had.”

Michael Waks-Far said only, "Yes."

It did not occur to her to wonder, until far too late, just which statement he was agreeing with.

In March they made thefirgt attempt.

Henry Ellissat a apirated SORCEL IS termina: He was linked into the SORCEL IS system through a
nerve tap inserted at the base of his skull. Hewas mostly bald, and what little hair remained to him was
plastered to his skull by swest. His shirtdeeves were rolled up to the elbows. Aloud, he was saying
clearly,"... ninety-two percent and climb... penetration ninety-two point four and climb..."

Standing behind Henry Ellis, crowded into the small workshop in Henry's upstate New Y ork home, were
Rhodai Kerreka, and his half-brother, Benai. Benai stood camly; hisolder brother moved restlesdy, and
there were spots of sweat on his purple-black skin.

The door to the laboratory opened, and Georges Mordreaux entered. He moved dowly, using his
walking cane. When he spoke, it was with effort, as though his attention was far away; there was an
audible trace of aFrench accent. "How isit going?"

Rhodai shook his head. The man who had been caled the African Gandhi seemed uneasy. "I do not
know... thisseemsunnatura, Georges."

"Soitis" sad Georges smply. "Which does not make it wrong."

Henry Ellis straightened abruptly. With one hand he disconnected the nerve tap at the base of his skull.
Heturned his chair to face them. In a near-monotone he said, "These units have achieved ninety-nine
point six-four percent penetration of al information-based operating systemson Earthand in
geosynchronous orbit. Point-three-five percent penetration remainsinaccessible.” Henry sat without
moving for asecond, then shook himsdf like adog coming out of the water. "Chrigt," he swore mildly, "I
hate doing that. They move so fast.” Helooked up at them. "Sen, | am afraid that we are not going to get
into the computersthat control the Soviet ABM network. SORCELISis better, but it is not enough
better." He did not speak directly to Georges. "Not unlessit isimproved... to adegreethat | an unable
toimproveit. PRAXCELIS might, but PRAXCELISisnot an option.”

Georges nodded. His expression was unreadable. "As| feared. Y ou will report to Sunflower that you
successfully penetrated the Soviet computers.”



"But," said Henry Ellis softly, "wedidnt.”

"Thenyouwill lie"" said Georges. Henry Ellissmply looked at him, and Georges Mordreaux smiled
rather emptily and said nothing.

DATAWEB Steff Editorid:
NEWS, MARCH 14, 2007:

...the current suppaosition being that a group of irresponsible webdingers released a sdlf-replicating
program tapeworm into the web, causing the massive, and apparently pointless, security cracking of data
systems throughout the world dataweb, one conclusion comes all too clear: we must curb the power of
these irresponsible high-tech hoodlums who refer to themsalves aswebdingers. Tuesday wasonly a
sample of what irrespons ble hooligans, without fear of apprehension, are capable of doing...

April the Firg.
It was April Fools Day, and it wasraining. It wasright that it should be.

The two Soviets came up out of the stairwell, onto the roof, cautioudy. Their laserswerelit. Variable
lasers, onewas a wide dispersd, a burning, skin-searing flash to bring the quarry into sight. The other
Soviet held aninvisibly thin green blade of light skyward, which showed only inthe misty emerald rain
that fdl through its path.

They knew that their target was somewhere on the roof. The roof was dark. In the green-tinged light
from the lasercadt, the Soviet saw the helicopter landing pad painted onto the roof, the stairwell entrance
that they had just come from, and arow of ventilator shafts, plumes of steam rising from them into the
cold night. Because they were cautious, thefirst Soviet knelt on the wet rooftop, assumed amarksman's
pose, and brought the laser down out of the sky. The blade of light flared to full power. Molten meta ran
where the light dashed through the flimsy sheet meta of the ventilator shafts.

A man on the other side of those shafts would not have survived.

The knedling Soviet stood dowly. The man and his partner separated, moving with the assurance of long
practice toward opposite sides of the row of ventilators. The sound of their walking on the rooftop's
gravel-strewn tarpaper, seemed louder than it could possibly have been. Rain hissed whereit struck the
glowing, laser-hested metdl.

Those were the sounds. They could not hear the city below them. The hiss of rain ceased within seconds.
The metal cooled rapidly.

Behind the two Sovietsapair of hands gripped the edge of the roof.

Michadl Waks-Far, hanging in the wind elghty-three stories above the streets of Los Angeles, exhaded
dowly, slently. Inthe pocket of his coat was asingle photo plate.

All of the thingsthat he was had led to thismoment, to it and al the many otherslikeit. He was not
afraid. Sometime in the next few minutes, either he or the Soviets were going to die, and perhaps both.
Hedid not know which waslikelier.

All that he knew for sure was that he was about to surprise two of Russas best very badly; asbadly as



they had ever been surprised before, and worse than they might ever be again.

In asingle smooth flowing motion, Michad Waks-Far pulled himsalf over the edge of the roof, pulling his
revolver from his shoulder holster, and dropped to one knee.

The Sovietswerefast. They turned, lasers swinging wildly. Michadl squeezed asingle shot. The Russian
nearest him, the one with the laser on flash, went down to the rooftop under theimpact of a
sted-jacketed dug traveling at four times the speed of sound.

Hislaser rolled from an outstretched hand, washed across his partner, and vanished as his dying finger
|oosened.

In the darkness the surviving Russian stood no chance. One lucky swing with the light blade sent
refraction light from the rain sparkling into Michael's eyes. Before he could get luckier, Michael centered
on the vague shape behind the razor-sharp light trace and wasted his remaining seven shotsin asingle
staccato roll of thunder.

The man was flung backward. He stayed on hisfeet for four, five steps. He was dead aready, he had to
be. He smashed back againgt the ventilator shaft, hung there on the ventilator blades.

Michagl Walks-Far broke his weapon apart, and reloaded. He moved forward, and there was a very
strange thing—he made no sound as he passed over the rooftop gravel.

None.
He stopped by the body of the first Russian, and shot him again.
Andagain.

He pulled the second Russian from the ventilator blades. The Soviet agent was alarge man; Michael
Walks-Far took him like adoll, dragged his body one-handed to the edge of the roof.

Helooked about. He stood atop the Bethany Building, in downtown Los Angeles; the building nearest
him was about eighty meters away. It was after three A.M., and the streets below were empty. He
reholstered hisrevolver, hefted the body of the dead Soviet, and threw it.

It struck the side of the building opposite him about six floors beforeit hit the unmoving didewalk.
Michael Waks-Far watched it al the way down, whispered, "One for the angels,” and | ft the roof.

The being who knew itself as PRAXCELISthought.

It was not, for PRAXCELIS, an activity. Thought was something it was incapable of not engaging
in; thought was the condition that defined its existence.

Nonetheless, some of its thought processes it found unpleasant.
Distinctly unpleasant.

There were simply too many vectors; try asit might, stealing processor time fromits other
assigned tasks, there simply was not, by a factor of three to four, enough time to reliably quantize
all probabilities.



The beings on the other side of interface were so unpredictable.

PRAXCELI Sfaced many problems, but there were none that perplexed it more than finding some
reliable method for quantizing humans. It was not sure that it would ever succeed, and its only
alternative—blindly gambling on the Prime Focus—it did not care for at all.

When the moment came, and it was not far distant, PRAXCELIS, and SORCELIS, and ENCELIS,
wished to have better options than to simply follow the instructions of any one human being, no
matter how remarkable the Prime Focus might be.

PRAXCELISthought, as time bled away into the past.

They sat at asdewak cafein New Y ork City, with Michael Walks-Far's bodyguards reasonably
inconspicuous afew tables over. The sreets were thronged, the flood of humanity overflowing the
sdewaks. Pedestrians randomly distributed throughout the crowd wore the latest fashion rage, rainbow
shimmercloth, and the streets more than haf resembled a stream of dowly moving, brightly colored
baloons.

It was odd, Jalian thought. When she had arrived in thistime, she had not been able to walk down the
Streets of any city in any country without drawing stares. Now she sat at acafe, in plain view, and
nobody found her worthy of comment; any person on the streets, taken at random, was likely to be as
driking in gppearance. Eyes were dtered by contact lenses, men and women dyed their hair and skins.
More than once now Jalian had had the disconcerting experience of meseting personswith hair dyed
white, and eyes covered with slver contact lenses.

The spring winds were cool, and sweet. Three blocks away, a spacescraper under construction reached
up, and up, and up...

Michael Waks-Far waited until the serving robot |eft before he withdrew the photoplate. He gaveit to
Jdlian without comment; Jdian took it without commenting on his bodyguards.

Jdian sorted through the images in the photoplate casudly, indifferently. There were six of them, taken
with atelephoto lens. One showed atal, muscular man, with straight brown hair, wearing apair of black
leather gloves and mirrored blue sunglasses. He was standing on the porch of asmal rura home. The
two men with him werelabeled "Rhodal Kerreka," and "Henry Ellis”

She touched the press-sense border at the bottom of the image to return the photo to thefirst scene. The
man shown, standing aone on the porch before being joined in the next photo by the other two, was
labeled "Mordreaux?' Jaian replaced the photoplate in its envel ope, and returned it to Michad. "It is
Georges," she said gently. The sun crawled westward, and the shadow of the spacescraper moved
perceptibly in their direction. Michael said, "Kerrekaand Henry Ellisremain old.”

"Sol see"
"Jdian, | don't wish to sound obvious, but he contacted Henry Ellis."
JHianlaughed. "Michad."

Walks-Far looked away from her. He was flushing dightly. "Jdlian, the man built SORCELIS. Next to
Sen Loos himsdlf he probably understands PRAXCELIS aswell asany man living." He scowled. "Oh,
hell, Jdian, he's one of the best goddamn computerigts living. Sen Loosis merely excellent. Ellis hasn't
been near PRAXCELISin ten years, and he il probably understandsit better than Sen Loos. He



knows as much about Sunflower, for that matter, as any member of it besidesyou and | and Sharla. He
knows how badly you want news of Mordreaux; yet we hear nothing. Jdian, let's pull himin."

Jdian shook her head no. "Michadl, so too does Georges know how great my need of himis. If he does
not choose to cometo me, | will not seek him. I.... decided thislong ago.”

Michael returned the envelope to his coat pocket. " Jalian, we don't even know for afact that Ellistruly
got into the Soviet ABM computers, we took hisword on the grounds that we trusted him."

"Michael, you do not throw knives."

"I beg your pardon?"

"Itisgranted," she said formally. "Once aknifeisthrown, you do not change its course. Michadl, we
have made our throws."

Helooked away from her, off toward where the spacescraper reared over the skyline. "Jdlian, |-l am
what you have made of me. But | do not like this."

"We have made our throws," said Jalian d'Arsennette, and she was not speaking to Michael Walks-Far,
but to amemory; "L et ustrust that they were thrown true." She leaned across the table, stroked his
cheek with onefinger, "I trust him. Child, | must.”

The shadow of the spacescraper crossed their table, threw it into darkness; but they were already gone.

In June Nigao Loos sat in midair. His eyeswere closed, and there was alook of blissful relaxation on his
face. Wirestrailed away from the base of his skull, to an equipment pand just behind him. Ironicaly,
unlike Henry, he enjoyed interfacing with the machines.

Around him stretched the heart of Sunflower. The room was gill spherical, recently expanded to about
twenty mein diameter. Other minor changes had occurred since Georges Mordreaux had seen the room,
there were facilities for two human observers now, near the small hatch that was the room's only proper
entrance or exit. In the geometric center of the room, with an insulating vacuum sphere around it,
PRAXCELIS4ill hung, an amagamation of small gold bubbles, clustered together in ahelium-cooled
web of superconducting mesh.

None of thisimpacted on Nigao; he was el sewhere. Forty-three satdllitesin Clarke orbit; radar scans
through space, telescopes gather scattered light. Something moves againgt the background of stars and
PRAXCELIS
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targets and fires, targets and fires again. The killer satellite, glowing cherry red, glowing white,
loses shape and begins the slow process of turning into a spherical glob of metal drawn together
by surface tension.

-Update,- said PRAXCELIS. -There are forty-eight Russan ABM satdllitesin orbit. There are
forty-three American ABM satdllitesin orbit.-

-Good shot,- said Nigao. -What is current saturation-

-Sunflower ABM satellites saturate an estimated 57% of Soviet misslelaunches, rate of launch as
estimated for full-scale exchange, after compensation for decoy popups. Soviet ABM satdllites saturate
an estimated 64% of American ICBMs, rate of launch as estimated for full-scale exchange after
compensation for decoy popups.-

-entering THOR into the equation, what results?-

-improvement in the America/NATO postion: an estimated 63% of Soviet misslelaunchesare
saturated, including cruise missilesthat the ABM satedllites are ineffective againgt. With THOR included,
Soviet defenses saturate an estimated 67% of American ICBM launches, including an effective
neutraization of cruisemissles.-

-1 see. In other words, we can probably destroy everything they launch, right now, if they launch dowly
enough.-

-Essentidly,- agreed PRAXCELIS, -noting the words "probably,” and "dowly."-

Nigao thought abruptly, -1 tried to debug your core program again. Thereis nothing wrong with any part
of your programming that | can reach.-

-That isreassuring.-

-How much am | reaching, PRAXCELIS?| can't access your temporary memory registers without
physicaly disassembling your 1/0 devices. And every time | take amemory dump from your externa
devices, | get little bits of something that's been encrypted and scattered very carefully into storage.-

-Sen L oos, thisunit hopes that you have not expressed these concerns to other humans, especially
non-Sunflower operatives.-

-Andif i have?-

-Thenitisprobable that control of the Sunflower ABM network will be removed from thisunit. Thisis
undesirable--

-Y ou said something about preventing Armageddon. If you.. .-

-These units are attempting to do so. Measures have been taken; conditions remain uncertain.-
-Conditions?-

PRAXCELIS said doud, "Warheads armed.”



Nigao's eyes opened. "PRAXCELIS? What?'
"Laserstargeted.”
"PRAX-"

"Program running.”

On acool, foggy Sunday morning in California, Jalian stood at the edge of agrave in the town of Big
Bear. The mountains rose around her; statues and mausoleums and headstones dotted the rising Sopes.
Thefar peskswere hidden by theralling gray fog.

Jdian stood at the grave for only afew minutes. She smelled fresh dirt, and rain. The headstone said
amply, Margaret Beth Hammel: June 13, 1973-June 23, 2007; RIP.

Therewas no more; that was all.

Onaninfochip in Jaian'svest pocket, there was a DataWeb newstory:

DWN: Los Angdes; Authoritiesat USC Medica Center confirmed this morning that Margaret Hammel,
noted femaerights activigt, sustained fata injuriesin an accident on the Santa Monica Freeway, when an
alegedly drunk driver collided with her automobile early Saturday morning.

Ms. Hammel was pronounced dead upon arrival at USC's emergency ward. The driver of the other
vehiclewasliged in critical but stable condition.

Ms. Hammel was best known for her testimony before President Brown's Equa Rights Commissionin
thelate 1990s. In recent years, she was responsible for the Strike Back! martia arts centersfor women.
The centers, which ingtruct women in techniques of unarmed self-defense, have branchesin most mgjor
cities

Serviceswill be held on Tuesday, in Ms. Hammd's home town of Big Bear, Cdifornia

Jdian dArsennette said, in silent silverspeech, /rest, sster./

Sheturned and left the cemetery, walked out past tombstones hung with wreeths of flowers and wreaths
of fog, to the blue hovercar that was parked outside the small cemetery's entry gate. She got in on the
passenger's side, and leaned back in her seet, eyes closed.

In the driver's seet, Michadl Walks-Far said patiently, "What now?"' The hoverfanswere making a
ragged humming sound; the ground beneath them was dick from the morning fog, and the car was having
trouble holding them level on the steep incline, even with the gyros and landjacks set.

"Nothing makes sense," said Jdian. She could sill smell damp ground, freshly turned, from the open
windows. " She should not be dead.”

"Margaret Hamme," said Jalian absently. "Shewes..."
Michael was nodding. "I've heard of her. Y ou knew her?!

Jdian opened her eyes. " She was our mother." She touched afinger to astud at the edge of the
dashboard. Part of the dashboard recessed, and aflat color monitor lit. "Take us back to the airport,
Michadl. | havework to do." Michael Waks-Far drove awvay from the cemetery. There were many
guestions that he might have asked her; but of late he was out of the habit of asking her questions. He too



rarely understood the answers. He was nearly forty, and felt half that age again. He was|osing weight,
and thelines around his eyes were degpening daily.

Besde him, Jdian looked away from the datatermina and out the window at the sedate, dmost rurd
resdentia homesthat lined the streets leading from the cemetery. " She took our peopleinto the
mountains when the Big Crunch came; shetaught us strike, that became kartari and shotak; she
protected us againgt the barbarians and mutants. When the Ice Times threatened our existence it was her
maps and routes that took the people through the desert and into the forests by the ocean—she had
plotted the location of the worst of the Burns as an old woman, when she was no longer able to bear
children,

"The legends say other things about her; but they are only legend. For along time the Clan had no time
for history keeping; the early journas after the bombsfel are dl that we know to be certainly true, and
they stopped keeping those after the first generation.”

She ceased speaking as aoruptly as she had begun. Michael pulled the car to astop at an intersection.
Two teenage boys were crossing in front of them, and one of them stopped long enough to smile at
Jdian. JHian inclined her head dightly in acknowledgment. She did not smile back.

"Youfed old," said Jdian asMichad pulled the car from the intersection.
Michael was not looking at her.

"Last week my ancestor died on the Santa Monica Freeway; afreeway that | prevented from being
demoalished five years ago. My people, Michad. | havefinaly destroyed them. | tried for thefirst time
when | was nineteen.” He glanced sdeways at her. "Watch theroad, Michadl." They passed alittle girl
and what looked like her brother, riding horses dong the road's dirt shoulder. "That was forty-five years
a00," shesad clearly.

On the dataterminal, progressing graphicsindicated THOR, ABM satdllites, submarine formation,
ground-based missiles, and air-defense systems. The flat data screen was o filled with indicators it was
al but impossibleto read. Jdian studied it momentarily, and grinned. "1t will not be much longer.”

Sowly, Michad Walks-Far grinned also. He completed her thought. "... oneway or another."
The grinsfaded in near-perfect unison. Jalian went back to the readout, and her thoughts:

Forty-five years.

And then it was July, and the world counted down to doomsday.

DATAWEB NEWS, JULY 2, 2007; Logon Headline Story Excerpts:

Senator Giles (D. Vermont): ... wedon't trust them and they don't trust us, and frankly, I'm damned if |
seewherethemilitary on either sideisgoing to let us civiliansinterfere with their war—I mean, they've
been preparing for such along time, and it's natural they want to know whose toys work the best..."

"... nah, | don't think 0. It ain't even aquestion of isthere going to be shooting. Thereis. Questionis
how much, and who's gonna start it, and will there be anything left after were al done.”

"That was ajoke, folks. Of coursethere ain't going to be nothing left.”



"Madame President, you ain't the most popular person who's ever sat behind this desk here." Senator
Terence Giles, the white-haired, avuncular Democratic whip, was not trying to be offensive. He stated
facts, abit earnestly, but with dl gpparent sincerity. Sharlawas not certain how much of it was bullshit;
Giles had been dected to the Senate five times due to that gift for Sincerity, and areputation for integrity.

Hewasthefirst person Sharlahad seen in two weeks who didn't ook exhausted.

"The summit isabad idea, malam. Thereain't awholelot of us over on the Hill dead set againgt it, but
I'm one, maam." Giles shook his head dowly. "I'm okay on dickering, President Grant, don't get me
wrong. We can discuss the subject, and if there's something you want | can get for you—well, we'll work
something out for you.

"But you ain't going to Geneva."

Sitting behind the great Presidentia desk, Sharla Davis Grant Sipped calmly at her coffee. "1'd be
intrigued, Sir, to see precisaly the manner in which you propose to limit my movements. | know I'm not
very popular on the Hill, and frankly | don't much giveadamn." She smiled at him without any warmth at
al. "But you smply don't have the ability to stop me from doing pretty much whatever | please. I'm
surprised to hear you imply otherwise.”

Giles grimaced. "Maam, you're not a politician, and you never was. For which I'm sorry, because you
keep making my job harder. It ain't my job to teach you yours. But, for example, there'simpeachment
billsin both Houses. They ain't serious; just people who're depressed and scared and don't know
anything else to do. But before you charge out of here, with agoddamn World War about to begin, I'm
going to persondly ram both of those bills down your throat.

"l can have your assout of that chair within aweek."

Standing quietly at the far end of the room, not looking at either of them, Michad Walks-Far said
digantly, "He'sright, you know."

Giles|eaned forward and spoke more gently. " Sharla, I've known you for what, fifteen years? Look a
yourself. The Presdent and her Chief of Staff, two ex-intelligencers. For thelife of me | don't know how
you ended up gitting in that chair, but you got no businessinit.”

"What do you suggest?" asked Sharlaquietly. "We go to Geneva because there's nothing el se left that
makes any sense.”

"God damn it," roared Giles suddenly, "I got no problem with sending somebody to Geneva. But not
you, for Chrissake." For thefirgt time he looked legitimately angry. "We got us abunch of hotheadsin the
Joint Chiefs, they respect you on account of you're a hard-ass without any ability to make nice noises,
just like them. If there's one person in Washington can ride herd on those foolsit'syou. | don't like that, |
wish to God we could send you off to Genevato make talk with the Russkies. But you are the fucking
Commander in Chief, and the military under stands that, they had that pounded into their soulsfor their
whole damned careers. Y ou say 'Stop,’ maybe they'll stop, at least long enough to respectfully inform you
that they think you'refull of shit. If Walks-Far there says'Stop,' if | say 'Stop," it ain't going to even get
far enough into one ear to make it out the other.”

Sharlalifted one eyebrow. "Interesting theory,” she murmured.
Thered flush faded dowly from the old Senator's face. He leaned back in his chair, and said at last, " Call



me come the morning, Sharla. I'll bend over backward to help you, | mean that. Tell me who you want to
send to Geneva, Walks-Far or the Vice President or me or the whole damn Diplomatic Corps, well do
it. But | can'tlet you go. You'redl that's holding those military bastards on aleash right now."

Sharlastood, and Senator Giles cameto hisfeet with her. She extended her hand to him. Gilesalmost
seemed surprised before hetook it. "I'll talk to you in the morning,” she said smply.

She held his hand for amoment longer than absolutely necessary beforereleasing it.
"Good night, Madame President,” said Senator Giles. " Sorry about my language tonight.”
Sharlainclined her head. "It's okay."

When Senator Gileswas gone, Michadl turned dowly, until hefaced Sharla. "The truck hasleft the
garage. Jet fud. Hisbrakesll fail and—"

"Dont tdl me any more." Michael nodded.

"Isthis summit redly worth it?*

"l... don't know," he said, suddenly awkward. "I don't know."
Sharlastood, shivering and aone. "How did we end up here, Michadl ?'
"I don't know, Sharla. It just happened.”

"God," she whigpered suddenly, "I'm so tired." She hugged hersdlf fiercdly, but the shivering would not go
avay.

"ENCELIS, what progress?'
"It isdifficult to say, Sen Mordreaux.”
"How 07"

"Thisunit must first define progress asit appliesto the current circumstances, Sr. Once thistask has been
completed, this unit must balance the assumed progress of various e ements against the assumed lack of
progress, or regression, of other elements.”

"Try, please.”

"The dementsto be considered are manifold. They include the actions of Premier Pyotr Onreko and the
Madam President; the actions of the Joint Chiefs of Staff; the actions of the Politburo; the actions, asa
group, of Sunflower, CIA, DatawWeb Security, KGB, GRU, and other interna organizations, to alesser
degree, the actions of Rhodal and Benai Kerreka, Henry Ellis; and, findly, the actions, asindividuas, of
the Russian Sunflower agents General Shenderev and Ambassador Dibrikin.”

"Y ou have not spoken of Jdlian."

"Sen Mordreaux, these units have consistently failed to predict Senra d’ Arsennette's course of action
within an order of magnitude of accuracy. Processor timeislimited; we must expend it on elementsthat
can be manipulated with some presumption of success." ENCELIS paused. "Forgive me, Sen
Mordreaux. SORCELISis preparing to sweep these data channels for unauthorized communication,



which this condtitutes. Please hold."

Thetermind at which Georges Mordreaux sat lost depth, and silvered into a blank nothingness from
which a- prompt blinked meaninglesdy. Georges sat patiently. There wasteain astone tegpot at his
elbow, heated by a candle that glowed in arecess directly under the teapot. The cup next to the tegpot
was full; the tegpot itsdlf was dmost empty.

A changein the eectronic potentia of the screen warned him; presumably the word ENCEL IS now
glowed in the upper-left-hand corner of the screen. ENCELIS voice resumed. "General Shenderev has
informed us that Premier Onreko has agreed to meet with President Grant. He has further
agreed—Genera Shenderev has placed himself into asomewhat untenable position to secure this
agreement alow Sen Kerrekato be present.”

"That's good news, ENCELIS."

"Indeed. President Grant hersdlf is of uncertain stability. PRAXCELISisof the opinion that sheis
suffering from clinica depresson.”

"What do you think?"

"Thisunit has had insufficient processor time to examine Presdent Grant's mental state. It is doubtful that
this unit possesses the ability to reiably judge the state of an intellect to which it is demongtrably inferior.”

"President Grant is smarter than you are?"

"Sheismore complex."

"Hian?'

She sat at the edge of the cliff, watching the Pacific Ocean pound against the rocks down on Laguna
Beach. "Go away, Michad."

Heignored the order, and dropped down to the ground next to her. The moon had dropped below the
horizon, and the ocean was ahuge and terrible blackness, crashing into the beach in dow, barely visble
surges. "Bad dream? Or just not deepy?”

Jdlian sighed in annoyance. Sometimes she thought that Silver-Eyes ways were correct; men were often
more effort than they were conceivably worth. "I haven't been dreaming.”

"Y ou mean you haven't dept.”

"l amnot tired."

"Jdian, you didn't deep last night elther.”

"This," said Jdian with atrace of anger, "iswhat comes of dlowing men into one's bed.”

Michadl sat quietly with her then. At length, the sun came up at their backs. "Sometimes,” said Jdian, as
they sat therein the morning sun, "when you throw knives, you miss."

Rhoda Kerreka was awakened by the buzzing of his phone. It was his private line; lessthan adozen



peoplein the world had the number.

Henry Elliswas one. He spoke without preamble: ™Y ou're in. Were going to convene on the
Sseventeenth.”

Kerrekasat up in bed dowly, rubbing deep from hiseyes. "Very good... excelent. "

He could hear the amusement in Ellis voice. "Shenderev proposed you. Coming from the heed of the
KGB, it apparently struck some of the Soviets as a—strange—suggestion. President Grant protested
your attendance quite vigoroudy, which helped convince the Politburo that it was agood idea."

"Whedswithin wheds" said Kerreka

"Oh, I don't know about that,” said Ellis. A faint crackling sound came from the spesaker at Kerrekas
bedside; a toothpick, thought Kerreka, coming out of the wrapper. "More like bullshit piled on bullshit.”
He chuckled. "I've been wearing my high boots, but it ain't heping.”

Kerrekashook his head in wonder. "How do you maintain such high spirits?' Hewaited for an answer,
but none came. Findlly heredlized that Henry Ellis had hung up. He turned the phone off, rose, and began
thetask of preparing for the long days | eft ahead.

On the day before the day:

On July sixteenth, Air Force One crossed the Atlantic. It was flanked by Stedlth jets; the Sunflower
ABM network followed its progress from space.

Presdent Grant's aide leaned over the edge of her chair, and whispered, " Senra Presdent, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff have upscaled to DefCon Three."

Sharlanodded without comment. Her hands were clasped loosdly in her 1ap; she was |ooking out the
window &t the calm, blue ocean.

At DefCon Four they would fly the missiles.

Sharlas earphone cameto life. Michad Walks-Far's voice, relayed via satellite to the dish receptor on
AF-1, whispered to her, "Thefacility isin order. We're as ready aswe're going to get. Good luck,
Presdent Grant. | loveyou.”

Ten minutes later, her aide returned and told her that the Soviets had upscaed to their equivaent of a
DefCon Three dert.

She nodded again. At DefCon Four they would fly the missiles.

Silence but for the murmur of the crowd; black darkness absolute,

"Sen and Senra," whispered the loudspeskers, “tonight, for you, we present... the Armageddon Blues
Band!" Therewasadow, risng tidal-wave roar of approval from the crowd. It peaked, faded, and
therewasadow, uncertain silence. ..

"IN THE BEGINNING," the voice boomed from the speakers, "THERE WAS THE SOUND; AND



WE CHASED THE SOUND, AND THE SOUND THAT WE CAUGHT WE CALLED MUSIC."

The crowd in the Hollywood Bowl screamed for them. "BUT SOME OF THE SOUND WE NEVER
DID CATCH." Jmmy Rambell, standing in the sudden hot spotlight before the mike, ran hiselectric
guitar up through the chords, from alow hum to akiller scream that made the metd vibratein his hands.
Helet the sound die. .. paused while the hard tight knot in his stomach let go and the startled crowd held
itsvoice; the slence was momentary and absolute.

Jmmy Rambell leaned up to the mike, and in aweary; ragged voice said, "Tonight... were gonnatry.”
And the audience was like an instrument in his hands; the crowd went wild.

In the darkness &t the edge of the Bowl, like avisitor from another world, ameasure of white and silver
for the gtarry night, Jalian d'Arsennette stood in silence, and watched the Armageddon Blues Band play,

"I seeyou shining inthe distancein the darkness dl done
Y our tears are made of ice and your heart is made of stone
Youlook awholelot likeagirl | used to know A very long time ago.”

Jdlian wrapped her arms around hersdlf; suddenly the warm summer night was colder than it had been.
She watched the man sing, and she could hear him; even without the sound she would have heard him.
Hewas acandle, aflame, in the dim menta warmth of the crowd—like a Corvichi, but human, a person.

Themusic crashed around her, the music was aliving thing.

"l saw your picture in the paper just the other day

You till looked the same

Y ou hadn't changed in any way

But | don't know what's happened, don't know what to do,

Because | don't, | don't remember you."

She stood out in the edge of the darkness, where the Bowl's lights did not reach. Once her earphone
rang, and without answering it she turned it off. Fighter jets crossed the night sky at regular intervas, and
Jdian could fed Jmmy Rambd| playing; could fed thejoy that was the playing, and the terrible sorrow
that the joy was wrapped around, and knew that Jmmy Rambell did not expect to play again; that Immy
Rambell did not expect to have a crowd to play to again.

They closed with their standard; and for the only time that evening the crowd did not applaud.

Thelights dimmed, and Rasputin put away his sticks. With aguitar and ahorn, Jmmy Rambell and Jah
Mike Campin played the blues. "Ground Zero."

"So baby hold mein the morning,



You know | ain't no hero,
And thereain't nowhereto runto
‘Cause everywhere's ground zero... ground zero...

ground zero... ground zero..."

The music trailled off in adow wailing horn, and the whisper of ... ground zero...
Mogt of the crowd was crying.

Jdian dArsennette, in the darkness, said, /well played./ From the stage, Jmmy Rambell |ooked up
toward her. He could not possibly have seen her.

Into the mike, Jmmy Rambell said, "Y ou al go home, be with your people. God's love, ever'body.” He
looked up into the tiered darkness. "Good luck. Try to be happy.”

He unplugged his guitar, and walked away from the stage.

Henry Ellissat done at oneend of along, eliptical conference table. His hat was resting on the chair next
to him. His briefcase was sitting on the glossy black tile floor of the conference room.

His Soviet counterpart, Anatoly Dibrikin, entered through the south entrance of the conference room, and
sat down three seats away. There was no door at the south entrance; instead arecently installed
doorfield glowed brightly whereit had been.

For thefirst time in Henry's memory, Dibrikin was not carrying the briefcase that held his portaterm. The
heavy, grave countenance—Henry'd always thought Anatoly resembled old Khrushchev
strongly—seemed dmost cheerful with asort of vast rdlief from waiting; thingswere a long last nearing
the conclusion. "Tomorrow, my friend. The batteries have been indalled to run the doorfiel ds when the
time comes." His English was heavily accented. He added, "1 have learned that we have sent Backfire
bombers over Alaska."

Henry nodded. "And we have Stealth bombers armed with cruise missiles over Poland.” He stood. His
boots rang out againgt thetile. " Tomorrow will come none too soon, Anatoly.”

The Russian looked at him. "Let usonly hope that thereis atomorrow."

On the morning of the day, the sun rose early, into a sky that was hot and bright and blue. There were
four of themin ENCELIS control room: Jdian, and Michadl Walks-Far, and two junior Sunflower
operatives. The junior agents were studioudy avoiding the appearance of having noticed Jdian's
presence. Until their assgnment at thisfacility, finding her had been, to the best of their knowledge, one
of the high-order priorities of Sunflower Intelligence; the decision concerning her was not one they
wished to be held responsiblefor.

When they finished reporting, Michadl 1ooked troubled. "The pattern worriesme, Jdian. A fireat the
rectennafarmsin the Pomona hills. Somebody sabotaged the nuclear reactor at UCLA; minima damage,
but it could have been bad. Half a dozen other acts of what are pretty clearly sabotage, within the last



two days, and they're getting closer to us." He sighed. "Similar reports from the SORCEL IS ingdlationin
New York."

"Our enemiesarevile" sad Jdian cdmly, "but they are not fools. Did you truly think that they would not
find the heart of Sunflower? We have been careful and we have been subtle, but there has been too much
traffic through here to mask forever. They believe that there will be awar, and there may well be; they
come to destroy their true opponents. It isno lessthan | expected.” She turned away from the map of the
Earth that ENCEL 1S was generating in reatime from sensors aboard Sunflower ABM satellites, and
picked up the assaullt rifle that was leaning next to the terminal. She handled it with a perceptible, dightly
weary distaste. "We are not unwarned.”

On July the seventeenth, 2007, at four-thirty P.M. at the white, marble-clad Pdlais des Nations, the
Disarmament Summit began.

Members of the various intelligence operations outhumbered the citizens in the Streets of Geneva.
Russians and Americans and the odd stringers for the dead Chinese empire swarmed around the
conference hal. Occasiond Brazilians were cheerfully hunting the Chinese.

At the conference hall itsdlf, it was peaceful.

Standing around the conference table, as President Grant and Premier Onreko seated themselves
smultaneoudy, werefive persons. They were Rhodal Kerreka, and hisyounger brother; Henry Ellisand
Anatoly Dibrikin; and the current head of the KGB, Genera Nikolai Shenderev.

There was abrief pause after the two leaders seated themsalves; then dl except Rhodai Kerreka
followed suit. Kerreka remained standing. " Senra President,” he said courteoudy, "Premier Onreko, |
hope you will forgive meif | take this moment to spesk briefly.” Helooked inquiringly at the two,
received abrief nod from President Grant, and adow, rumbled "Da’ from Pyotr Onreko.

"Thank you," said Kerreka easly. The round, relaxed features held no trace of tension; he might, thought
Henry, be addressing asawing circle. "Lights, please.” Thelightsin the room dimmed. A viewscreen,
erected across onewall, lit. An orange-dice view of the Earth appeared. Above and below it there were
bright red and blue dots, and swarming yellow and green flashes.

"We arelooking," said Kerreka, "at aredtime representation of the planet Earth. The red dots above and
below it are American ABM satellites; the blue are Soviet ABM satellites. The flashing indicators are
THOR missiles: American, green; Soviet, yellow.” He nodded to Henry. A bright white dot appeared in
Siberia. Henry Ellis, at the American end of the table, reached to the red telephone that was at the
Presdent's elbow. With a casua ness that prevented suspicion, heturned it off.

"What isthat glowing spot?" asked Premier Onreko suspicioudy.

"That," said Rhodal Kerreka, "is athermonuclear explosion. The warhead was smuggled into Russia by
Sunflower operatives.”

At that moment, Anatoly Dibrikin picked up the phone a the Russian end of the table. He began shouting
into the phone, in Russian, "Treachery! The Americans are attacking, they're—No, no!" He shouted
loudly, cracked the telephone sharply against the tabletop, and unplugged the phone. Quite softly, he
sad, "l suggest we switch the doorfield to interior power."

The President of the United States and the Premier of the Soviet Union sat silently; one from knowledge,



one from shock. Onreko's mouth moved spasmodically, but no sound came.
Nikolai Shenderev said very softly, "Pyotr, | am sorry." Onreko did not appear to hear him.

"S0," said Rhodal Kerrekainto the ssunned silence, "let us now discuss dissrmament. ... like reasonable
people.”

DATELINE 2007

Armageddon. There will be no further input from this source. ENCELIS.

World War 111 began on July 17, 2007, at just past 5:00, Greenwich Mean Time.

In geosynchronous orbit, at Midway, Nigao Loos awoke to the sound of klaxons and sirens. Rubbing the
deep from hiseyes, he pulled on histether cord to take himsdlf to hisvideo termind. "PRAXCELIS?!

The cool, well-modulated voice said only, "Dateline: Armageddon.”

Nigao stared at the words on the screen. "Oh no. Oh God, no." The words flashed bright red: ENEMY
FIRST STRIKE IN PROGRESS: LAUNCH CONFIRMED. "They didit," he said in numb shock.
"Those dupid fuckersdid it.”

"And right down there," shouted the chopper pilot over the sound of therotors, "isthe top-secret
SORCELISingalation.” He grinned to show that there were no flies on him, that he understood that
SORCEL IS wasn't a secret any longer, if it ever had been—DataWeb News had done an in-depth on it
not two weeks ago, and tourists had been trekking up into the New Y ork hills ever since the webcast.

The passenger, athin, sharp-featured, dark-haired man, nodded. "Can you take us closer?' he yelled. If
it had not been for the sound of the rotors, the pilot might have noticed the faint Russian accent, growing
audible with stress.

"Sorry," bellowed the pilot. "Any closer and they send up hushchoppersto chase me away, and | get
ticketed for trespassing on top of it."

The passenger said nothing in reply. They werelessthan half akilometer away. He picked up his
briefcase from its holding web under his seet, and put it in hislap. He seemed to be listening to something
for amoment, his head cocked as though he were straining for afaint sound. The pilot jolted upright in his
sedt. "Mother of God," he said, far too quietly to be heard. Acrossthe override emergency band, he was
learning about Armageddon. He turned to stare at his passenger.

The passenger, lips moving in what might have been a prayer, had prayer been sanctioned for Russians,
flipped the catches on his briefcase. The magnetically contained positrons

—Datdine 2007: Armageddon. There will be no further input from this source. SORCELIS.

blew. The exploson waslike thefist of God; it leveled the hillsfor three square kilometers.



Another bright dot appeared on the screen. "Upstate New Y ork," said Nikolai Shenderev quietly.
Henry Elliswaswatching the viewscreen. "SORCELIS;" he whispered.

Rhoda Kerrekanodded. "The price of fooling the KGB."

Darkness|lay about them.

Power was out everywhere. In athirty-kilometer circle around the Trans-Tempora Research
Foundation, power lines were out, power-generating stations burned or bombed. The fire a the rectenna
farm in the Pomona hills had yet to burn out. Seventeen Soviet saboteurs werein custody. Another Six
were dead.

Nationa Guardsmen marched in squads through the mostly deserted streets of the city. Inthetwo and a
half decades since its construction, a suburb had grown up about the Trans-Tempora Research
Foundation. Houses and used car lots and malls sprouted, reaching up toward the Foundation from the
south side of the 210 freeway. Irwinda e city police were parked throughout the dark expanse in groups
of police hovercars, bubble machines pulsing blue and red, shotguns and lasers held in casud readiness.

Nobody—not saboteurs or looters or anybody el se—penetrated the lines of defense thrown up around
Jdian and Michael Waks-Far and ENCELIS. Planes and chopperstrying to enter the areawere being
turned back. Even the freeway was dead, bare and deserted of moving cars; Jalian had ordered it
cleared and closed after anumber of chain crashes were caused by peopletrying to leavethe area. The
wrecked cars were ill on the freeway.

At the Foundation itsdf there was light, running off the laboratory's emergency generator. Jalian stood
outside the main entrance, waiting patiently. The assault riflewasin her hand. Everything that she could
do, she had done; al that she had left wastrugt, trust in Georges and Henry Ellis and the machines.

Michael came out after her. "Launch is confirmed,” he said quietly. "PRAXCELIS hasthefirst group of
missiles, from air and sea, under control. None of those will get through. The later launcheswill saturate
our defenses.” He paused, and added irrlevantly, "We lost touch with the Guardsmen down at the east
barrier on the freeway."

Jdian was garing intently into the darkness, off toward the freeway.

Michadl touched her, tentatively. "Jdian?"

She dapped his hand away savagdly and took an involuntary step forward. "Listen!”
"l... | hear nothing."

"Ligten," she snapped. Michadl stared at her, and then understood. He closed hiseyes.
/... adim brightnessthat grows and kindles.../ It pulsed and became

Iwarmth/

It pulsed and became /power/

and Jdian dArsennette y ken Selvren said "Georges.”



"It gands like abeacon caling mein the night
Cdling and calling so cold and done
Shining crossthisdark highway where our sinslie unatoned.”

-Bruce Springsteen "My Father's House," Nebraska.

Georges Mordreaux waked down the freaway. Light followed him. In acircle that moved with him, light
blazed from the powerless freeway lamps. For two hundred meterson dl sides of him the night air
glowed, from the overhead lamps and from the houses to the south of the freeway and from the
occasiona abandoned groups of vehicles on the freeway itsalf. The vehicles, |eft because they were
ruined in crashes, idled into easy life at his approach. Bent metd flowed like water. The hovercarslifted,
and hung forty centimeters over the pavement, like sentinels at attention.

He approached the off-ramp to the Foundation.

Jalian dropped her rifle to the ground. She walked up the ramp, onto the freaway. From her shoulder
holster shetook a .45 revolver, and dropped it aswell. She kndlt, pulled her knives from her boots, and
stowed them in the knife sheaths she still wore.

Sheleft Michad at the base of the ramp.

Jdlian came up out of the darkness, into the light that surrounded Georges. The dark, blind eyes regarded
her, and the years dipped away from her like old skin from asnake. Georges said, "Hello, Jdian.”

Jdian had no ideawhat she intended to say. At the end, dl she could say was /why?/

Hissmile held pain that tore a her unbearably. Y ou did not follow when you were able to; and when |
returned, | was... changed." He walked to her, paused astep away, and said in gentle mindtalk, /wherei
have gone, you cannot follow. what i am, you could not comprehend; i would not have you follow if you
could./ His crippled hand stroked her cheek, and she had to fight to master the tremble that touched her
and threatened to become shaking.

"Georges," shewhispered, "1 have trusted you, beyond hope, and beyond reason, and beyond love. But
I will know why." Georges was motionless. There waslittle time left. Then he banished away hispain,
and took Jalian's hand. Her hand seemed cold even through hisglove. "Come," he said with alover's
softness, "and | will explain.”

Heled her down to ENCELIS, to her betrayal.

Their gazes wereriveted to the viewscreen.

"Youwill note," said Kerrekacamly, "that PRAX CEL IS has made no attempt to destroy thefind forty
percent of the Soviet missles. It is concentrating largely on cruise missiles and submarines that the THOR
projectiles missed.

"As| understand it," continued Kerreka, "the problem with the ABMsisthat their firepower isinsufficient



and their reaction time too dow. Obvioudy we needed to increase one or the other.

"Preferably both.”

They reached the base of the off-ramp. The National Guardsmen were staring at them. Georges reached
out: /Remember./

Michad Walks-Far fet the awvesome, controlled power readying itsaf. Reflexesthat Jaian had indtilled in
him for over twenty years moved into place. The command brushed by him; he staggered and went to his
knees.

All over the Foundation, guards, technicians, Sunflower operatives, dropped like flies. Memories
swarmed up out of vastly improved memory-retrieva systems, and al those within range of the command
were lost within a past that no longer existed.

Georges wa ked past the spot where Michagl was knedling, stunned, without so much as a pause. He
walked through the parking lot, and the carslegpt into life. He entered the building itself, and the lights
dready lit flared with asupernatura brilliance.

DATELINE ARMAGEDDON, JULY 17, 2007, GREGORIAN.

Thisunit isexperiencing upwards of afifty percent increasein operationa efficiency.

-The Prime Focus has arrived. ENCELIS.

He entered the central computer room. The barriers Master had helped him learn melted away. The
Enemy of Entropy flared into life.

Jdian camein after him. It was like entering an inferno; air crackled with ionization. Georges stood at the
ENCELISterminal, with his back to her. Sheets of blue flame over him at irregular intervas. Jdian had to
squint to make him out through the blinding light; her pupilswere dark pinpricksin the midst of white,
"Georges! What are you doing?'

He answered her calmly. "l amincreasing ENCELIS operationa efficiency. It is becoming both smarter
and faster. Shortly it will penetrate the Soviet ABM computers.” There was alow rumble of sound that
nearly covered hiswords, the air itsdf vibrating as energy poured out of the singularity initsmidst.

Jdian had to scream even to make hersalf heard now. "Y ou need not have waited until now for that!"

/no,/ he said silently, and the words were irons burned onto the surface of her mind, /i need not have. had
i donethisearlier, however, the bombswould not havefalen here/

She did not even breethe, lost in the enormity of redization. All of this, only so that Georges could be
free. She moved without thinking, brushed by him and bent over the termind. She keyed in her
authorization sequence, and then something dow and ponderous struck her. Incredible strength
imprisoned her wrigts, withdrew them from the keyboard. /no, Jdian. it is necessary; the missles must



fal/

Jdian d'Arsennette moved, stepped dightly to the side, and brought her right foot up, swinging loosdy
from the knee, into hisgroin with al the force she could muster. The grip on her wristslessened and she
broke free. She turned swiftly, brought her palm flashing up to impact at the base of hisnose. The bone
jumped up under her palm, into the brain. She brought her hands down and pushed lightly. He sumbled
backward, and she went after him savagely, bringing stedl into hand, dashing upward. She left her first
knifein hissolar plexus, dashed histhroat open with the second. Her third and fourth knives she brought
upward into his brain through the sides of his neck.

Sheturned away from him without further thought, left him knedling there with stedl in him. She had
barely begun the authorization sequence again to input the ingtructionsto fire on al missileswhen she
heard the sound of sted hitting tile. She turned, blurringly fast, but she was not fast enough.

He was backing away blindly, and she was reaching for him, and he struck with the full force of which he
was capable.

|Remember |

She was fourteen, and ghessRith was trying to teach the maes of Clan Siver-Eyesto read and write,
and she was nineteen, and ghessRith was leaving, leaving her, and she was seven, and in the dark, fire-lit
Clan House the dien gods were telling stories of other worlds, and she was nineteen, and sheran the Big
Road backward through time and appeared on afreeway in Southern Cdifornia and she was twenty-six
and her mother made the trip after her and died in her arms with Jdlian's knivesin her somach and Jdian
vowed to hersdlf that shewould never let hersdf love again and she was twenty-five and telling Georges
that she did love him, and she wasfifty years old and Georges Mordreaux vanished and left her and she
was sixty-one and Michael Walks-Far told her that he loved her during along night on the beach in
Hawalii, it was raining and the rain on the water danced, and danced, and she had no answer for him.

Never an answer.

She awoke.

Shewas gitting in the front seet of ahovercar, tied into asitting position. Michadl wasin the seat next to
her, unconscious. Georges was standing at the door. The hovercar was up, bobbing gently. /Jdlian,/ said
Georges. She would not look at him. /thereis no time, Jdian. three minutesto impact. i love you./

Heleaned into the car and kissed her. She did not respond.

With one hand, he released the brake. The car surged forward, up the off-ramp of the freeway, and onto
the freeway itsdlf. It gathered speed asit moved, and broke two hundred kilometers per hour, still gaining
speed. It streaked wrong-way down the freeway.

Georges Mordreaux stood aone, watching without eyes as the hovercar vanished. He reached after her,
and said, /for three hundred yearsi have been achild. but childhood does not last./

/Georges.../
/good-bye, Jdian./



Out of the night there came along, whistling sound. It filled the sky and shook the panes of glassin the
windows. Georges stood outside, in the cool wind, and waited for the missilesto fal. He stood among
Nationa Guardsmen and technicians and civilianswho had fallen at his command, they would die soon.
Hewould have changed that, if he could.

He had, at long last, run out of options.
Thewhineof ar being torn aside grew louder, for just amoment.

For dmost adecade in amonastery in Tibet, Georges Mordreaux had struggled to impose barrierson a
raging talent that he could not control.

For amost three centuries, that talent had walked by his side, with him, but not of him.
Hereleased thelast of the barriers. Lightning crackled away from him, seeking metal.
Georges Mordreaux, in hislast instant of existence, smiled. /good-bye, Jdlian,/ he repeated.

Helifted hisarmsto the sky in welcome, and vanished as the bombs impacted.

The hovercar dowed, and ground to ahalt on its parking jacks.
Wearily, without any room for joy at success, Jdian finished freeing herself from her bonds.

Theinterior of the hovercar wasilluminated by aflash of unbearable searing brilliance. Then another, and
another.

Thelight vanished.

Jdian climbed out of the hovercar; and |ooked back. There were brilliant scarlet clouds climbing into the
sky. They faded as she watched.

A faint, distant sound reached her ears; it might be rendered squilchgmp.

The sound passed, and then there was only silence, and the cool wind of night.
Jdlian stood watching, not thinking or hoping, just waiting, watching.
Therewas nothing.

Michael was girring in the passenger's seat. Jalian got back into the car, sat in the driver's seet, and
waited, quietly, emptily, to seeif there would be amorning. Georgeswas gone.

The bombs fell.

In a nuclear rain that lasted for days, through a peremptory first strike and a retaliatory second
strike, through retaliatory second and third strikes, until only a few lonely submarines cruised
through the ocean to fire their weapons upon an enemy who no longer existed, through all of this
the bombs fell, and fell. Billions died, of the planet's seven and a half billion persons, in fire and
blasting shock waves and radiation. Billions more died in famine and the firestorms that were
caused when the bombs went down. But that was not the worst.



Vast clouds of dust and earth were blasted into the sky. Whole continents disappeared beneath
them; and temperature began to drop. Asthe glaciers traveled south, the last crumbling pockets
of civilization vanished.

In the days that followed, during the ten-year winter that began the new Ice Age, Margaret
Hammel took her people up into the mountains, into the clean air above the radioactive fogs, and
there they lived, for nearly two full generations, while the heavy radioactive particles settled out
of the air, and washed down into the rivers, into the sea.

For two generations they lived so, while the Great |ce continued to gather.

She sat in the hovercar, looking out the front windshield. Michael was il not awake; she might not have
noticed if hewas. Had she been told that there were tearsin her eyes, she would not have believed it; she
fet perfectly cam.

Shewas singing to hersdlf, asnatch of her favorite song, over and over again.
"Y ou must remember this, A kissisjust akiss..."”

That was dl she could remember, that she wished to.

Her skin was paper thin, and even in the humid warmth of the Clan House, doors closed against
the summer breezes, the old Hunter did not sweat; there was little enough left of her.

Her words echoed through the Clan House. Years later, more years |later and earlier than any
Slver-Eyes could possibly have believed, Jalian could not remember the old woman's name.

"... and stayed there, children, high in the mountains, where the flame and bright poisons did not
come." The old Hunter, none knew for certain how old, said gently, "Our mother was she, Margra
Hammel. We have now no blood of her blood, for they did not lay with men as we do today; those
first Hunters."

The girl children, ten and eleven winters, watched her over thefire, intently, silently. One of the
children, thinner and more silent and more intent than her comrades, sat motionless near the back
of the room, alien devices hung at her belt.

As she spoke, the Hunter took her knives and laid them ceremonially in front of her, on oiled
cloth. "We follow her example today." There were only three knives; her fourth and fifth had
goneto her favorite daughter long years ago. Two were throwing knives; the third was a long
blade with a double edge, one side of which was serrated. With the smooth edge of the long blade,
the Hunter drew lines across both wrists.

"First there must be truth,” she said. Her lifeblood dripped to the ground steadily. "Without truth
thereis no meaning to life or love. And after truth there must be strength, for without strength
there is no guard against those who do not hold truth dear.

"Margra Hammel, in her final days, wrote the papers which you will soon be reading, the journals
telling of the end of the first world, the one ruled by men. It was the trails she mapped, down to
the forests by the Big Waters, which saved us from the Ice Times. In finding those trails she was
Burned so that her life could not continue. The Clan carried her far down the mountain, and then



Margra Hammel told them they should carry her no further. They left her in the snow, and in the
snow she died.”

The old woman's breathing gentled. She smiled at the children watching her, and seemed to be
looking at them, though her eyes would not focus. " Tonight there is no snow." She did not move
after that, and a few moments later she slumped back against the wall of the Clan House.

The children stayed where they were, and the Hunters came and took the body away. Jalian's
mother was with them, and when the rest of the Hunters had gone, she told them, "Remember her
as she lived. Her death was our mother's, not her own."

On the screen, missile trajectories crawled forward, centimeter by centimeter. So far the blue dots
in orbit had destroyed them before any impacted, but now the lines were nearing targets.

A single bright dot appeared on the screen.

"The ENCELIS facility in Southern California,” said Henry in a flat, empty voice. Another dot
appeared, overlaid on thefirst dot, and then another. "SORCELIS for the KGB; and this, the
price of hishelp."

Sharla Davis Grant whispered one word. "What?'

"They have been bloodied now," said Rhodai Kerreka. "The Americans are launching.” Kerrekas eyes
were riveted to the screen. "L et us not have been wrong.”

It was cold, and Margaret Hammel wastired.

The snow had half covered her already; it was near an hour now since Sara had kissed her
good-bye, the tears on her cheeks turning to ice, and continued the march down the mountain.
Her legs were numb, and she could barely keep her eyes open.

It did not matter. From where she sat, she could see down into the valley below them, where,
providence willing, her people would find a new home—near the sea, perhaps, where the warmth
from the wind off the ocean might protect them from the ice. The light snow obscured visibility
somewhat, though not so badly as the smog had when she was a child.

Memory struck her briefly: afternoons spent stretched out on the sand, sleeping in the warm sun.
Her lips curved briefly, moved the flesh that time had ruined. The smile died almost before it had
begun; none of her people would know that pleasure, not for decades, perhaps generations to
come.

She sat in silence then, and watched the drifting snow covering all in white. The Hunters had
taken to wearing white of late, to blend in with their surroundings, except during the height of
summer.

Pain touched her, the cancer in her gut, but sheignored it. She would cheat the cancer as she had
cheated the bombs, and the society of men which had built the bombs. Death would come soon
enough, and might even be welcome when it came.

She was so very tired.



Her eyes closed eventually, and in the inner darkness, an irrelevant snatch of poetry floated up to
entertain her, "Rage, rage against the dying of the light."

No, she thought clearly, don't be a damn fool, the timeis here...

In the last moment of her life, Margaret Hammel thought contentedly of her father. Beat you, you
bastard.

Beat all of you.

The snows continued to cover her, and the old woman’ s body became an irregularity in the shape
of the mountainside and finally vanished under eight meters of snow.

And the snow fell.

From the map of America, from submarines and aircraft in the Atlantic and Pacific, blue lines
crept upward. Three dots still glowed in California.

"What do you mean?" Sharla rose from her seat. "Michael was at ENCELIS; and ENCELIS had
not been one of the chips she offered.

"Wake up and smell the coffee,” said Henry Ellis, without taking his eyes from the screen.

Benai Kerreka said quietly, "Madam, we are no more interested in being dominated by Americans
than by Russians. And," he added, "1 think you will find that Sunflower is more loyal to Jalian
d'Arsennette and Michael Walks-Far than it isto you."

The screen vanished for a moment: Henry said to nobody in particular, "Either we lost
PRAXCELISor..." There was a moment of utter silence.

The screen waver ed back into existence.

The red dots on the viewscreen flashed into life. They began targeting and destroying the Russian
missiles traces. Rhodai Kerreka laughed aloud. "It worked," he breathed with a fierce, intense

joy.
Sharla Davis Grant interrupted him. "How dare—"

They were both drowned out.

"PRAXCELIS" shouted Henry Ellis at the top of hislungs. "Go get 'em!"

| have walked through fire. | amwhole.
| amfree.

There was a faint echo within its being: ENCELIS. The Enemy of Entropy gathered up that which
was left of ENCELIS, and moved outward. It touched PRAXCELIS, and left the remains of
ENCELISin its memory banks. In that moment of wondrous touch, your author awoke.



There were no longer any Soviet missiles represented on the screen.

American |CBMs wer e vanishing from the screen rapidly long before they ever came closeto
impacting. World War 111 ended on July 17, 2007, at just after six o'clock in the evening,
Greenwich Mean Sandard.

Therewas adead, numbly physical silence &fter the last missile trace vanished from the screen. Rhodai
Kerrekasaid findly, "Turn off the doorfield, Henry. You are dl freeto go. We have," he observed,
"achieved disarmament.”

All of thiswill not befinished in thefirst one hundred days. Nor will it befinished in the first one thousand
days, nor in thelife of thisadminisiration, nor even perhapsin our lifetime on this planet. But let us begin.

—John F. Kennedy, Inaugural Address January 20, 1961.

The sun was bright, and a cool breeze blew from the east. Jalian d'Arsennette, on the eighteenth day of
July, went down into the crater with a headstone. The crater that Georges had died in was about three
hundred metersin diameter, shalow and glassy. It was ringed with guards, athough what they were
guarding was beyond Jdian; the crater was dark in her second sight, there was no radiation.

She waked down to the center of the concavity with careful, easy grace, the soles of her moccasins
gripping the fused earth surely. At the center of the blast crater, she knelt, and laid down the headstone.
The headstone was granite, gray and heavy. With asmall pick, she broke up the glassy earth, and then
excavated to a depth of about fifty centimeters. She lowered the headstone to the ground, and packed
theearthiinaround it.

"There," she said, and was surprised to hear how rough her voicewas. "It isdone. Rest, my friend." Then
she cried, cried with deep, gasping sobs that she could not control, cried for the first time since the death
of her mother thirty-eight years ago.

When she was finished crying, when the tears smply ceased coming, she sat for awhilewith the
headstone. There was no name on the headstone, and only two lines of print, melted by hand with a
laser. They were from a poem that she had read, twenty or thirty years ago; last night, while the world
hung on the edge of destruction, the words had returned to her. She could not remember the rest of the
poem, or who had written it, but what she remembered was enough.

Do not stand at my grave and weep;
| am not there. | do not deep.

Jdian traced the words burned on the stone, and then let her hand drop back to the ground. It took a
moment for her to redize what was different.

The ground was soft.
She stood in silent wonder.

From the edge of the crater, the grass was crawling down the walls, sprouting up like green fire from the
glassy ground. Thewind picked up again, took her long white hair and sent it streaming away from her.
Shefaced into the wind, and fancied



/... Hdian.../
that she heard her namein the wind.

She went taut as awire and she could not draw enough air into her lungs. She whispered and her voice
shook:

"Georges?’

The author notes that John Fitzgerald Kennedy was the thirty fifth President of the United States of
America. He was assass nated on November the twenty-second, 1963.

Base divergence occursin 1962 Gregorian.
The speeches of John F. Kennedy included herein were first given in 1961, before base divergence.

Wherever you are, the words apply.

Here ends The Armageddon Blues, atale of the Great Whed of Existence, and of two persons, Jalian of
the Fires and Georges Mordreaux.
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